## THE EFFECT OF GROUP INTERACTIONS AND GROUP STRUCTURE ON ACHIEVEMENT IN ELEMENTARY SCHOOL ROBOTICS CLASSROOMS

by

Jonathan Kimei Yogi



A dissertation

submitted in partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Education in Educational Technology

Boise State University

May 2023

Jonathan Kimei Yogi

## SOME RIGHTS RESERVED



This work is licensed under a Creative Commons

Attribution-Noncommercial 4.0 International

License.

#### BOISE STATE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE COLLEGE

### DEFENSE COMMITTEE AND FINAL READING APPROVALS

of the dissertation submitted by

Jonathan Kimei Yogi

Dissertation Title: The Effect of Group Interactions and Group Structure on Achievement in Elementary School Robotics Classrooms

Date of Final Oral Examination: 28 November 2022

The following individuals read and discussed the dissertation submitted by student Jonathan Kimei Yogi, and they evaluated the student's presentation and response to questions during the final oral examination. They found that the student passed the final oral examination.

Youngkyun Baek, Ph.D., Ed.D.	Chair, Supervisory Committee
Kerry Rice, Ed.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee
Jesús Trespalacios, Ph.D.	Member, Supervisory Committee

The final reading approval of the dissertation was granted by Youngkyun Baek, Ph.D., Ed.D. Chair of the Supervisory Committee. The dissertation was approved by the Graduate College.

#### DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my loving parents, who instilled in me the values and beliefs I hold today. I would never have pursued this degree without their constant support, encouragement, and faith in my abilities to accomplish what I once thought impossible. Also, of equal importance, I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my soon-to-be wife, Penny. Her patience, care, and kindness toward me throughout this process have been extraordinary and one of the primary reasons I persevered through all the challenges that attaining this degree brought. Thank you for still agreeing to marry me after all of this!

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The attainment of my degree would not have been possible without my research chair and advisor Dr. Youngkyun Baek. His patience, knowledge, and guidance throughout my years in the program were a cornerstone for my achievement. I would also like to thank my doctoral committee, Dr. Kerry Rice and Dr. Jesús Trespalacios, for their support and invaluable feedback in making me think critically and carefully. Their guidance has helped make me a better researcher and given me more confidence in future academic endeavors. Also, none of this would have been possible without the support of my Head of School, Dr. Matthew Fahey. He has been tremendously supportive in helping me understand and navigate the intricacies of conducting research in Thai schools. In addition to these great leaders, I would like to thank all my colleagues who were always willing to help with the students, provide advice, organize permission forms, and even talk with parents on my behalf. There was an incredible amount of people involved in making this research a reality, and it would have been impossible without everyone's steadfast support. For that, I am forever grateful.

#### ABSTRACT

Jung and Won's (2018) review of elementary school ER found a lack of understanding of instructional practices for ER with young children. Other researchers have called for further studies into what effective classroom orchestration and interaction look like within ER classrooms (Ioannou & Makridou, 2018; Xia & Zhong, 2019). This study was conducted to understand the effect of group interactions and group structure in terms of gender on achievement in elementary school robotics classes. Knowing the effect that interactions have on students' achievement can help inform instructional practices and pedagogies in educational robotics activities (Kucuk & Sisman, 2017). The study was conducted at a primary school in Nonthaburi, Thailand. The participants included 103 second-grade students (44 male, 59 female). A mixed methods embedded research design was used as a framework to make observations of interactions, conduct a robotics assessment, and analyze the data from the assessment. Cooperative learning (CL) which is the use of instructional small groups to maximize learning (Johnson & Johnson, 1999) was used as a lens for observing the student interactions. Group processing, positive interdependence, promotive interactions are some of the primary elements of CL and used as classifications of student interactions in the robotics classrooms and during the assessment. The robotics assessment consisted of multiple challenges where students were given a score in their skills of generalization, algorithmic thinking, and their Level of Achievement (LoA). The LoA was the sum of all the challenges completed. The mean scores of the students' assessment results were analyzed using separate one-way ANOVAs to explore the effect of group structure and interaction types on achievement. It was found that the types of interactions in a group can have an effect on achievement depending on the types of robotics challenges. It was also found that gender did not have an effect on the students LoA during their robotics assessment, but it did have an effect on the types of interactions seen among students. It is recommended that for simpler robotics challenges that utilize basic generalization skills, instructors should try to facilitate promotive interactions within the classroom groups. For more advanced robotics challenges that utilize algorithmic thinking skills, instructors should try to facilitate group processing within their classroom groups.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

DEDICATIONiv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
ABSTRACT vi
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES xiv
LIST OF PICTURES xv
Background of the Study2
Statement of Problem
Theoretical Framework5
Definition of Terms7
Purpose of the Study9
Significance of the Study
Assumptions and Limitations14
Chapter 1 Summary16
Overview of Educational Robotics
History of Educational Robotics19
Educational Robotics Technologies
Constructionism
Benefits of Educational Robotics in Schools

Computational Thinking in ER29
Group Interactions in Robotics
Five Elements of Cooperative Learning in ER
Positive Interdependence
Individual Accountability
Group Processing
Promotive Interactions40
Social Skills42
Summary of Group Interactions43
Interaction Patterns in Educational Robotics44
Observing Interactions in Group ER46
Interactions to Observe48
Gender Differences in Educational Robotics
Instructional Strategies in Robotics Teaching
Chapter 2 Summary
Rationale for Methodology57
Participants and Research Context
Research Design
Research Tools
Cooperative Learning Observation Protocol
Data Collection
Preliminary Field Observations75
Assessment of Achievement76

Categorizing Interactions
Data Analysis
Ethical Considerations
Chapter 3 Summary
Student Interactions in Robotics Class
Observational Context
Group Interactions
Group Structure and Robotics Achievement
Level of Achievement
Generalization113
Algorithmic Thinking115
Interaction Types and Robotics Achievement
Level of Achievement (LoA) 118
Generalization120
Algorithmic Thinking122
Summary of Results
Summary of Study 128
Discussion
Student Interactions in Second-Grade Robotics Classrooms
Group Structure and Robotics Achievement
Interaction Types and Robotics Achievements 144
Implications
Cooperative Learning Framework Suitable for Observation in ER 147

Interaction Types Matter Depending on Task	148
Gender Groupings Affect Interactions, Not Achievement	150
Limitations	151
Future Research	152
Conclusion	153
REFERENCES	155
APPENDIX A	170
APPENDIX B	172
APPENDIX C	178
APPENDIX D	180

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Observational Guide for Interaction Patterns in ER Activities
Table 3.1	Levene's Test of Students Prior Robotics Class Scores by Groups 62
Table 3.2	One-Way Analysis of Variance of Prior Robotics Class Scores by Groups 
Table 3.3	Summary of Research Questions and Methods67
Table 3.4	Information Section of CLOP71
Table 3.5	CLOP Interactions in Robotics Class73
Table 3.6	CLOP Interaction Examples from Research74
Table 4.1	Summary of Interactions Seen Within Preliminary Observations
Table 4.2	Descriptive Statistics for Level of Achievement by Group Structure 112
Table 4.3	One-Way Analysis of Variance of Level of Achievement by Group Structure
Table 4.4	Descriptive Statistics for Generalization Scores by Group Structure 113
Table 4.5	One-Way Analysis of Variance of Generalization Scores by Group Structure
Table 4.6	Descriptive Statistics for Algorithmic Thinking Scores by Group Structure
Table 4.7	One-Way Analysis of Variance of Algorithmic Thinking Scores by Group Structure
Table 4.8	Descriptive Statistics for Level of Achievement by Interaction Type 119
Table 4.9	One-Way Analysis of Variance of Level of Achievement by Group Structure

Table 4.10	Descriptive Statistics for Generalization Scores by Interaction Type120
Table 4.11	One-Way Analysis of Variance of Generalization Scores by Interaction Type
Table 4.12	Descriptive Statistics for Algorithmic Thinking Scores by Interaction Type 
Table 4.13	One-Way Analysis of Variance of Algorithmic Thinking Scores by Interaction Type
Table 5.1	Summary of Promotive Interactions131
Table 5.2	Summary of Group Processing Interactions
Table 5.3	Summary of Positive Interdependence Interactions
Table 5.4	Summary of All-Male Robotic Group Interactions136
Table 5.5	Summary of All-Female Group Interactions
Table 5.6	Summary of Mixed-Gender Interactions
Table 5.7	Recommendations for Teaching ER Skills149
Table 5.8	Recommendations for Creating Interaction Types151

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1	Summary of Findings	56
Figure 3.1	Mixed Methods Embedded Design	58

## LIST OF PICTURES

Picture 3.1	Matatalab Robotics Lab Kit	64
Picture 3.2	Matatalab Coding Challenge	78
Picture 3.3	Solution to Matatalab	79
Picture 3.4	Generalization Challenge 1	81
Picture 3.5	Generalization Challenge 2	82
Picture 3.6	Generalization Challenge 3	83
Picture 3.7	Algorithmic Thinking Challenge 1	84
Picture 3.8	Algorithmic Thinking Challenge 2	85
Picture 3.9	Algorithmic Thinking Challenge 3	86
Picture 4.1	Front of Robotics Classroom Setup	95
Picture 4.2	Challenge Given to Students During Robotics Class	96

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- ER Educational Robotics
- CL Cooperative Learning
- CLOP Cooperative Learning Observation Protocol
- SIT Social Interdependence Theory
- STEM Science Technology Engineering Math
- DLPS Denla Primary School

#### CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

Science, Technology, Engineering, and Mathematics (STEM) disciplines in schools are becoming more emphasized worldwide (Thomas & Williams, 2010). Educational robotics (ER) has become a vehicle for delivering valuable STEM education (Hutamarn et al., 2017). With the help of ER activities, teachers can engage students in different types of complex learning environments; provide hands-on experiences for understanding the latest technologies; and create new outlets for students to apply their knowledge and skills in real-world situations (Jung & Won, 2018).

ER provides more than just an opportunity for students to interact with the newest educational technologies, it gives them an additional outlet to interact with their peers. The relationship between educational technology and social interactions has been studied and documented for decades. Svenson (2000) found that children's social interactions doubled in front of a computer. Most of these interactions were regarding the assigned task at hand. Wartella and Jennings (2001) found that children's interactions around computers are similar to those in other play areas. The most exhibited positive behaviors were cooperation, relationship building, and constructive group play (Wartella & Jennings, 2001). Bers (2010) found that computers can facilitate positive interactions between students who speak different languages. The connection between face-to-face social interactions and various educational technologies is well documented. Some may perceive technology as the antithesis of meaningful face-to-face interactions. However, as shown with many educational technologies, this is certainly not the case. In ER, a

synchronous blend of social interaction and technology creates a unique learning environment suitable for the needs of the 21st-century learner.

While the STEM fields are growing rapidly, the number of women in the STEM fields is not. Jobs related to engineering are predominantly held by men (Burns, 2019). While there is no clear answer for addressing the gender disparity, the research on gender differences in ER offers possible solutions. It has been found that positive ER experiences help motivate girls to enter the STEM fields (Screpanti et al., 2018). Teachers should understand gender differences and the interactions occurring between their students to create positive and meaningful experiences (Angeli & Valanides, 2020; Kucuk & Sisman, 2017). If practitioners better understand how gender and interactions play a part in achievement in ER, they will be better equipped to provide positive ER experiences for their students.

This dissertation focuses on student interactions and gender as factors for achievement in ER. It provides a framework for observing student interactions in ER activities and analyzes how these interactions affect student achievement.

#### **Background of the Study**

The global robotics industry has been proliferating. According to the International Federation of Robotics (IFR) report of 2018, the global production of industrial robotics increased in volume by 30% (De Backer et al., 2018). This production increase was preceded by five consecutive years of all-time high growth in the industry (Gdansky et al., 2020). As the demand for robotics increases, so does the need for employees with the necessary knowledge and skills to be productive in the robotics field.

ER provides students an outlet to learn about a growing industry while developing other valuable STEM skills such as critical thinking, inquiry, innovation, and applying knowledge and skills in a real-world context (Kennedy & Odell, 2014). While the ER field has been around for decades, 50% of all ER research has been conducted in the past five years (Evripidou et al., 2020). The field is still in its infancy and proliferating in terms of research. Further understanding of how to best utilize ER in the classroom is needed.

Denla Primary School in Nonthaburi, Thailand, focuses on the STEM disciplines and values robotics so much that it is a part of the regular, weekly curriculum. The school's administration also allows teachers to conduct research as seen fit by the practitioner. This gave the researcher a unique opportunity to further understand elementary students in the context of the robotics classroom and contribute to an area of ER research that has not been fully explored.

#### **Statement of Problem**

Jung and Won's (2018) review of elementary school ER found a lack of understanding of instructional practices for ER with young children. Other researchers have called for further studies into what effective classroom orchestration and interaction look like within ER classrooms (Ioannou & Makridou, 2018; Xia & Zhong, 2019). By establishing the best instructional practices in the ER classroom, teachers will be able to create more positive learning experiences for young children and help the gender disparity in STEM fields. Even at a young age, stereotypes of robotics persist as boys have been found to be interested than girls in robotics (Sullivan & Bers, 2019). These negative stereotypes have become more exacerbated as children get older (Sullivan & Bers, 2019). However, girls that have positive ER learning experiences at young ages show significant changes in their interests and attitudes toward engineering and even their desire to enter engineering careers (Sullivan & Bers, 2019). Establishing these best practices will help to address the gender disparity.

ER researchers have been calling for a shift away from research on the outcomes produced by robotics technologies and focus more on the implementation and pedagogies used in the robotics classroom (Jung & Won, 2018; Ioannou & Makridou, 2018; Anwar et al., 2019). Understanding how students interact with their peers is essential for developing teaching pedagogies and instructional practices (Jung & Won, 2018). Furthermore, studies on how group structures in terms of gender can affect achievement in ER are lacking (Zhong et al., 2022). More specifically, there is a lack of understanding of what effective cooperation among student ER groups looks like (Xia & Zhong, 2019). Knowing what types of group interactions and group structures produce maximum achievement will help to fill the gaps in understanding how to facilitate successful learning in ER (Xia & Zhong, 2019; Zhong et al., 2022). Successful ER learning experiences can help create a sense of confidence for girls in STEM activities, increasing their interest in entering STEM fields (Sullivan & Bers, 2019). The ER field would benefit from understanding how students interact during group robotics activities. Knowledge of interactions and group structure's relationship to student achievement helps inform best instructional practices for maximizing learning.

This study's findings have contributed to a further understanding of the relationship between student interactions, gender groups, and achievement in ER. The

results provide practical recommendations for instructional strategies that can be used in ER activities.

#### **Theoretical Framework**

The theoretical underpinnings of this study are based primarily on Constructionism, Cooperative Learning (CL), and Social Interdependence Theory (SIT). These frameworks provide the foundation for the research methods of this study.

Seymour Papert's constructionist learning theory posits that children construct their knowledge from building tangible artifacts (Harel & Papert, 1991). It is thought that by constructing personally meaningful artifacts, learners can further construct their cognitive abilities for understanding (Girvan & Savage, 2019). Constructionism has heavily influenced educational robotics design, technologies, and activities (Stager, 2005; Mikropoulos & Bellou, 2013; Gorakhnath & Padmanabhan, 2020). These constructionist activities provide opportunities for collaboration, discussion, inquiry, and interaction among students (Han & Bhattacharya, 2001; Cho et al., 2017).

SIT gives a conceptual framework for understanding how cooperative learning may be best organized, used in various instructional settings, and applied to various issues (Johnson & Johnson, 2002). Social interdependence exists when the outcomes of individuals are affected by each other's actions.

According to SIT, a lesson or activity that is structured cooperatively can create positive interdependence. Positive interdependence contributes to how individuals interact and ultimately determine the group outcomes (Johnson & Johnson, 2005). A cooperatively structured activity means that there are established mutual learning goals among group members (Johnson & Johnson, 1999). When the individual's actions negatively correlate to the group's goals, it creates negative interdependence (Van Mechelen et al., 2014). This theory has been tested for over a century, with hundreds of studies spanning various subject areas and settings (Johnson & Johnson, 2005). Its versatile applicability makes it a useful lens for observing interactions among groups. CL, as an instructional strategy, is based upon SIT.

Johnson et al. (1996) defined cooperative learning (CL) as "the instructional use of small groups so that students work together to maximize their own and each other's learning" (p.138). CL, as an instructional practice, is based on SIT. CL has been researched for decades and has shown to be an effective tool for helping students develop interpersonal relationships while simultaneously working together to achieve common goals or tasks (Gillies, 2014).

According to Johnson and Johnson (2002), the five key elements of CL are positive interdependence, individual accountability, group processing, promotive interactions, and social skills. The first element of CL is positive interdependence. Positive interdependence is the perception that the group's goals are intertwined, and that success is only possible if everyone does their part and works towards the collective goal (Kern et al., 2007). When group members perceive positive interdependence, promotive interactions occur. These interactions encourage and facilitate the groups' efforts toward reaching their goal. (Johnson & Johnson, 1996). Some examples of promotive interactions are giving and receiving help, exchanging resources, and encouraging others (Johnson & Johnson, 1996). Individual accountability occurs when each student is given specific jobs, roles, or tasks they are expected to perform to reach the group's goals (Johnson & Johnson, 1999). Group processing occurs when groups reflect upon and discuss their progress toward reaching their goals (Johnson & Johnson, 2002). Social skills of group members determine how students interact with each other and are seen through negotiations, discussions, active listening, and communication among members (Van Mechelen et al., 2014).

CL within ER activities is regarded as a beneficial practice and is commonly used as a method of classroom orchestration within ER (Zhong & Wang, 2021; Xia & Zhong, 2019). Constructionist Theory, SIT, and CL will guide the observation of the different types of interaction seen among groups (Figure1.1)

Within this study, three of the five CL interaction types were observed: positive interdependence, group processing, and promotive interactions. These interactions were specifically chosen because of the conditions of the classroom environment and the format of the Cooperative Learning Observation Protocol (Kern et al., 2007). The following section lists the key terms used throughout this study.

#### **Definition of Terms**

*Interaction:* Any sequence of verbal or non-verbal communication between students *Group Interaction Types* 

Three types of interactions will be observed in this study: positive interdependence, group processing, and promotive interactions. Groups that predominantly demonstrate these types of interactions will be labeled with the following categorizations:

*Positive Interdependence:* There is evidence of group cohesiveness for accomplishing the task.

Examples in ER activities:

- Students share ways to solve problems concerning the task, programming, or robotics building.
- Students listen to others' ideas about ways to accomplish the robotics task.
- Students know their roles as needed.
- Students are engaged and have their attention focused on the group's task.

Group Processing: Finding ways to improve the processes team members use to

maximize their learning.

- Students discuss ideas about their progress as a group in their robotics tasks.
- Students challenge each other's ideas and propose alternatives to reach their task goals.

Promotive Interactions: Promote one another's success, encouragement, and praise.

- Advocating achievement and encouraging others.
- Speaking positively/complimenting each other.
- Resolving conflicts peacefully.

Achievement: Success in robotics activities.

*Level of Achievement (LoA):* Refers to the specific score received in the assessment portion of this study. It is determined by how many robotics challenges are completed using the Matatalab Challenge Book. Each challenge requires the students to move their robot from one point to another using various configurations. Each challenge had a possible 20 - 40 points. To get a full score, students must complete the challenge in under one and a half minutes on the exact path that is described in the Matatalab Challenge book. If students completed the challenge, they moved on to the next challenge. Points were awarded based on how many blocks were correctly placed. If the students reach the finish point but in a way that does not match the solution in the book, they will only get points for the correctly placed blocks. Students were given a score based on the number of correct blocks.

*Group structure:* Refers to whether the group gender is heterogeneous (mixed genders) or homogeneous (all male or all female.) There are three gender group structures: all male, all female, and mixed gender.

#### **Purpose of the Study**

This mixed methods embedded design study explores the relationship between student group interactions and group structure on achievement in robotics activities in a second-grade elementary school robotics class. In a systematic review of over 147 ER studies from the years 2000-2018, K-12 ER research could be categorized into five different areas of study: "(1) general effectiveness of educational robotics; (2) students' learning and transfer skills; (3) creativity and motivation; (4) diversity and broadening participation; and (5) teachers' professional development" (Anwar et al., 2019, p.1). While there was a substantial amount of literature regarding K-12 ER research, most studies lacked essential details regarding how to implement ER in a school environment (Anwar et al., 2019). This is especially true within the classroom. Yang et al. (2022) noted that there is a lack of established pedagogical practices within the field of ER. Ronsivalle et al. (2018) found that the issue with ER was not the technologies but a lack of practical teaching methods. Ioannou and Makridou (2018) believed that after a review of ER research, there was a need for research to recommend practical guidelines and instructional strategies for delivering ER instruction in the classroom. There is a glaring need in ER research to find effective ways to deliver ER instruction.

Furthermore, Lee et al. (2013) specifically pointed out that "although there is significant research regarding technology in education, relatively little is focused on the foundational early childhood years" (p. 272). In general, there is a lack of curriculum, policies, and frameworks specifically designed to teach young children technology and engineering in the early childhood years worldwide (Sullivan & Bers, 2015). One major barrier preventing widespread adoption and emphasis on teaching such disciplines in early childhood is the lack of knowledge, understanding, and pedagogical approaches (Bers et al., 2002). ER can provide young children with opportunities to learn about technology and engineering, but more research is needed to understand how to teach these skills (Sullivan & Bers, 2015). ER exposes young children to specialized STEM education and programming. This exposure at a young age has been found to break gender stereotypes of STEM careers (Metz, 2007, as cited in Sullivan & Bers, 2013). These stereotypes can play a factor in the gender disparities in the STEM fields (Sullivan & Bers, 2013).

Peer interactions are directly linked to the quality of learning within the classroom for children as young as four years old (Tenenbaum et al., 2019). Xia and Zhong (2019) posit that knowing what effective cooperation and interactions in the ER classroom look like can provide a model for future practitioners to follow when directing their classrooms and implementing their instructional practices. Understanding the types of interactions among different groups of students and the relationship between these interactions and achievement in ER activities will help guide future instructional practices and pedagogies.

In addition to understanding how the interaction variable can be leveraged to create effective classroom instruction, this study will also focus on understanding the effect of group structure on robotics achievement. Gender differences in young children are important to consider when designing ER lessons (Angeli & Valanides, 2020). Some of the most recent research has found that group structure can affect students' learning performance (Zhong et al., 2022). But, while gender differences in ER achievement have been previously investigated (Taylor & Baek, 2018b; Xia & Zhong, 2018; Castro et al., 2018), very few studies of gender differences within young children's ER activities have been conducted (Jung & Won, 2018; Zviel-Girshin et al., 2020). In fact, according to Jung and Won's (2018) systematic review of young children's ER research, only one study looked at the gender differences between boys and girls in early childhood (Sullivan & Bers, 2016). Understanding how these gender differences play a factor in young children's ER learning is important for developing instructional practices for the age group (Sullivan & Bers, 2016). Also, knowing how group structures affect learning is beneficial for developing instructional practices (Zhong et al., 2022). Therefore, understanding the differences and effects of group structures on achievement in ER provides much-needed data to the field.

In the broader context, gender disparities in the STEM fields are a problematic issue. Diversity is an important aspect of the STEM fields, yet women only comprise 15% of the current engineering workforce (Jackson et al., 2021). These choices to enter or not enter the engineering fields have been found to precede college enrollment (Jackson et al., 2021). More studies on the differences between genders in early childhood robotics education have been called upon to provide a more comprehensive understanding of why the gender gap in the STEM and robotics field is occurring (Sullivan & Bers, 2016). Early childhood is a critical time to affirm young children's views of gender and competency in STEM areas (Sullivan & Bers, 2016). This study adds to the growing body of knowledge in understanding where this divide occurs by providing recommendations for practical implementation of classroom facilitation and instructional strategies in ER. More specifically, this study examines how classroom interactions and gender group structures affect ER achievement.

The research questions are as follows:

# **RQ1:** How do cooperative learning interactions manifest among the second-grade robotics students at Denla Primary School?

While the current research gives various interactions found within robotics classrooms, these are not always guaranteed to occur. Different classrooms have different dynamics. While the same general interaction types exist, they presented themselves differently at Denla Primary School. It was important to document exactly what behaviors and interactions were observed among the students within the classroom. **RQ2**: *Do the types of group interactions in second-grade robotics activities make a difference to the group's achievement?* 

This question focuses on how the different interaction types can affect a groups achievement. This study's three types of interactions are positive interdependence, group processing, and promotive interactions. This research question provides valuable information in understanding how group interaction types affect achievement in ER activities.

**RQ3:** Does the group structure in second-grade robotics activities make a difference to the group's achievement?

This research question focuses on the group's achievement based on group structure. Three different group structures were used: all-male, all-female, and mixed gender. This research question was intended to reveal if there were gender differences in achievement.

#### Significance of the Study

One of the main focuses of this study is to understand the types of interactions occurring in the elementary robotics classroom and their relationship to robotics achievement. There is a need to understand learners and the types of interactions in the classroom that affect student learning in the ER, especially with young children (Jung & Won, 2018). Few studies focus on the interactions that occur during ER activities (Jung & Won, 2018), and yet it has been found that social interaction is important to robotic education quality and plays a role in the success of ER activities (Chootongchai et al., 2021).

Ioannou and Makridou's (2018) review of current ER literature found that the use of ER in the classroom can create significantly extra work for teachers because there is a lack of practical guidelines to facilitate interactions between students to create successful ER learning environments. The researchers noted that a way to fix this problem would be to document and discuss the details of specific robotics interventions that successfully teach ER skills. By understanding what kinds of interactions and group structures create high ER achievement, the recommendations from this study can help ease the burden of teachers tasked with teaching and integrating ER in the classroom.

Furthermore, gender disparities in the STEM fields and stereotypes favoring men are well documented (Su & Rounds, 2015). Further understanding of how gender differences affect or do not affect achievement in STEM fields can help to transform the preconceptions and stereotypes that may already exist (Leaper, 2015). This is especially true within the field of ER. Sullivan and Bers (2013) note that some of these issues can be addressed by first expanding upon the limited research that has been conducted in understanding the gender differences in early childhood ER. The researchers recommended that studies be conducted examining the gender differences in young children's approach to ER activities. This study explored how different gender group structures interacted and approached ER challenges, and how the group structures and interactions effect on achievement. By providing qualitative and quantitative data on the gender differences in young children's ER activities, this study contributes to the broader understanding of the gender divergence in the STEM fields and ER.

#### **Assumptions and Limitations**

The study assumes that the student's behavior was not altered or influenced by the researcher's presence. The researcher of the study was the students regular STEM teacher and assistant robotics teacher for over a year at the time of the study. The students were completely familiar with the researcher and their presence in the classroom. It is assumed that because there were no substantial disruptions to regular classroom instruction, students interacted with each other as they usually would during their robotics activities.

It is also assumed that the ER activities conducted during the days of observation were structured to provide and create opportunities for student interaction. Students were participating in "typical" activities for the robotics class. The types of activities were not altered or changed for the researcher's sake but were carefully planned so that the observation and group activities coincided.

The research site is a school in Thailand. Most of the student population speaks Thai as a first language. However, all instruction and student interactions are in English per the school's policy. If students speak in Thai, the researcher could translate and understand the nature of the interactions based on over ten years of experience living and working in Thailand.

One limitation is that this data depended on obtaining permission from parents. The number of student participants in this study relied upon permission being granted to observe the students because they are a vulnerable population. The researcher found that most of these forms were returned and brought back to allow the on-site study to take place. There were, however, four students whose parents did not want their children to participate in the study. The Head of Denla Primary School offered his help in reaching out to parents by publishing a small paragraph in the monthly school newsletter to inform them of the study. This was intended to assure the parents that the study being conducted was indeed sanctioned by the school and used ethical practices in compliance with the local authorities. These four students' parents still did not want their children to participate.

#### **Chapter 1 Summary**

ER provides students an opportunity to learn about new, proliferating technologies in real-world contexts within the confines of the classroom. There is a lack of studies that provide details on how to implement ER in a school environment (Anwar et al., 2019). Research shows that there is a need to understand effective and established pedagogical practices within the field of ER especially with young children (Yang et al. 2022; Lee et al., 2013). In doing so, this research will help practitioners create more positive experiences for young children in ER, which has been found to help break gender stereotypes and create confidence especially for young girls (Sullivan & Bers, 2016).

Social interactions are an important part of ER (Chootongchai et al., 2021), and understanding interactions is critical for creating success in the classroom (Tenenbaum et al., 2019). Understanding how these interactions affect achievement in the classroom will help to provide a model for future practitioners to follow within their own classroom (Xia & Zhong, 2019).

When establishing effective pedagogical practices for young children's ER, gender differences are also important to consider (Angeli & Valanides, 2020). It has also been found that group structure can affect students' learning performance (Zhong et al., 2022). Knowing how to leverage gender to create success in ER would also be beneficial to developing instructional practices for that age group (Sullivan & Bers, 2016).

The purpose of this study was to explore the relationship between student group interactions and group structure on achievement in robotics activities in second-grade elementary school robotics classes. Using ER in the classroom has created significantly extra work because of the current lack of established pedagogical practices (Ioannou & Makridou, 2018). This study's findings help to ease this burden on teachers by beginning to fill the gaps in understanding what classroom instructional practices produce achievement in ER classrooms. This will be done by answering three research questions. RQ1 first establishes what interactions in various gender groupings look like in young children's robotics classes. RQ2 explores how different interaction types affect a group's level of achievement. RQ3 investigates how group structure affects a group's level of achievement.

#### CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

The purpose of this literature review is to explore the relationship between group interactions, gender differences in Educational Robotics (ER), and ER activities in elementary students by examining the field's past, present, and potential future studies. This review includes the following: an overview of the ER field, studies of group interactions in ER, outlines the importance of understanding interactions, gender differences in ER, and the need for developing instructional strategies in ER.

#### **Overview of Educational Robotics**

Over the past two decades, research in the field of ER has been rapidly increasing worldwide (Angel-Fernandez & Vincze, 2018). Some estimates project that the international ER market will be worth 3.1 billion dollars by 2025 (Davis, 2019). The ER field is so vast that it is necessary to clarify what exactly is meant by the term "educational robotics."

Angel-Fernandez and Vincze (2018) found that there is yet to be a consensus on the term's exact definition, but that one was needed to help progress the field further. The researchers examined the essential components of the field and considered many factors. They offered a formal definition: "Educational Robotics [is] a field of study that aims to improve the learning experience of people through the creation and implementation of activities, technologies, and artifacts, where robots play an active role" (Angel-Fernandez & Vincze, 2018, np). This definition will serve as the operational definition of ER in this review. The following section will closely examine the history of ER, popular ER technologies, the theoretical framework behind ER, popular ER technologies, and the role robotics currently plays in the classroom.

#### History of Educational Robotics

The beginnings of modern ER date back to the 1960s when Massachusetts Institute of Technology's (MIT) Seymour Papert and other professors envisioned and created the programming language LOGO. LOGO was used by children worldwide (Mehmet, 2013). The early versions of this program were made to communicate with a clunky, basketball-sized robot aptly named the "Turtle" (Mehmet, 2013). The Turtle could perform simple commands such as moving forward, backward, left, and right.

In the 1970s, the Turtle was moved to the computer screen and opened up a new world for programming. The Turtle on the computer screen through the LOGO system was more responsive and created a wider variety of shapes than the floor turtle. This new programming language began to change the educational landscape (Mehmet, 2013).

In the 1980s, Papert's Logo Computer system's popularity led to its implementation on various platforms such as the Atari and the Apple II. As the program's popularity increased, so did its prevalence in schools (Ames, 2018). This popularity led to a collaboration with the Lego group, resulting in the LEGO/LOGO system. This system was a computer-based platform that integrated the LOGO programming language with LEGO construction (Blikstein, 2013). Unlike the original Turtle robot, the LEGO/LOGO program required children to make their original creations with LEGO bricks rather than simply programming the already built Turtle. While this created a powerful new form of robotics that appeared to be enjoyable and productive for the students critics cited the requirement of the LEGO/Logo robot to be connected to the computer as a problem (Mehmet, 2013; Blikstein, 2013). A system that provided more mobility for the created objects was needed.

"Crickets" were another ER form that rivaled Lego robotics during this time. These robots provided students with an interface that used sensors to build and design scientific instruments. These robotics followed constructionist theories and provided students with new ways to connect to their interests and demonstrate their knowledge (Alimisis & Kynigos, 2009).

In 1998 the Lego Company released one of the most famous ER today called the LEGO Mindstorms Robotic Invention kit (Mehmet, 2013). The technology behind the LEGO Mindstorms provided a combination of mobility, innovation, and creativity not seen before in ER. Later the Mindstorm NXT was launched in 2006, followed by one of the most popular ER technologies, the Mindstorms EV3. The Mindstorm EV3 has stood the test of time as its robotics kits are still in use today and commonly used in and outside the classroom (Watters, 2015).

#### Educational Robotics Technologies

There are a variety of ER technologies used around the world. Whether in the classroom, at a robotics club, or even at a worldwide competition, the opportunities for students to engage with ER are plentiful. With so many different types of technologies, it is difficult to know where to begin. Evripidou et al. (2020) proposed categorizing ER technologies into three categories based on the type of programming to operate the robotics: *no code*, *basic code*, and *advanced code*.
#### No Code Robotics

No code robotics technologies are programmed using a Tangible Programming Language (TaPL) (Evripidou et al., 2020). These technologies will use physical code cards or bricks to initiate commands for their robots to follow. These robotics kits are primarily used to introduce beginning robotics concepts to kindergarten and lower primary schools (Evripidou et al., 2020).

An example of a *No Code* robotics platform is the Bee-Bot. A Bee-bot is a beeshaped TaPL floor robot designed similarly to the original LOGO turtle. It uses the same commands as the original LOGO: forward, backward, left, right (Evripidou et al., 2020). De Michele et al. (2008) found that the Bee-Bot was useful in helping students develop logical thinking, problem-solving, and topological problems. Cacco and Morro (2014) found that the Bee-Bot effectively initiated teamwork in a study of two first-grade classes based on the outcomes.

#### Basic Code Robotics

Basic code robotics are categorized through a Visual Programming Language (VPL) (Evripidou et al., 2020). These robots use a programming language that uses ordered pictures to replace commands. Friendly graphics, simple interfaces, and coding blocks make these elementary robotics suitable for students as young as seven years old. VPLs require students to follow simple rules and have an opportunity to explore and experiment with different actions by making simple adjustments to their coding blocks (Evripidou et al., 2020).

A popular VPL robotic platform is Lego's WeDo 2.0 robotics kits. These kits use bricks, motion and tilt sensors, and a simple motor to create a product suitable for children seven and up. Research has found that the WeDo is a hands-on platform that allows students to develop meaningful creative thinking, teamwork, and problem-solving skills (Scaradozzi et al., 2015). Chalmers (2018) also found that the WeDo robotics kits created unique opportunities for students to practice computational skills, problemsolving, and group/team collaboration.

## Advanced Code Robotics

Advanced code robotics refers to robotics kits that use Textual Programming Languages (TPLs) that use a combination of text, number, and functional sequences to program their robots (Evripidou et al., 2020). Some of these robotics kits use real-world professional programming languages like Java, C, C++, and Python to program their robots (Evripidou et al., 2020). These are primarily used for older students.

A popular platform used in advanced code robotics is the Arduino Education kit, which uses programmable boards, sensors, accessories, and physical parts to create their robots (Evripidou et al., 2020). Many other companies will use Arduino boards to create their robotics technologies. Makeblock is a popular series of robotic kits that combines Arduino boards with their programmable robotics line called the mBot. Xia and Zhong (2019) found that in a primary school robotics course, students utilizing the mBot platforms preferred cooperative learning rather than competitive learning when using the mBot.

50% of the ER research available has only been conducted in the past five years (Evripidou et al., 2020). This increase is in part because ER technologies have become more affordable and accessible worldwide (Yolcu & Demirer, 2017). A majority of K-12 ER research is conducted in secondary school, followed by primary school, and lastly

early years (Yolcu & Demirer, 2017; Elkin et al., 2014). The new technologies offer opportunities for further research in different areas.

The development of no-code ER technologies simplicity now provides opportunities for researching how ER can impact young students in primary and early years schools (Elkin et al., 2014). Research with children as young as four years old is already being conducted to understand the effects that ER can have on education. The creation of TaPL allows young children to engage in ER and programming activities by using physical manipulatives as a medium for teaching students important programming content (Evripidou et al., 2020). The development of these types of technologies have allowed for more opportunities for studies of young children's ER.

With basic and advanced code ER technologies there is no clear distinction between the tools in terms of educational needs or age groups (Sapounidis & Almisis, 2020). But, in general, the type of robotics technology also determines what kind of activities can be conducted (Gürkani, 2018). These categorizations of ER technologies provide a basic classification structure for the plethora of tools available in the classroom. Researchers have cited that one of the challenges for ER technologies is that there is little to no interoperability between systems (Sapounidis & Almisis, 2020). It is suggested that future technologies be designed to make it more convenient and adaptable for younger learners to use to increase continuity across age groups (Sapounidis & Almisis, 2020). In general, basic and advanced code ER technologies are used for upper primary and secondary school students (Evripidou et al., 2020). The progression of difficulty between technologies provides somewhat of an overarching structure for improving skills to advance towards careers in the robotics fields. This study utilized the Matatalab Robotics Kit which is a no code ER technology that uses tangible coding blocks to teach students basic robotics programming concepts. At the research site this robotics kit is a part of the schools AI and Robotics curriculum and meets all of the requirements for teaching the learning goals and standards of the school.

Regardless of the types of robotics technologies used, all platforms appear to facilitate CL among students. Even with such a wide variety of technologies and age groups, it is no coincidence that there are many commonalities. This occurs due to the overarching framework which has inspired ER, constructionism.

#### <u>Constructionism</u>

Seymour Papert is widely considered one of the most influential figures in educational computing and robotics. Papert worked closely with famed philosopher Jean Piaget, taking his theory of constructivism and expanding it with his own theory of constructionism (Stager, 2016). The constructivist and constructionist viewpoints focus on a child building their knowledge rather than simply receiving knowledge from their teacher. However, the constructionist viewpoint emphasizes the external artifacts and sharing with others (Mehmet, 2013). Papert believed that the activity of constructing was an iterative process involving constant redesign and reconstruction. Papert's purposeful naming of the theory was to convey the idea that "humans do not necessarily strive for cohesion, but are by nature engaged in questioning their view of the world" (Almisis & Kynigos, 2009, p. 12). Constructionism is one of the guiding theoretical frameworks for ER (Stager, 2005; Mikropoulos & Bellou, 2013; Gorakhnath & Padmanabhan, 2020). Seymour Papert's (1991) constructionist learning theory posits that children construct their knowledge from building tangible artifacts. By constructing personally meaningful artifacts, learners can further construct their cognitive abilities for understanding (Girvan & Savage, 2019). Constructing is a unique activity because it requires individuals to build and create an object or entity, which is, at its essence, a tangible manifestation of the processes behind thinking (Almisis & Kynigos, 2009). From a constructionist perspective, ER provides an ideal environment for learning because students can interact, manipulate, and solve physical, real-life problems (Kucuk & Sisman, 2017).

Within ER, constructionist learning does not just stop after the robots are built. Alimisis and Kynigos (2009) point out that controlling the robots is integral to the constructionist process, and this is where students can genuinely experiment and manipulate their environment. This second aspect of robotics creates incredible potential and opportunities for constructionist learning. When students have control over their robotics, they can receive instantaneous feedback from the tasks they intend for their robots to perform and what happens (Alimisis & Kynigos, 2009). This approach also allows for less teacher intervention and gives students a path for constructing their own knowledge.

The attributes of the constructionist classroom foster social interaction among students. The constructionist "learning by doing model" creates unique opportunities for young learners to engage in critical thinking, problem-solving, decision making, and collaboration processes (Cho et al., 2017). Teachers take on the role of facilitator rather than provider of knowledge. There is consistent learner collaboration, open inquiry,

discussion, development of ideas, and engagement in authentic, real-world tasks (Han & Bhattacharya, 2001).

Lee et al. (2013) conducted a study with a group of kindergarteners in an ER class which hypothesized that by designing an ER activity that followed some of the central tenets of constructionism, more social interactions would be seen. Students were given more time and freedom to explore robotics tools independently rather than having teachers intervene. The results indicated that children who participated in a more openended, unstructured learning style had significantly higher collaborative interactions than students who followed a more traditional model of structured activities.

To create a program specifically designed to promote Papert's constructionism, a group of Italian primary and secondary school headmasters came together and created The PIONEER (PIedmOnt Net for Educational Robotics) program. This program used age-appropriate robotics as its vessel for creating cooperative learning environments (De Michele et al., 2008).

Building, constructing, and controlling artifacts inherently creates environments full of interactions among students. Constructionism's foundational precepts are ideal for creating collaborative learning opportunities.

# Benefits of Educational Robotics in Schools

The use of robotics in schools is generally classified into two categories: robotics as a learning object and robotics as a learning tool (Almisis & Kynigos, 2009). Robotics as a learning object refers to how robotics is taught as a subject. Typically, this will include educational activities designed to create a learning environment where robotics solves an authentic, real-world problem (Almisis & Kynigos, 2009). Authentic problems in robotics would include robotics constructions, robot programming, and artificial intelligence (Almisis & Kynigos, 2009). Robotics as a learning tool refers to integrating robotics to help teach other disciplines (Almisis & Kynigos, 2009). When used correctly, robotics are valuable in teaching the general STEM subject areas (Xia & Zhong, 2019).

Regardless of which categories the robotics activities fall under, ER has numerous benefits. Anwar et al. (2019) conducted a systematic review of 45, K-12 robotics studies that "unanimously suggested that robotics promotes active learning pedagogy and helps to improve the learning experience" (p.7). The same review found that 32 studies on ER activities provided opportunities to blend coding, scientific theories, and real-world problem-solving experiences. This context helps students recognize and connect deep and abstract content (Anwar et al., 2019). Anwar et al. (2019) also found that dozens of ER studies cited increased creativity and motivation and significantly increased exposure and interest in STEM fields.

In addition to these general benefits, robotics provides a unique opportunity for students to develop specific skill sets needed for the 21st century. The National Academy of Sciences reports defining deeper learning and 21st-century skills found that for students to reach their fullest potential as adults, schools needed to provide opportunities for students to develop interpersonal skills such as leadership, teamwork, and collaboration (Pelligrino & Hilton, 2012; Nemiro, 2020a). The report showed that a critical feature of deeper learning was that teachers must find a way to create situations that help improve interpersonal competencies (Pelligrino & Hilton, 2012). Group ER activities have improved interpersonal skills in a unique setting and context. In a study focused on the interactive learning environment created by robotics activities, researchers found that students believed they needed to work as a group to complete their tasks (Hwang & Wu, 2014). Students were asked to move a series of dice into a specific area by programming their robots and were assigned specific roles of controllers and coordinators. The study used different configurations of the number of robots used within different groups. This study indicated that the robotics activity created an environment that required students to use and develop interpersonal skills to reach optimal efficiency (Hwang & Wu, 2014).

Nemiro (2020a) found similar results when working with elementary school students in group robotics activities. A study over three years from three different classrooms aimed to understand the processes of team formation, conflict resolution, and behaviors between students. The results showed that the group robotics activities organically fostered an environment where students could practice positive interpersonal skills and strategies such as conflict resolution, collaboration, and teamwork (Nemiro, 2020a). They also found that team members appeared to organize themselves to achieve the best results in accomplishing the tasks, even if this meant changing roles for someone more suited (Nemiro, 2020a).

Taylor and Baek (2018a) also found that having assigned group roles within robotics-based activities such as project manager, data manager, materials manager, and time manager positively impacted student motivation and collaborative problem-solving. This study shows that appropriately structured group robotics activities naturally develop 21st-century interpersonal skills amongst students. In a study conducted outside of a school setting at a K-8 robotics competition, researchers wanted to understand the effect of team collaboration quality on their performance in robotics activities (Meneske et al., 2017). Teams were given a collaboration quality score through a task that did not require rehearsed or highly coached behaviors. Scoring used a rubric that evaluated the interactions regarding the quality of discussions and participation. Results indicated that teams with higher collaborative behaviors performed substantially better on the robotics task (Meneske et al., 2017). This result demonstrates the critical role that group robotics plays in teaching students the necessary interpersonal skills. This study also demonstrates that the setting, whether in the classroom or at a competition, is not relevant to developing these skills but rather the technologies and structure of activities that help develop students' skills.

ER serves as a facilitator for teaching interpersonal skills. This is done by using complex learning environments and the structure of its activities that mimic what is commonly found in the 21st-century workforce (Pellegrino & Hilton, 2012).

# Computational Thinking in ER

Computational thinking (CT) is a term originally coined by Dr. Jeanette Wing (2006). Wing (2006) states that CT is "solving problems, designing systems, and understanding human behavior, by drawing on the concepts fundamental to computer science" (p.33). CT is considered one of the most fundamental skills within the STEM fields (Grover & Pea, 2013). Research has shown ER to be highly beneficial in developing important CT skills (Chiazzese et al., 2019; Constantinou & Ioannou, 2018). While there is yet to be one single consensus definition of CT, it is widely accepted that CT includes five fundamental skills: decomposition, abstraction, generalization,

algorithmic thinking, and debugging (Chalmers, 2018; Ioannou & Makridou, 2018). ER has proved to be a useful tool for teaching primary school students CT skills (Chalmers, 2018). Even children as young as kindergarten can use ER for learning critical CT thinking skills (Bers et al., 2014).

The use of robotics for teaching fundamental CT skills has been researched and recommended by many experts in the field (Angeli et al., 2016; Chalmers, 2018; Kazakoff et al., 2013). Angeli et al. (2016) created a framework using robotics for teaching young children (6-8 years old) CT skills using Bee-Bot robotics.

Decomposition in CT refers to breaking down problems into small parts (Evripidou et al., 2020). An example could be if students were to break a long path down into a set of shorter, simpler paths (Angeli et al., 2016). Bers et al. (2014) had children slowly break down the steps it would take to make their robots do the "hokey-pokey" dance with the use of decomposition and abstraction.

Abstraction in CT is taking the information available and focusing on only the most relevant and important details to understand the problem (Grover & Pea, 2013). Angeli et al.'s (2016) framework for teaching CT to young children recommends having them solve a problem using specific directional and programming language. The example given is telling students a story that refers to the Bee-Bots programming mat. Students would have to design a path that gets the robot to a specific location on the mat based on what occurs within the story.

Generalization in ER could refer to familiar patterns used in previous solutions and applying them to a new problem (Chalmers, 2018). Angeli et al.'s (2016) framework provides the example of assessing students on their ability to recognize and use the same sequence in an old Bee-Bot path and applying it to a new path. This is in line with Atmatzidou and Demetriadis' (2014) guidance for developing CT skills by having students expand on previous solutions to find the solution to new problems.

Algorithmic thinking in ER is the use of creating step-by-step sequences of actions to be taken in a specific order to solve a problem (Selby, 2014). Within the K-2 framework, this could provide students with problems that require solutions that follow a specific sequence of codes or steps to be taken (Angeli et al., 2016). These solutions should allow students to demonstrate their thinking through ordered instructions (Evripidou et al., 2020).

Debugging is a CT skill that comes with the iterative process of testing and retesting during programming (Chalmers, 2018). Debugging is the skill of identifying and fixing problems with any programming or code that may occur (Angeli et al., 2016). During ER activities, this skill can be observed when students can recognize when their robot is doing the actions they would like it to but can identify and fix where in their program things are going wrong.

## **Group Interactions in Robotics**

Constructionist theory has heavily influenced educational robotics activities' design and technologies. ER activities design creates opportunities for social interaction and collaboration amongst students. These guiding principles make social interactions a focal point in ER activities. Further understanding the types of group interactions and their effects within the robotics activities will help develop effective pedagogies and instructional practices. Johnson et al. (1996) defined cooperative learning (CL) as "the instructional use of small groups so that students work together to maximize their own and each other's learning" (p.138). Technology-assisted CL occurs when technology is integrated into lessons that utilize small groups of students. The use of CL practices has increased over the past thirty years and is beneficial in helping to promote higher-level thinking, reasoning, and interpersonal relationships, amongst many other skills (Gillies, 2014). As demonstrated in the previous section of this review, there are clear connections between constructionism, ER technologies, ER's role in helping to develop skills, and promoting social interaction in ER activities.

# Five Elements of Cooperative Learning in ER

It has been found that CL has advantages over independent learning in ER activities, such as increasing the frequency of student interactions (Zhong & Wang, 2021; Xia & Zhong, 2019). While there is a vast range of ER activities, the general structure lends itself to the overarching elements of CL. CL can be broken down into five basic elements: positive interdependence, individual accountability, promotive interaction, social skills, and group processing (Johnson & Johnson, 1999).

Positive interdependence is one of the foundations of CL. This is the perception that students' successes and failures are intertwined. By establishing a mutual learning goal, small groups can create a positive interdependence in the learning environment. Positive interdependence can bring diverse backgrounds together to unite students in a joint effort (Johnson & Johnson, 1999). Xia and Zhong (2019) recommended that robotics activities use a "co-opetition" model in which students are placed into cooperative groups to compete against each other. This model creates positive interdependence where students have a mutual goal in which they all succeed or fail together.

Individual accountability occurs when group members receive their performance feedback results and is reported to the individual and the group. This gives each student a responsibility to learn independently and contribute to the group (Johnson & Johnson, 1999). Yuen et al. (2014) discuss the importance of establishing individual accountability when constructing a robot. Each member has their own assigned roles that others rely on to carry out their task. This appeared to increase motivation amongst the group members. Taylor and Baek (2018a) also recommend assigning specific roles to students in ER group activities, citing that they positively affect student motivation and collaborative problem-solving.

Promotive interaction is the support and encouragement of others within a group. Activities that follow CL models create "interpersonal dynamics that only occur when students get involved in promoting each other's learning" (Johnson & Johnson, 1999, p. 27). This is only possible when working in small groups that provide an environment for students to practice these skills. Group-based ER activities have increased social interactions in small groups (Cheng et al., 2013). For promotive interactions to occur, a catalyst must initiate a general interaction first. ER activities provide an outlet for further understanding of the relationship between the way social interactions occur with the use of technology (Wartella & Jennings, 2001).

Social skills are the fourth element of CL. In a study conducted by Pennsylvania State University, elementary school teachers across six elementary schools rated social skills as a "critical" skill for their students to develop. Failure to develop such skills could lead to an increased risk of unfavorable outcomes within the classroom (Meier et al., 2006). In a systematic review conducted on robotics in young children, one of the overarching themes found amongst the research was that robotics was an effective tool for helping students develop collaborative, social, and teamwork skills (Toh et al., 2016). It has been found that the nature of robotics activities also forces learners to collaborate actively and interact if they are to be successful (Cheng et al., 2013).

Group processing is "a review of a group session to describe the member actions that were helpful and unhelpful and to decide what actions to continue or change" (Johnson et al., 1990, p. 507). This group reflection process is essential for helping maintain group relationships, encouraging social skills, and providing feedback to group members. It gives an additional reminder for students as to the importance of collaborative learning. During robotics activities, it was found that students had to work closely with their peers and "combine their knowledge to construct their robots" (Toh et al., 2016, p.151). Nemiro (2020a) recommends that robotics activities be used to develop and encourage conflict-resolution strategies. This includes listening, empathizing, mediating, and negotiating, which are conducive to group processing.

One of the distinguishing features of CL is that it is based on social interdependence theory (SIT) and its related research (Johnson & Johnson, 2002). Social interdependence is a "generic human phenomenon" that can impact many outcomes (Johnson & Johnson, 2002). SIT has created the foundation for understanding the five main elements of CL. These elements are prevalent throughout ER research. The following will demonstrate specific research that further validates these findings.

### Positive Interdependence

As noted earlier, positive interdependence is one of the most important elements of cooperation (Johnson & Johnson, 1996; Johnson & Johnson, 2004). Positive interdependence exists when group members believe they are working towards the same goal; this is known as outcome independence (Johnson & Johnson, 2004). Positive interdependence is demonstrated through interactions when there is evidence of group cohesiveness, such as members designating roles and actively working towards the group goals by sharing their unique knowledge or skills (Kern et al., 2007). Interactions demonstrating positive interdependence have been shown in various studies throughout ER.

Nemiro et al.'s (2017) study of primary school students intended to measure students' creativity in robotics activities. Students engaged in cooperative robotics activities, from making robotics move in specific directions or angles to dancing. Students brought their unique perspectives and skill sets to work toward the group goal of making the robots dance. This cohesiveness as a group is a good representation of positive interdependence.

Chalmers (2018) had similar findings in the study of elementary to middle school students involved in robotics competitions where students must work in teams to complete challenges. It was found that an overwhelming majority of students said they had talked with others about how to solve problems, asked other students to explain their ideas, and felt that other students listened carefully to their ideas. This proved to be an important part of creating an interdependent team.

Denis and Hubert (2001) designed a study to understand the relationship between collaboration and ER activities of students working in small groups (2-4) in primary schools using LOGO robotics. It was found that when faced with the robotics challenge, students organized themselves by creating roles to carry out specific tasks. This cohesive approach was usually led by the student who could delegate tasks and was seen as a leader amongst the students. These interactions form a level of structure and positive interdependence amongst members. Witherspoon et al. (2016), had similar findings when they found that students in robotics competitions primarily categorized themselves as "programmers" or "builders." These roles are in regards to students that either physically build the robots or are students who will be responsible for the mechanical construction.

In a case study that involved elementary school students, LEGO Mindstorm construction kits were used at a summer school camp (Somyürek, 2014). Sixty-two students were placed into different group variations throughout the camp and asked to complete various tasks. Activities were structured cooperatively, and students were given specific goals to accomplish. In the study, only 5 of the 62 students felt that they were always in agreement with their group. Despite this, an overwhelming majority of the students said they could share their thoughts and opinions with group members (Somyürek, 2014).

# Individual Accountability

Individual accountability occurs when all group members take responsibility for their efforts and work towards carrying out their roles as established by the team to the best of their abilities (Kern et al., 2007). Students will also hold each other accountable for their actions by providing feedback and ensuring that they are doing their jobs (Gillies, 2014). These interactions have been demonstrated in various ER studies.

Nemiro (2020b) conducted a case study to compare students' collaborative behaviors during robotics activities vs. during math activities with two classes of 4thgrade students. Observers of the two classrooms found that students participating in the robotics activities appeared to provide and accept feedback and assistance from others more often than within the math classes. This feedback was related to the robotics tasks. Students accepting feedback in relation to their robotics role suggests individual accountability. The researchers regarded and noted these interactions as positive (Nemiro, 2020b).

These findings are consistent throughout ER group interaction research. A decade before Nemiro (2020b), Blanchard et al. (2010) specifically noted that during group robotics activities in a Canadian elementary school, students were divided into teams and provided with a scenario in which they had to get their robot into a room to check out a "suspicious box." Researchers found that students' interactions specifically included immediate feedback to the controllers and programmers of the robots to make changes and adjustments to accomplish their tasks. This feedback was met positively with the understanding that it was provided to meet the group's goals.

Individual accountability appears to be demonstrated through other types of interactions as well. Nemiro (2020a) talks about students recognizing the persistence needed to accomplish their tasks. In a robotics activity using Lego Mindstorms, a student referred to their group as never giving up and always working hard, doing their best, and moving towards their goal no matter how many times they failed. Students were determined to accomplish their tasks and felt accountable and responsible for not letting their group down.

Individual accountability is a common type of interaction seen in group ER activities. Students appear to engage, contribute, and effectively participate when they know they are responsible for a specific role or task within the group. This occurs when students accept their roles while simultaneously encouraging others to complete their role as well (Gillies, 2014).

# Group Processing

Group processing occurs when students take time to reflect as a group upon their progress and functionality (Kern et al., 2007). In terms of interactions, this could look like students talking about what is helpful and unhelpful, making sure everyone knows what they are doing, listening to other members' opinions, and respectfully challenging each other to reach the group's goals (Johnson & Johnson, 1996). In robotics classes, this could look like students respectfully challenging each other's ideas and actions about how to proceed in a task, setting goals or subgoals to carry out a plan, or discussing the progress of their robotics task together.

Chaudhary et al. (2016) conducted a study in several elementary schools in India to evaluate the effectiveness of using Lego Mindstorms EV3 kits to evaluate computational thinking, problem solving, programming, teamwork, and project management for elementary school students. At the end of the study, it was found that 78% of the students said working in a team was more effective than working individually. This effectiveness was due to the group's ability to work together, reflect as a team, and continuously improve. The theme of group processing is present throughout ER and takes many different forms. In Taiwan, elementary school students designed a robot rat to compete in a race and tug-of-war competition. The focus of the competition was to allow groups to practice cooperation, problem-solving, and the application of collective team knowledge. Students demonstrated group processing journals, and discussions reflected specifically on the team's progress, specific group members' abilities and actions, and ways to increase the quality of the team's work (Hong et al., 2011).

In a 2013 study, students in an Australian primary school classroom were observed to understand the types of speech interactions made during a Lego Mindstorms robotics activity (Mills et al., 2013). Group processing was seen throughout the activity as students constantly proposed solutions, collectively thinking, adjusting and improving their solutions, and providing feedback to each other. Researchers found that students often collectively question and evaluate the proposed solutions with their team and the outcomes (Mills et al., 2013).

Students respectfully challenging each other's reasoning is an important aspect of growth as it helps create critical thinking, motivation to learn, better decision-making, and deeper thinking (Johnson & Johnson, 2005). Group processing requires careful conversation and reflection about the ideas and progress of the group. Stergiopoulou et al. (2017) proposed that ER activities are designed for cooperation and interaction while facilitating critical thinking through conflicts by requiring students to explain, justify, and articulate their point of view.

Group processing is a type of interaction that appears to occur worldwide in ER activities structured cooperatively. Group-based ER activities provide an environment

that allows students to be more reflective and apply collective knowledge to accomplishing the group's goals. This is produced by the CL goal structure of ER activities and the positive interdependence created by these goal structures.

# Promotive Interactions

Promotive interactions can be defined as "individuals encouraging and facilitating each other's efforts to complete tasks and achieve in order to reach the group's goals" (Johnson & Johnson, 2002, p. 28). Ponticorvo et al. (2020) believe that ER activities are exceptionally beneficial to creating positive relationships amongst students compared to other activities. Research shows ER activities to be beneficial in creating positive relationships through interactions like giving feedback, providing constructive critiques rather than malicious criticism, providing help, exchanging information, working cooperatively, and more. The general nature of robotics activities promotes positive learning environments. Anxiety in robotics activities has been shown to be lessened by the students' playfulness with each other (Hsu & Hwang, 2021). This idea fits well with the central tenets of promotive interactions.

In the previous study by Nemiro (2020b) comparing collaborative behaviors in elementary school students of robotics versus math teams, researchers specifically looked for behavior towards effort or contribution to the team's task. Part of this definition was any behavior that "encourages and supports the efforts of others in the group" (Nemiro, 2020b, p.7). Researchers found that students tried hard to contribute to the knowledge of the group and work hard, but there was no mention of encouragement from other group members. However, the overall "effort" of the group was high. Nemiro et al. (2017) conducted an explanatory observational study to examine how a School Robotics Initiative (SRI) could foster creative behavior. In the study, researchers conducted weekly observations and analyzed student journals to understand the effects of group-based ER activities. One theme that arose throughout the study was peer assistance. Researchers noted that because of the ratio of students to faculty members, students had to rely on the assistance and help of their peers. Promotive interactions were commonly observed as students often asked, received, and provided help and assistance throughout the various stages of the robotics activities. They were encouraging and helpful in their interactions. Some students were even called "techie" because of their knowledge, skillset, and ability to assist other students (Nemiro et al., 2017).

Jordan and McDaniel (2014) conducted a study that examined how elementary school students managed uncertainty in an ER group activity. In the study, students' interactions were categorized into two broad categories, unsupportive and supportive responses. When one student was uncertain, others could help that group member by "challenging, explaining, or offering information" (Jordan & McDaniel, 2014, p.509). The interactions and responses were most commonly supportive and could be classified as promotive interactions.

In a study that examined teachers' perceptions of the benefits of ER on 21stcentury skills in their classrooms, participants cited that robotics activities tended to create a positive environment for students to interact with each other (Khanlari, 2013). Teachers of focus groups noted that students tended to find great interest in giving and receiving help from other students during ER activities. Teachers noted that this type of promotive interaction occurred organically without any prompting.

In a study by Yuen et al. (2014), researchers observed the group dynamics and interactions in elementary and middle school students at a summer robotics camp. One of the findings was that students observing each other appeared not just to be a passive task but rather an important part of the collaboration process. This process of observing was noted as a predictor of on-task behavior. Students observing their groups' robotics testing and other groups' efforts would influence their own reasoning and behaviors.

Promotive interactions are found commonly throughout ER literature. These interactions can take many forms but essentially are interactions that promote others' success, are supportive, and are encouraging. Promotive interactions are commonly seen throughout CL research when positive interdependence is present (Johnson & Johnson, 2002).

#### Social Skills

Social skills are important to functioning as a group and reaching a goal. Interaction patterns would demonstrate that students trust each other, communicate clearly and precisely, support each other and resolve conflicts constructively (Johnson & Johnson, 1996). Interactions that demonstrate important social skills are found throughout ER activities.

In a study of 10-11 year old students comparing different types of group activities in Italy, Ponticorvo et al. (2020) wanted to understand how group activities in an ER laboratory, a coding laboratory, and students involved in an individual activity compared to each other. Lego Mindstorms NXT robotics were used in the robotics activity. Using sociometric tests, ER activities were the most beneficial in improving interpersonal relationships and developing social skills amongst students compared to the other activities.

This theme of social skill development is found throughout the research of ER. Ching et al. (2019) conducted a study involving three elementary schools to understand how STEM-integrated robotics curriculums impact student attitudes towards STEM fields. Students told researchers that it was sometimes difficult to work with other students, as conflicts often occur. However, it was noted that most teams could negotiate and come to a consensus for solutions as their relationships developed over time, resulting in constructive conflict resolution, an important social interaction (Ching et al., 2019).

Social skills are always developing throughout robotics activities. This is seen in interactions as positive engagement, using clear communication skills, paraphrasing, encouragement, and other types of positive interactions. (Kern et al., 2007).

# Summary of Group Interactions

Here were some of the major themes found throughout the study of group interactions in ER.

- 1. The five elements of CL were demonstrated through student interactions in robotics studies.
- 2. These student interactions were present whenever the study utilized a CL approach to their activities.

This section provided a unique way to classify and synthesize the available literature documenting the types of interactions found in ER activities. These interactions are consistent with what would be expected according to CL, SIT, and the structure of the ER activities.

However, from the research examined above, the observation of interactions among students appears to be merely a byproduct of other research aims and goals. There is little research directly focused on the interactions found within ER activities. Of the 17 studies reviewed, only three (Jordan & McDaniel, 2014; Mills et al., 2013; Yuen et al., 2014) were specifically designed to focus on the types of interactions occurring in groupbased ER activities. There appears to be a gap in the research that should be more thoroughly investigated.

Interaction patterns are well documented throughout research in CL and are the product of positive interdependence. However, there are few studies whose objective is to thoroughly understand these interactions and their broader implications for the field of ER. It is clear from the group robotics research reported in this literature review that there needs to be more research that directly focuses on the types of interactions occurring amongst group members in group ER activities.

# **Interaction Patterns in Educational Robotics**

As demonstrated in the preceding section, there is no shortage of literature that documents interactions that occur within ER activities. This section will demonstrate a need to understand how these interactions occur and their wider implications for classroom instruction and orchestration.

Kucuk and Sisman (2017) studied the behavioral patterns of elementary students and teachers in one-one robotics instructions in an elementary school robotics classroom. Researchers observed various behaviors among the students and teachers in one-to-one situations revealing that students frequently liked to share ideas and experiences with the instructor. The researchers concluded that future research on interaction patterns of students and their peers would benefit from understanding the types of behaviors that are occurring in ER activities. Kucuk & Sisman (2017) note that understanding these behaviors will help inform and improve instructional practices in ER activities.

Nemiro (2020b) found that there is a lack of research that has been done to understand how students work and collaborate during robotics activities. Moreover, Nemiro (2020b) points out that most ER studies that explore team collaboration among students will typically fall into three categories: studies that describe teamwork in robotics programs, studies that describe the process that students and teams make in ER activities, and studies that assess teamwork as an outcome. These categories do not consider the interactions occurring during collaboration or team activities, their effect on the robotics activities, and how they can affect outcomes.

Lee et al. (2013) conducted a study in a kindergarten robotics workshop. They wanted to understand the interactions between students using structured and unstructured robotics curricula. While the researchers measured the number of interactions recorded during the robotics activities, they did not measure the types of interactions occurring. The results showed more interactions between students in unstructured robotics activities, but they did not explain the type of interactions occurring. Lee et al. (2013) noted this gap and specifically suggested that future studies look at the different interactions occurring in robotics activities.

#### Observing Interactions in Group ER

Yuen et al.'s (2014) study is one of the few studies whose intentions were to document the types of group dynamics and interactions occurring during robotics activities. Researchers designed a "Group Observation Form" (GOF) based upon the following categories: on-task behavior, current task, hands-on, grouping, exclusion, and interaction (Yuen et al., 2014). These categories were created based on previous classroom observations for approximately three weeks. Researchers felt these categories captured the types of interactions occurring within their camp. Each student was observed for 10 minutes while working within their robotics group during the activities. Their behaviors and interactions were documented during this time.

Cheng et al.'s (2013) study on the impacts of group formation on interaction and achievement developed a frequency interaction table to count the number of interactions occurring amongst students during their robotics activity. This interaction table is based upon the idea of group learning which stems from social constructivism. The researchers do not define interaction, but each time students interacted, it was recorded as an occurrence in the table. This study only considers the frequency of interactions and not the type of interactions occurring.

In a study of collaborative behaviors in ER activities, researchers developed a "Collaboration Assessment Rubric" (Nemiro, 2020b). The rubric was developed by Nemiro and three other university students. It was reviewed by university faculty members who had exceptional skills and experience in ER, math education, and collaboration methods. The rubric was tested in a university classroom first and adjusted further to reflect more accurate aspects of collaboration for observation. The final rubric consisted of seven behaviors: focus on team tasks, effort, communication, problemsolving, engagement, attitude, and responsibility towards team tasks (Nemiro, 2020b). Observers watched students for six weeks and gave students a 0-4; zero was no behavior observed, and four was exemplary behavior observed.

Jordan and McDaniel's (2014) study on uncertainty management during a robotics engineering activity in elementary school students utilized a retroactive approach to observing interactions. Researchers recorded videos and created rough transcriptions of the conversations had between students. These transcriptions were further refined, condensed, and annotated with the video of the class activities to report gestures and interaction with physical objects. Jordan and McDaniel used four categories to understand students' ability to manage uncertainty through their interactions: reduce, ignore, maintain, or increase. This data was further corroborated through student interviews. The work of sociolinguist Frederick Erickson influenced researchers' data sampling framework.

Blanchard et al. (2010) observed students' strategies elementary school children used for solving robotics-based tasks. To do this, they wanted to observe how they work in groups directly. They transcribed video-recording "while looking at how children develop strategies to overcome obstacles in the process of problem-solving while utilizing situational awareness from their collective work" (p.2853). While many interactions, strategies, and behaviors were observed, this was the extent of their understanding of what was happening during the group robotics activities.

Although many types of interactions are observed throughout ER, few were observed as a part of a deliberate study designed for categorizing or analyzing the types of interactions occurring. Understanding the types of interactions occurring and their effect on students' achievement in the classroom will provide an alternative perspective to students' engagement in robotics technologies (Jung & Won, 2018).

# Interactions to Observe

The five elements of CL are present throughout ER research. This was demonstrated through the student interactions. Table 2.1 provides specific examples based on the literature of what CL interactions can be seen within elementary ER activities.

Cooperative Learning Elements and Examples of Interactions in ER Activities	
Positive Interdependence: There is evidence of group cohesiveness for accomplishing the task.	<ul> <li>Students share with each other ways to solve problems in relation to the task, programming, or building of robotics.</li> <li>Students listen to others' ideas about ways to accomplish the robotics task.</li> <li>Students know their roles as needed.</li> </ul>
Individual Accountability: Individual group members take responsibility for individual efforts and contributions towards the team.	<ul> <li>Students engaging, participating and contributing to their group by carrying out their roles.</li> <li>Students provide feedback to each other about the work that they are doing and holding each other accountable.</li> </ul>
Group Processing: Use ways to improve the processes team members use to maximize their learning.	<ul> <li>Students discussing ideas about their progress as a group in their robotics tasks.</li> <li>Students challenge each other's ideas and proposing alternatives to reach their goals of the task.</li> <li>Journaling or writing down reflections about their activity or task.</li> </ul>
Promotive Interactions: Promote one another's success through a supportive, encouraging, and praising environment.	<ul> <li>Advocating achievement, encouraging others.</li> <li>Speaking positively to each other.</li> <li>Resolving conflicts peacefully.</li> </ul>

 Table 2.1
 Observational Guide for Interaction Patterns in ER Activities

The nuances of these interactions are subtle but important. The more detailed interactions can be studied and understood, the more insights can be provided about how a particular activity produces interactions and is structured, affecting overall quality.

If an ER activity is cooperatively structured, then it is highly like that these types of interactions will be seen within the activity. Interdependence is considered the most important aspect of CL (Johnson & Johnson, 2004).

#### **Gender Differences in Educational Robotics**

The under-representation of women within STEM fields has been well documented and is an important topic of study (Kahn & Ginther, 2017; Blickenstaff, 2005). The primary causes of this inequality have been debated, but the study of gender in robotics has shown great potential to understand further why this imbalance is occurring (Hartmann et al., 2007). Further understanding of gender groups within the ER field will not only help understand important variables in dealing with the development of effective instructional practices but also contribute to the growing body of knowledge surrounding the gender gap within the STEM fields.

The research on the effects of gender groups and the effect on robotics has mostly agreed with the idea that there appear to be little to no differences in performance between males and females in ER with some exceptions (Jung & Won, 2018). Sullivan and Bers's (2013) study of young children found that boys had higher mean scores than girls in completing tasks, but few of these scores were statistically significant. This demonstrated to the researchers that both boys and girls could have successful learning experiences at young ages. Sullivan and Ber's (2016) continued studies found that young children performed equally well on most tasks; however, the boys seemed to perform significantly better on advanced programming tasks. Researchers suggest that further studies should be conducted on why boys performed better on these tasks.

Other studies have noted the non-impact gender has on groups' robotics performance. Taylor & Baek (2018b) found that the gender composition of groups had no impact on the group's robotics performance in 4th and 5th graders. Other forms of ER assessment, such as a questionnaire on basic robotics also demonstrated no gender differences in terms of achievement (Castro et al., 2018).

Xia and Zhong (2019) also came to the same conclusion that the available research has found few differences between performance within genders in roboticsbased tasks, but there were differences in how girls approached their tasks. Boys were often less inclined to follow instructions, while girls were dedicated to following written tasks. Cheng et al. (2013) also found that gender had no impact on final learning outcomes in elementary school students. However, they did find that groups of the same gender interacted at significantly higher rates.

This pattern of nuanced differences is consistent in older students as well. Ardito et al. (2020) found that girls and boys did not show significant differences in computational thinking within middle school robotics groups. However, girls tended to reflect more in journals and discuss themselves more often in groups. Girls also tended to share more, even in mixed-gender groups, during robotics activities. This difference in the social dynamics of robotics groups was also noted by Burns (2019) when it was found that females enjoyed the social aspects of robotics more than males. Males enjoyed the technical aspects more than females. Atmatzidou and Demetriadis' (2016) findings nearly replicated Ardito et al. (2020) in their study of junior high and high school students. It was found that there was no significant difference between computational thinking scores between genders. However, it was found that girls scored higher in teamwork and communication than boys. Also, mixed-gender groups showed higher levels of discourse, with girls leading much of the discourse. Zhong et al. (2022) found that mixed-gender groupings outperformed single-gender pairs in robotics tasks where the students had no prior knowledge or experience.

Other studies have found that general attitudes towards robotics between genders is positive; however female students appear to be less confident in learning about robotics than male students (Kucuk & Sisman, 2020). This finding was consistent with students in robotics competitions. It was found that from 5th-12th grade, mentors of students generally thought there were no differences between male and female students in terms of performance (Sullivan & Bers, 2019), but they did find that boys were significantly more confident in their general technical abilities, and their abilities to put things together than the females. This finding was also consistent with younger students. Zviel-Girshin et al. (2020) found that young boys felt significantly more confident than girls when asked about building larger and more advanced robots. But, when examining performance, desire to study robotics, and perception of having fun with robotics, there were no differences between the two groups.

## **Instructional Strategies in Robotics Teaching**

One of the emerging patterns found in the calls to research throughout ER research is a need to understand what is occurring within the robotics classroom and develop the best instructional practices. In a systematic review, Jung and Won (2018) found that much of the current research on robotics activities focuses on technologies and outcomes. There needs to be more focus on understanding children's learning and engagement processes. They conclude that understanding how students engage with the technologies, teachers, and peers will help to create grounds for creating effective new pedagogies (Jung & Won, 2018).

While there is a need to improve instructional strategies, there have been studies that have made some important contributions to ER teaching practices. Xia & Zhong (2019) recommends using small group sizes to help eliminate some common problematic issues in ER, such as "free-rider" issues where a student in the group does not contribute. Another common instructional strategy has been to assign roles to students. Zhong and Wang (2021) found that using paired learning and assigning roles to group members is important to success. Taylor and Baek (2018a) recommend that assigning specific roles to students in ER group activities is beneficial to collaboration. Yuen et al. (2014) found that assigning roles also helped to increase motivation among students. Nemiro (2020b) recommended assigning team roles based on the students' interest. These instructional strategies are helpful and based on peer-reviewed research methods, but there is a need for more.

Ioannu and Makridou (2018) called for further research to understand classroom orchestration. They found a need for more research to understand ways to facilitate interactions between students within the class and in small groups. In order to create this understanding, further research must be conducted to understand the current student interactions occurring during ER activities. These findings are similar to Anwar et al.'s (2019) systematic review of ER studies, which found that most ER studies lacked important details about pedagogical methods inside the learning environment. They felt a need to connect the theoretical basis of robotics with its implementation.

Xia and Zhong (2019) studied student pair learning in robotics education to explore its effectiveness. They concluded that although CL is the presiding format in ER, there is "still a lack of detailed research and successful experience in promoting effective cooperation among students" (Xia & Zhong, 2019, p. 292). In order to improve effective cooperation, studies must be conducted that aim not only to understand the types of interactions occurring amongst students in different groups but also to measure their effect on success in the classroom.

The gap in the research is clear, along with a need for further progress and improvement in our understanding of how students interact in robotics activities. The themes noted above demonstrate a need to shift toward ER studies focusing on what is happening in the classroom. Understanding the relationship between interactions and success in the ER classroom would help to inform instructional practices and improve robotics education.

## **Chapter 2 Summary**

ER has been used for over fifty years. Seymour Papert and other professors developed some of the first ER and programming languages in the 1960s (Mehmet, 2013). The prevalence of ER in various settings has been steadily increasing over the years, along with advances in ER technologies. ER provides an environment for students to practice vital interpersonal skills in modern and complex learning environments (Peligrino & Hilton, 2012).

The primary theoretical framework behind ER is constructionism (Stager, 2005; Mikropoulos & Bellou, 2013; Gorakhnath & Padmanabhan, 2020). Developed by Papert (1991), constructionist learning theory posits that children construct their knowledge by building external artifacts. The structure of a typical ER activity includes the use of cooperative learning, which is the use of small groups working towards a common goal to maximize learning. The five elements of CL are positive interdependence, individual accountability, face-to-face promotive interaction, social skills, and group processing (Johnson & Johnson, 1999) are routinely seen throughout ER research.

This chapter revealed that there is a minimal number of studies that are specifically designed to understand the interaction patterns that are occurring in ER activities. Concurrently, there is a call to research to understand what is happening within the classroom during ER activities in student interactions (Kucuk & Sisman, 2017; Nemiro, 2020b; Lee et al., 2013). Understanding these interactions will help to develop instructional practices for positive outcomes and effective pedagogy. See Figure 2.1 for a summary of the findings.



Figure 2.1 Summary of Findings

One of the most valuable products of this literature review is that it justifies using elements of CL as a lens for observing interactions in cooperatively structured groupbased ER activities. It was also found that there is a need for further understanding the effect of interactions and gender differences in young children's ER to help develop instructional practices (Jung & Won, 2018).
## CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY

The purpose of this mixed methods embedded design study was to explore the relationship between student group interactions and group structure on achievement in robotics activities in a second-grade elementary school robotics class. Cooperative Learning (CL) is used throughout Educational Robotics (ER), and its elements are a viable lens for observing future interactions. CL provides a framework for categorizing the interactions occurring during group robotics activities. This study provides a methodology for exploring this relationship.

This study focused on 50 groups (103 students) of 2nd-grade students in their regular primary school robotics class. It used a mixed methods embedded design (Creswell & Clark, 2018). A preliminary observation of the classrooms was conducted to observe and document specific interactions, which was later used to help categorize interaction types during the students robotics assessment. One-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) tests were conducted to test the difference between student achievement in different groups of students based on gender and interactions seen within the group. This chapter includes the study's research questions, participants, settings, design, data collection processes, observation protocols, instruments, and data analysis.

## **Rationale for Methodology**

This study utilized a mixed methods embedded design (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2006). Creswell and Plano Clark (2006) stated,

The embedded design mixes the different data sets at the design level, with one type of data being embedded within the methodology framed by the other type...The embedded design includes the collection of both quantitative and qualitative data, but the one of the data types plays a supplemental role within the overall design (p. 67-68).

Preliminary observations were conducted in the classroom to provide context and background to the study. The observations helped to provide a secondary account of the classroom environment, and specific information on the interactions among students within the classroom in terms of the interaction type and group structure. The quantitative analysis was the primary method for answering the research questions about the effects of gender and group interactions. Doyle et al. (2009) note that with embedded design method, qualitative data is needed to explain and understand the findings of the dominant quantitative methods (Figure 3.1).



Figure 3.1 Mixed Methods Embedded Design

As noted by Edmonds and Kennedy (2017), this "approach is appropriate when one type of data plays a secondary role and would not be meaningful if not embedded within the primary data set" (p. 189). The preliminary observations of the classroom provided contextual data to this study that helped categorize and classify group interaction types.

This study was conducted with young children in the natural setting of their regularly scheduled classes. There needed to be as little disruption to this environment as possible. Researchers should always consider the situation and setting in which they are trying to obtain the data (Tracy, 2020). Proper situational ethics entailed quick and efficient data collection to allow participants to carry on with their regularly scheduled activities. One of the advantages of using a mixed methods embedded design is that there is only one phase in which data is collected, causing little disruption to students (Creswell, 2013).

#### **Participants and Research Context**

Researchers say there are many benefits to children being exposed to robotics at an early age (Cejka et al., 2006). However, there is a need for more research to understand teaching pedagogy and student engagement during robotics lessons, particularly for young children (Jung & Won, 2018; Castro et al., 2018). This study addressed a younger demographic that needs a further understanding of delivering meaningful and effective ER instruction.

Denla Primary School (DLPS) is located in Nonthaburi, Thailand. This small private school is in its third year of operation. The school prides itself on its curriculum, which centers around STEM skills and regular AI and Innovation classes (Bangkok Post, 2019). This is made evident by the student's schedule, which includes three science periods, one computer literacy, one AI and Innovation class, and one STEM period per week. The robotics curriculum was developed and designed by a local Thai university to fit the needs of the learners at the school. The robotics program's comprehensive curriculum begins with students using Matatalab robotics kits in first and second grade. In third grade, students begin using Lego WeDo kits. In the fourth and fifth grades, students begin their use of Lego EV3 Mindstorm robotics kits.

The robotics classroom at Denla Primary School (DLPS) is well-equipped. Students from each grade level use different age-appropriate technologies that gradually progress in difficulty throughout the comprehensive curriculum. The curriculum utilizes robotics as a learning object approach (Almisis & Kynigos, 2009). This focuses on the programming and construction of robotics themselves rather than attempting to integrate it across disciplines. In the DLPS robotics program Grade 1 and Grade 2 students use no code robotics (Evripidou et al., 2020), which utilizes a tangible programming language in the form of plastic direction blocks to move the robots. These Matatalab Robotics kits come fully equipped with all the necessary pieces to carry out the most basic coding movements. The classroom has eight Matatalab with robotics kits with class sizes ranging from 15 - 24 students. This structure provides ample opportunities for the students to practice using the robotics kits while working in small groups (2-3 students.) No construction is required for these kits, only a basic setup for turning on the robots and organizing the coding blocks. These robots are the precursor to more advanced robotics used in later grade levels. Students at Denla Primary School learn how to construct and

program Lego WeDo robots and Lego EV3 Mindstorms in Grades 3-6. This study is intended to help build the program and practices of the school.

The researcher is normally the participant's STEM class teacher and a regular assistant in the student's AI and Robotics class. The student participants for this study consisted entirely of the 2nd-grade cohort of students at DLPS. This study included 103 students (44 male, 59 female). The average class size for this grade level is 21 students. These students have all had one year of experience in the robotics classroom with each other. Although most students speak English as a second language, it is school policy that the language of instruction in the classroom always remains in English. Students are expected to speak in English with their teachers and peers.

The robotics teacher created the groups that were observed in the study. The robotics teacher usually has students in groups of 2-3. These groups depend on how many students attend on a particular day. The researcher did not influence whom the robotics teacher chose to be in a particular group. This parameter prevented any researcher bias from occurring with the groupings.

Before the challenges began, a one-way ANOVA was used to see if the groups were homogenous in their robotics abilities. This was done by taking the groups of students' final scores from their previous year in robotics class in the first grade. These scores were comprised of a year's worth of assessment, formative observations, and regular quizzes within the student's robotics class. This comprehensive score accounts for all students' robotics knowledge and abilities. These scores were recorded only one month prior to the assessment. Levene's test resulted in a *p-value* > .05 (p=.086) based upon the mean score, indicating that the groups were homogenous and that the error variance based on the prior score was equal across all groups. The null hypothesis was accepted, making it appropriate to check for significant differences among the various groups. The data also met the assumptions of normality. Hatcher (2013) states that to conduct an ANOVA the group's data must meet the underlying assumptions of homogeneity and normality, retain the independence of observations (not using repeated measures from the same participant), and use continuous data types. The data obtained from the second-grade students at Denla Primary School met all of these requirements. Levene's Test can be seen in Table 3.1.

				· ·
	Levene Statistic	dfl	df2	Sig.
Prior Score Based on Mean	2.58	2	47	.086

Table 3.1Levene's Test of Students Prior Robotics Class Scores by Groups

The ANOVA resulted in a *p-value* >.05 (p= .058), indicating no significant differences between groups regarding prior robotics knowledge. With no significant differences between the group's prior robotics knowledge or abilities, the differences produced post-assessment provided an accurate indication of the effect of group structure and interactions on the student's achievement. This ANOVA can be seen in Table 3.2.

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	268.25	2	134.13	3.03	.058
Within Groups	2084.09	47	44.34		
Total	2352.34	49			

Table 3.2One-Way Analysis of Variance of Prior Robotics Class Scores byGroups

#### **Robotics** Equipment

The assessment will be conducted using the Matatalab robotics kit. Each Matatalab kit comes with a series of challenge books. The robotics kits consist of a grid board, robot, tangible coding blocks, and obstacles. Challenges can be as simple as programming the robot to move from one space to another or as complex as exact programming degree turns to draw automated pictures using a marker. For the assessment of achievement, students worked from the official Matatalab Challenge Book. A challenge consists of students moving their robot from one spot on the grid to another spot designated by a plastic flag marker. Students met with the researcher during the class one group at a time and were required to see how many challenges their group could fully complete. The Matatalab Challenge Book provided the challenge's best possible solution to reach the designated point. During this time, the researcher observed and recorded the group's interactions and successes within the classroom. Challenge Book 1 includes simple movement patterns that utilize basic generalization skills, while Challenge Book 2 integrates new variables such as obstacles and utilizes more algorithmic thinking skills. There is a natural progression of difficulty written into the challenge books. The

Matatalab kits have been used in previous studies and are structured in a way that makes them suitable for teaching and assessing algorithmic thinking and generalization skills (Yang et al., 2022). The full Matatalab set can be seen in Picture 3.1.



# **Research Design**

Qualitative data was collected to help support the study's quantitative data. The data helped provide support and context for the data analysis and interpretation. Preliminary classroom observations were collected and included detailed examples of how various interactions manifested within the different groups. These observations provided valuable information on how to categorize the groups interaction type during the assessment. Quantitative data on student achievement was concurrently collected with observations of the student's interactions during their assessment. The preliminary observations were taken into consideration during the analysis and interpretation of the quantitative data. A mixed methods approach to this research was necessary to understand the relationship between interactions and achievement. A mixed methods approach provides a more comprehensive and robust understanding of the problem than if one single approach were to be used (Creswell & Creswell, 2018).

One-way ANOVAs were conducted to understand the relationship between group structure and interactions on achievement during robotics activities. This data helped to further reveal best instructional practices for classroom orchestration within second-grade ER classrooms.

This design helped answer the three research questions guiding this study:

**RQ1:** How do cooperative learning interactions manifest among the second-grade robotics students at Denla Primary School?

**RQ2:** Do the types of group interactions in second-grade robotics activities make a difference to the group's achievement?

**RQ3:** Does the group structure in second-grade robotics activities make a difference to the group's achievement?

RQ1 provided a qualitative record of understanding the classroom environment and how the interaction types show themselves within the second-grade robotics classroom at Denla Primary School. While the ER literature provides a lot of data and information about what types of interactions should be seen, it may not include other types of interactions that are unique to the classroom environment at the research site. This information will be invaluable to gaining a more thorough and accurate understanding of the interactions exhibited in the particular robotics classrooms. This embedded qualitative portion also provides context and more understanding of the quantitative results produced by RQ1, RQ2, and RQ3.

RQ2 and RQ3 provide quantifiable data to understand the differences between group structures, interaction types, and the effects of both to understand how these variables influence classroom student interactions and are the primary justification for the findings of the study.

Research question one asks: *How do cooperative learning interactions manifest among the second-grade robotics students at Denla Primary School?* This question was answered through the initial preliminary observations conducted over approximately 4 hours and 20 minutes of class time. It revealed important supporting data to help the researcher understand how the interactions within the CL framework are shown in the second-grade classrooms at DLPS. These interactions were documented and used as a guide to categorize groups as specific group interaction types. The observations provided context and information to help answer RQ2 and RQ3.

Research question two asks: *Do the types of group interactions in second-grade robotics activities make a difference to the group's achievement*? A one-way ANOVA that tests the three different types of group interaction types with the group's level of achievement determined if there were significant differences between groups. This data was collected through an assessment conducted with 50 groups of students. In these assessments, student groups were categorized into one of the following interaction types: positive interdependence, group processing, or promotive interactions. The Level of Achievement (LoA) was calculated for each group and tested for significant differences amongst the various interaction types. Research question three asks: *Does the group structure in second-grade robotics activities make a difference to the group's achievement?* Another one-way ANOVA was conducted to determine if there were significant differences between group structure and the student's LoA. This study had three group structures: all-male, all-female, and mixed-gender groups. This data was collected through the assessment with the same 50 groups of students. SPSS version 28.0 was used for all quantitative analyses.

Table 3.3 summarizes the research questions and the methods used to answer each question.

Aim of Research Question	Type of Analysis	Method of Analysis
RQ1: Document how interactions manifest in the ER classroom.	Qualitative	Five, 2nd-grade ER classrooms were observed. Student interactions in accordance to CL interaction types and group structures were documented.
RQ2: Analyze the effect of group interactions on ER achievement.	Quantitative	A one-way ANOVA testing the three different CL interaction types by the group's achievement was conducted.
RQ3: Analyze the effect of group structure on ER achievement.	Quantitative	A one-way ANOVA testing the three different group structures by the group's achievement was conducted.

Table 3.3Summary of Research Questions and Methods

The assessment portion of the study took place in the robotics classroom. Students were asked during class time to sit with the researcher and conduct the test. The students' lead robotics teacher pre-determined the groups, and the researcher did not influence how

the groups were chosen. The robotics teacher's only instructions were to try and evenly distribute the students by gender if possible. All the challenges given to the students were problems they had already done in the past. All students had completed one year of robotics classes in the first grade with the same teacher in the same classroom. This assessment took place in the 1st quarter of the new school year, which begins in May and ends in July.

Students sat down at a table together and were provided with a challenge book containing all the challenges and the relevant Matatalab set and pieces. The set included the following blocks: four forward, four backward, four right, four left, two "2" blocks, two "3" blocks, a start loop block, and an end loop block. These blocks were not set up in any particular order, and students were required to find the quickest and most efficient way to their goal.

The furthest that any group was able to get was six challenges. These six challenges were categorized into two sections. The first three challenges are considered the "generalization" challenges. The second set of three challenges was considered the "algorithmic thinking" challenges. These challenges are normally used to meet the curriculum requirements of the DLPS robotics curriculum. The robotics teacher of the classroom uses these challenges as assessments of these skills. The Level of Achievement (LoA) was equal to the sum of all the scores of the completed challenges within the time frame of one and a half minutes for each challenge. This could include challenges in both the algorithmic thinking and generalization categories.

# **Research Tools**

This study observed students to understand the types of interactions occurring in robotics class. Based on what was learned in the literature review, CL is commonly found throughout ER research. CL structures are often used in ER activities and are a suitable lens for viewing the interactions commonly found within ER activities.

### Cooperative Learning Observation Protocol

The literature review demonstrated that the elements of cooperative learning are prevalent throughout ER. The Cooperative Learning Observation Protocol (CLOP) is an observational instrument used to measure students' classroom interactions (see Appendix A). Kern et al. (2007) originally developed this instrument for measuring "cooperative learning skills used by students as they engage in cooperative tasks in the classroom" (Kern et al., 2007, T1D-6). When tested for reliability and validity, researchers simultaneously observed four separate cooperative learning groups. The CLOP was deemed a reasonably reliable instrument with a calculated Cohen's Kappa of  $\kappa = 0.67$ , a "substantial agreement."

Previous studies have used this same observation protocol and adapted it to fit the needs of an elementary school engineering classroom (Luo, 2014). Yang and Liu (2005) conducted a study observing the interactions of elementary school students using a cooperative learning approach. Researchers utilized categories of cooperative learning and recorded the frequency of each type of interaction seen under that category. Behaviors seen as the antithesis of the specific cooperative behavior were recorded as a negative reaction. The researchers then totaled the scores and labeled the group as a

specific interaction type. The four categories they used were: individual, authoritative, argumentative, and consolidated (Yang & Liu, 2005).

A version of the CLOP was adapted for use in this study while maintaining the CLOP's central integrity of evaluating most of the elements of cooperative learning: positive interdependence, group processing, and promotive interaction a combination of Kern et al., (2007). Table 3.4 demonstrates the information section of the original CLOP as produced by Kern et al. (2007).

<b>Cooperative Observation Learning Protocol</b>					
Course/Level			Date		
Observer			Instructor		
Number of stud	mber of students in class		Whole Class Information:	Whole Class Demographic Information:	
Instructional context:					
Group Specifics					
GROUP #/Name			Seating Arrangement		
Group Composition			Length of Cl	ass	
Number of Stud Group	lents in		Female		Male
Other:					
Cooperative Tasks					

Table 3.4Information Section of CLOP

*Note.* Adapted Table from *Cooperative Learning: Developing an Observation Instrument for Student Interactions* by Kern, A. L., Moore, T. J., & Akillioglu, F. C., p. T1D-4, (2007)

The second part of the sheet provides an area to mark the level of interactions seen within each interval. Positive Interdependence (P), Individual Accountability (I), Group Processing (G), and Promotive Interaction (F) represent the interactions that are actually observed. Social skills are the final element of CL but were excluded in this form by researchers through the validation process and thought to be redundant in the observations. The form will be adapted to measure the frequency of each interaction.

It is important to note that three interactions were observed in this study: group processing, promotive interactions, and positive interdependence. Individual accountability was not observed because, within this particular activity, students were not assigned roles. Based on the literature review, students working within their assigned roles was revealed to be one of the primary manifestations of individual accountability interactions seen within robotics research (Yuen et al., 2014; Taylor & Baek, 2018). Each group was classified by one of the three interaction types. Table 3.5 demonstrates the categories created by Kern et al., (2007) along with how they might be manifested in CL groups.

(P): There is evidence of group cohesiveness for accomplishing the task.	(I): Individual group members take responsibility for individual efforts and contributions towards the team	(G): Use ways to improve the processes team members use to maximize their learning.	(F): Promote another's success, through a supportive, encouraging, and praising environment.
Examples: - Roles as needed: Facilitator, encourager, timekeeper etc. - Contributing unique background & skill	Examples: - Participation - Contribution - Engagement - Ability to articulate & justify group procedures and results. - Group makes sure all understand task & procedures.	<ul> <li>Examples:</li> <li>Feedback to one another about team effectiveness.</li> <li>Setting goals or sub-goals.</li> <li>Reflection on success.</li> <li>Key sayings "what we have so far?" "Does everyone understand where we are?"</li> </ul>	Examples: - Eye contact - Name use - Appropriate interruptions. - Celebrate success - Student suggestions respected - Conflict is managed

Table 3.5CLOP Interactions in Robotics Class

*Note.* Adapted Table from *Cooperative Learning: Developing an Observation Instrument for Student Interactions* by Kern, A. L., Moore, T. J., & Akillioglu, F. C., p. T1D-6, (2007)

Previous ER research have noted examples of the three different CL interaction types. Table 3.6 shows a summary of how the three different interaction types have been previously seen throughout the studies reviewed in Chapter 2 and were used as a general reference for observing interactions at the research site.

	Cooperative Learning Elements and Examples
Positive Interdependenc e: There is evidence of group cohesiveness for accomplishing the task.	<ul> <li>Students share ways to solve problems related to the task, programming, or building of robotics.</li> <li>Students listen to others' ideas about ways to accomplish the robotics task.</li> <li>Students know their roles as needed.</li> </ul>
Group Processing: Use ways to improve the processes team members use to maximize their learning.	<ul> <li>Students are discussing ideas about their progress as a group in their robotics tasks.</li> <li>Students challenge each other's ideas and propose alternatives to reach their task goals.</li> <li>Journaling or writing down reflections about their activity or task.</li> </ul>
Promotive Interactions: Promote success through supportive, encouraging, and praising environment.	<ul> <li>Advocating achievement, encouraging others.</li> <li>Speaking positively to each other.</li> <li>Resolves conflicts peacefully.</li> </ul>

 Table 3.6
 CLOP Interaction Examples from Research

The CLOP provides a method for categorizing and observing interactions. This protocol led to the collection of some of the most valuable findings. To answer RQ2, it is first essential to know the types of interactions occurring in the robotics activities. The CLOP gives a lens for observing the students' interactions but also a method for categorizing the group interactions. The interactions recorded in the preliminary observations helped to inform the interactions recorded within the CLOP by giving specific examples of what types of interactions are commonly seen within the classroom, essential contexts of the interactions, and a general understanding of the types of behaviors seen within the classroom.

## **Data Collection**

Data collection was conducted for approximately three and a half weeks. Ethics dictate that as little disturbance to the natural setting of participants is created as possible (Tracy, 2020). Previous studies of elementary school robotics classes typically observed students from between 8-15 hours (Nemiro, 2020b; Yuen et al., 2014; Lee et al., 2013). The researcher observed each classroom once for the full 50 minutes to document the classroom's general context, atmosphere, interactions, and activities. These observations took a total of 4 hours and 20 minutes. The second phase of data collection required the researcher to assess each group to record their level of achievement and types of interactions. These assessments took over two weeks of class time to complete, taking approximately 10 hours. This gave a total observation and assessment time of approximately 14.5 hours.

### Preliminary Field Observations

During the first week of observations, the researchers took field notes to document the types of interactions seen in the classroom and useful research context information. The researcher acted as an observer and participant, meaning they were able to observe and interact with participants with their full knowledge of why the researcher was there (Kawulich, 2020). These observations included general information on specific student interactions within the CL framework during ER activities, general observations of achievement, gender grouping of students, and other information on the classroom environment. Field notes help create thick, rich descriptions of the research context and are valuable as secondary data in mixed methods research (Phillippi & Lauderdale, 2018). This data collection is consistent with embedded design research methods, which give priority to one approach and supports the findings with secondary research methods (Almeida, 2020). These field notes were organized and included in the final report of information.

The observations provided valuable information about how the interactions were specifically shown in the second-grade classrooms. There is general knowledge of what types of interactions to expect from the students, but this can vary and show itself in different ways. The observations documented common behaviors and interactions shown by the students through the lens of CL. Notes were taken not only on the interaction types, but also on the various group structures.

# Assessment of Achievement

Students completed a series of tasks using Matatalab robotics kits. Matatalab robotics kits utilize a *no-code robotics* technology (Evripidou et al., 2020). Students attempted to move their robots into a designated area using physical coding blocks. Each task builds upon the previous task and becomes progressively more challenging.

Here are the following parameters for obtaining and calculating the level of achievement score for all groups.

- For each challenge, groups were given a score. The level of achievement (*LoA*) was equal to the sum of all the scores earned in each challenge throughout the assessment.
- Students were given one and a half minutes to complete the challenge. (This time limit was created due to limitations of classroom time and

recommendations from the robotics teacher.) If they reached the designated point within this time, they moved on to the next challenge. If they did not, the assessment was concluded, and the students' accumulated points were calculated as their final LoA score.

- If the students reached the designated point within one and a half minutes and used the best possible solution as provided by the Matatalab Booklet, they earned a possible 20 points for generalization challenges and 40 points for algorithmic thinking challenges.
- If the students reached the designated points within the one and a half minutes but did not use the same solution as shown within the Matatalab Booklet, they earned the number of correct blocks (*CB*) divided by the total number of correct blocks needed to complete the challenge (*TB*). This number was then multiplied by 20 for generalization challenges or 40 for algorithmic thinking challenges.
- On the final assessment, which the students cannot complete within the time limit, only correctly placed blocks were counted towards the student's level of achievement (*LoA*). See formula for calculating *LoA* below.

Level of achievement formula LoA= Sum of all challenges Generalization Challenge Score = (CB ÷ TB) x 20 Algorithmic Challenge Score= (CB ÷ TB) x 40 This formula provided the researcher with scores to compare amongst groups. This continuous variable was used to answer the research questions in understanding the

relationship between interactions and gender groups and achievement in ER activities. An example of a challenge can be seen in Picture 3.2.



Picture 3.2 Matatalab Coding Challenge

The solutions in the Matalabs robotics kits are always displayed using pictures of the actual coding blocks in the kits. Picture 3.3 demonstrates how the solutions are shown within the challenge books.



Picture 3.3 Solution to Matatalab

Within the robotics assessment, there are two main types of challenges. The first three challenges are considered generalization challenges based on the framework for teaching computational thinking skills with robotics to K-6 students by Angeli et al. (2016). The next three challenges are algorithmic thinking challenges based on the framework and approach in which students have to solve these challenges. Students are taught to approach the problem by using step-by-step actions and sequences to reach their goal.

With the varying difficulty levels, it is important to note that the algorithmic thinking challenges were worth more points than the generalization challenges. The Matatalab challenge books are divided into three levels. The generalization challenges come from the challenges in Challenge Book 1. Each of these challenges do not have specific sequences that need to be followed. They require basic movements and pattern recognition. Within the algorithmic thinking challenges students are introduced to a new piece, the obstacle barrier. Students are not allowed to touch this piece on the board and therefore are required to move in a specific sequence. Students have been taught in their robotics class to clear the obstacle and then move to the flag. The algorithmic thinking challenges come from Challenge Book 2 of the Matatalab.

# **Generalization Challenges**

Atmatzidou and Demetriadis (2014) defined generalization as the "transferring [of] problem-solving process to a wide variety of problems" (p. 46). Angeli et al. (2016) provide a framework for teaching and assessing elements of computational thinking in young children. They suggested providing challenges that require the identification of common patterns between problem-solving tasks and using sequences for solving new problems. The beginning challenges of this robotics assessment begin with simple challenges that can be easily solved using common patterns to get to their goal.

The first generalization challenge requires students to recall some basic movements. They must be able to use basic movements in order to reach the flag. This challenge can be seen in Picture 3.4.



Picture 3.4 Generalization Challenge 1

The correct solution to this challenge is *right, forward, forward*. This sequence gets the robot to the flag in the number of steps. Students will have to build off this pattern using their generalization skills to recognize familiar patterns.

Generalization Challenge 2 appears to be quite simple, but it proved to be one of the most difficult to solve with the solution prescribed by the Matatalab book: *move backward*. This challenge only requires one programming block. Students had to recognize the patterns from their previous lessons on basic robotics movement. This type of movement was not seen in Generalization Challenge 1; however, students' prior knowledge from the classroom and work with simple one-space movements had been previously practiced. This problem uses generalization because of the required recall and implementation of basic patterns of the Matatalab movement. It does not require any specific sequence because there are no other pieces on the board. This challenge is depicted in Picture 3.5.



Picture 3.5 Generalization Challenge 2

The third challenge of the assessment required students to use their generalization skills in recalling some of the same patterns used in the first challenge. Generalization is the act of students reusing previous methods to solve similar problems (Noh & Lee, 2019). In this challenge, students must use the same pattern as in the first challenge but with an additional forward piece. Generalization Challenge 1 required students to move *right, forward, forward, while* Generalization Challenge 3 required students to move *forward, right, forward, forward.* This challenge solution took direct programming sequences from previous problems. Student's generalization skills were put to the test in this challenge. If they were able to recognize that this challenge almost exactly follows previous sequences they were successful. This challenge can be seen in Picture 3.6.



Picture 3.6 Generalization Challenge 3

# Algorithmic Thinking Challenges

In the second set of challenges, students needed to utilize their algorithmic thinking skills. Algorithmic thinking requires students to define steps that must be taken to solve a problem (Selby, 2012). In the following Matatalab Challenges, the "obstacle" piece is introduced. This piece creates a new variable within the challenge. Students must take specific and defined steps to reach their goals. In their regular robotics class, students were taught to clear the obstacle and then get to the flag. As recommended by Angeli et al. (2016) framework for teaching and assessing computational thinking in robotics, students should be able to understand what steps should be taken for a solution and put commands in a specific sequence to carry out that action. Creating step-by-step actions in a specific order demonstrates algorithmic thinking (Selby, 2014). These challenges are worth double the generalization challenges because they require students to move within a specific sequence. They are no longer able to just move freely to the ending flag. They must navigate around an obstacle. This is the first challenge in the second series of books for the Matatalab challenges.

In Algorithmic Thinking Challenge 1, a new variable was introduced. The obstacle required students to use a specific sequence rather than simply being able to move freely around the board, like in the previous challenges. This challenge can be seen in Picture 3.7.



Picture 3.7 Algorithmic Thinking Challenge 1

The solution for this challenge is *left, forward, right, forward, right, and forward.* At this point in the assessment, this challenge had the most steps, and the difficulty increase impacted the group's achievement.

In Algorithmic Thinking Challenge 2, students demonstrated their algorithmic thinking by breaking the challenge into two parts. The first was to make a move to clear the obstacle. Sequence two requires students to reach the flag. Algorithmic thinking requires breaking down problems into small solvable pieces (Chalmers, 2018). Students had been previously taught in their regular robotics classes to approach the challenge with this mindset. This challenge and sequence can be seen in Picture 3.8.



Picture 3.8 Algorithmic Thinking Challenge 2

Algorithmic Thinking Challenge 3 was the most difficult for the students. Students had been taught algorithmic thinking techniques for challenges like these before by breaking the problem down into smaller, sequenced pieces. For this challenge, the initial sequence was to clear the obstacle effectively by first moving into Column A and moving in a straight line down the path. The second sequence was to move to the flag. Students had to put the instructions in the correct sequence, or else they hit the obstacle. Defining the steps needed and placing these steps in the correct sequence is a hallmark of algorithmic thinking activities in robotics (Angeli et al., 2016). This challenge can be seen in Picture 3.9.



Picture 3.9 Algorithmic Thinking Challenge 3

All quantitative data was collected and interpreted together in a single phase. This procedure is consistent with the mixed methods embedded design. This information was necessary for answering RQ2 and RQ3. The level of achievement was the primary dependent variable in this study. It was critical for all data findings. It was during this time that the observations of students' interactions were used as a reference to understand any questionable interactions between students. RQ1 provided the necessary information to make distinctions between interactions.

## Categorizing Interactions

Yang and Liu's (2005) method for studying group interactions was essential to this study. Researchers in this study used overarching categories for observing student interactions and created detailed types of behaviors to be observed in each category. By tabulating the frequency of the interactions, Yang and Liu then created broad interaction labels for each group based on these interactions.

This method, in conjunction with the CLOP, provided the structure for categorizing observations in this study. While students were completing the robotics

assessment, the researcher was observing and taking notes on the way the students interacted with each other. Based on each CL category, specific interactions were observed and noted for frequency.

The types of interactions seen most frequently informed the categorization of the interaction types. Each instance where interaction was observed was valued as one interaction and recorded on the CLOP sheet. Based on the preliminary observations, the researcher thoroughly understood how positive interdependence, promotive interactions, and group processing manifested between the students. An interaction was counted when direct exchanges of information or communication between the students fell into one of the three interaction categories. This interaction can come in the form of physical or verbal exchanges between the students. This was seen in the form of short dialogues between students or physical exchanges. Some examples of this are students high-fiving each other, hugging, celebrating each other's success, or even physical demonstrations of knowledge such as students moving the robot or pieces around to discuss a plan or carry out a role. In the event of equal levels of interaction frequency between categories, the researcher had to use the knowledge and understanding of the class and group dynamics to determine what interaction types most accurately described the group as discovered in the preliminary observations. The data gathered to answer RQ1 provided even more examples of the types of interactions seen in each category among the class groups.

Here is a sample interaction and how it would be categorized using the method described.

One of the students begins by asking everyone how they think the robot should go. The other student responds by saying that they should start by moving the robot to the right then forward and up. The students then pick up the robot to map out each step that the robot will take and physically demonstrating to the other students. The students put in their code and run it. It is successful. The students high five, and tell each other good job.

In this interaction, the students would be categorized as a group processing type of group. The first note that was made was when the student asks everyone which way they think the robot should go. The other student responds by offering a solution for the direction they should go. This is one group processing interaction. The student then physically picks up the robot demonstrating to the group members how the robot will move across the board. This is a second group processing interaction. After the students are successful, they promote and celebrate each other's success with compliments and high-fives, this counts as one promotive interaction. Therefore, the final tally of this group is two group processing interactions and one promotive interaction. Based upon the frequency and types of interactions, this group would be categorized as a group processing group.

Here is another example of a group interaction that was commonly seen and how it would be categorized.

Students begin by setting up their pieces. They quickly establish roles for themselves. The girl says she will set up the board, and the boy organizes the coding blocks.

The girls says "Ok, I will tell you what pieces to put." She then begins calling out coding directions as the boy places the pieces. They run the code and it doesn't work. She says "Ok, let's try it again." The boy says "You can do it! You're smart! Maybe we should go left instead of right? That will bring us to the flag." She gives the boy another sequence of coding instructions and he places them. It works this time. The boy tells the girl "Wow, you are so good at this!"

In this situation, there are many interactions shown. First, as the students begin, they quickly establish roles for themselves by each doing separate jobs that are working towards the goal. The girl says that she will tell the boy which pieces to place, and he places them in a sequence. This counts as a positive interdependence interaction. After the first failed attempt, the boy encourages her, and offers a possible solution. This counts as one promotive interaction for encouragement and one group processing interaction for evaluating and discussing possible solutions. The girl then gives out another series of commands for the boy. This is another positive interdependence interaction. The boy celebrates the girl and her success, this is a promotive interaction.

This group would be categorized as a positive interdependence interaction type. There were two positive interdependence interactions, one group processing interaction, and two promotive interactions. In this situation there was a tie between positive interactions and promotive interactions. However, primarily the group had established roles for themselves throughout the challenge and carried out jobs within their roles toward the goal.

# **Data Analysis**

This study used a one-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) to understand the relationship between groups and achievement in robotics activities. ANOVA tests are used to compare the means of more than two groups (Levin & Fox, 2011). An ANOVA may be used when the researcher wants to investigate the effect of more than one factor on a response variable (Beyer, 2021). one-way ANOVAs were conducted for group structure and interaction types. For each of these factors, the dependent variables were the LoA, generalization challenge scores, and algorithmic thinking challenge scores.

The first independent variable, group structure, had three possible categories: allmale, all-female, and mixed. The second independent variable was the group interaction type, with three possible categories: positive interdependence, group processing, and promotive interactions. The dependent variable is the level of student achievement. All results were analyzed using SPSS 28.

The one-way ANOVA was used to reveal if there is a significant difference among means but is unable to tell where those differences are (Hatcher, 2013). Post hoc tests are a type of multiple comparison procedure "that allows researchers to determine which specific conditions are significantly different from one another" (Hatcher, 2013, p.368). When there were significant differences among groups in student achievement, a post hoc test was initiated. Tukey's Honest Significant Difference (HSD) is a post hoc test that reveals what group means are significantly different from each other and is commonly used after an ANOVA test (Haynes, 2013). Tukey's HSD was designated as this study's post hoc test when a significant difference was found.

### **Ethical Considerations**

Ethical considerations have been made before, during, and after the study. Before beginning the study, permission forms from the parents (Appendix B), permission forms signed by the head of school (Appendix C), and the deputy head of school (Appendix D) who is responsible for operations were issued to ensure compliance with local education department guidelines.

During the study, no names were recorded of the students; only numbers were assigned to participants to retain anonymity. No personal data that would make any individual identifiable was collected. All data collected throughout this study was kept confidential and accessed only through a virtual private network (VPN). This VPN allowed access to a secure drive on the Boise State University network.

It is important to note that the teacher read a verbal assent form to ensure that the students understood that participation in the study was optional. Whether they chose to participate or not, students' classroom activities and grades were not affected. However, all students that were given permission by their parents to take part in the study all agreed.

#### **Chapter 3 Summary**

This mixed methods embedded design study was conducted in the 2nd-grade robotics classes in Nonthaburi, Thailand. Parent permission, site permissions, and student permission were obtained for the researcher to conduct the study. Data collection for this study was conducted in a single phase using adapted formats of the CLOP (Kern et al., 2007) and Yang and Liu (2005) observation methods. Data was collected and analyzed using two, one-way ANOVAs. It was stored on a secure drive provided by Boise State University. This data was then interpreted to answer the research questions proposed in the study.
#### CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

This chapter documents the results from the observations and assessment, and provides an analysis of those results. First the results from the observations of student interactions are revealed. Then there is a review of the robotics assessment results in terms of group structure and interaction types. Finally, the chapter finishes with a summary of the results. The following research questions were answered:

**RQ1:** How do cooperative learning interactions manifest among the second-grade robotics students at Denla Primary School?

**RQ2:** Do the types of group interactions in second-grade robotics activities make a difference to the group's achievement?

**RQ3:** Does the group structure in second-grade robotics activities make a difference to the group's achievement?

#### **Student Interactions in Robotics Class**

Preliminary observations were conducted to give information on specific student interactions within the CL framework during ER activities, general observations of achievement, gender grouping of students, and other information on the classroom environment and learning context to help make more informed group categorizations when assessing the students. These observations proved to be incredibly useful during the assessment phase in that they gave the researcher a full understanding of how students in various classes and groups interacted with each other. It also provided a foundation for understanding how the interactions fit into the overarching CL framework for observing interactions. The following is a report of these observations.

# Observational Context

During the week of observation, the robotics lessons began with students lining up at the door. The robotics teacher briefly summarized what they would do in the robotics class and then let the students into the classroom in groups of two to three, assigning them to specific tables. Eight tables were set up around the classroom with enough distance and spacing that students could work with their groups without interacting with other groups. This classroom layout is important because students typically only interact with the students in their group, which the teacher had created.

The teacher then connected to a TV in front of the classroom with his iPad. After going over some of the more basic movements, he introduced the concepts of functions, loops, and using sound blocks. He then put a picture on the screen of how he would like the class to set up their board and gave them some time to solve the day's first challenge. A picture of the front of the classroom setup can be seen in Picture 4.1.



Picture 4.1 Front of Robotics Classroom Setup

According to the robotics teacher, students had just begun learning about repeats and loops but had difficulty understanding the concept. The teacher went through a methodical step-by-step tutorial on placing their coding blocks to reach their goal. After completing this task together as a class, he presented students with a new problem that used the same concept but presented a different challenge. The solution required a loop and repeat numbers to reach their goal. The robotics teacher considered this a more challenging concept than the students usually did.

The teacher went around the classroom checking the different group's solutions, providing feedback, and answering any questions. After the students completed their assigned challenge, they were free to work through the Matatalab challenge books and attempt more complex problems. The assigned challenge of the day can be seen in Picture 4.2.



Picture 4.2 Challenge Given to Students During Robotics Class

# Group Interactions

One of the primary focuses of the preliminary observations was to understand how group processing, positive interdependence, and promotive interactions were shown in the second-grade classrooms at DLPS. The other focus was to understand how the various group structures interacted with each other. Overall, students in the classrooms were very familiar with each other and comfortable interacting. The noise level in the classrooms was high. Students primarily stayed in their groups, but if they did stray to another table, they would be quickly prompted to return to their table by the teacher. The interactions within the CL framework became visible once the students began their challenge.

# Promotive Interactions

The CLOP defines promotive interactions as interactions that "promote one another's success through a supportive, encouraging and praising environment" (Kern et al., 2007, np). These types of interactions are often seen within the DLPS robotics classrooms. The following interactions were noted within the field notes of the researcher.

This interaction occurred within one of the all-male groups. This example shows an instance of students encouraging each other even when others failed. This type of promotive interaction occurred quite often throughout the observation.

One of the members chose the wrong programming piece, making the robot not only move in the wrong direction but actually off the table. The boy who made a mistake put both hands on his head and screamed, "Oh no, I did it again!" (translated from Thai). The other boy in the group picked up the robot and said, "Never mind, it's ok, try it again!" (translated from Thai.)

Encouragement and praise occurred quite often within the classroom. One of the all-female groups demonstrated this promotive interaction.

The students appeared to be stuck in getting their robot around one of the obstacles. One girl said, "let's just make the robot go backward." The students tried her plan, and it worked. The three of them jumped up and down cheering and told the girl "Wow! You are so smart!" (translated from Thai.)

While these types of promotive interactions were ubiquitous throughout the classrooms, they primarily appeared to occur amongst the all-male and all-female groups. There was evidence of peaceful conflict resolution in another group of three boys.

Two boys in one group were trying to place the same pieces down simultaneously to the point where they were nearly fighting over who would place the piece. The third boy in the group told them both to stop and said, "No, it's ok. We are all working together!" (translated from Thai.)

These types of verbal interactions were prevalent throughout the different classrooms. There were also many examples of non-verbal promotive interactions where students would celebrate each other's successes and the groups' successes. Here is an excerpt from the field notes.

Groups of students commonly encourage each other through non-verbal communication. It was common to see students cheering when they reached their goal, patting each other on the back, giving each other high-fives, physically jumping up and down, and even doing "victory dances" when their team would reach the end of their challenge.

Promotive interactions were commonly exhibited throughout the various classrooms. Students were quite supportive of each other and rarely had conflicts. These types of interactions appeared primarily in the homogenous gender groups. These groups had high levels of interaction and playfulness. The classroom and lessons were structured in alignment with common CL research and practices. The lesson structures allowed for ample interaction. One of the other essential tenets of CL is positive interdependence. Positive Interdependence

Within the CLOP, positive interdependence is evidence of group cohesiveness in accomplishing a task (Kern et al., 2007). Positive interdependence in ER group interactions has been seen through students organizing themselves into roles to carry out specific tasks, asking each other questions about their tasks, and sharing opinions about their tasks (Denis & Hubert, 2001; Somyürek, 2014; Chalmers, 2018). These types of interactions and others were seen throughout the observations.

Throughout the observations, positive interdependence interactions showed in various verbal and non-verbal ways. One interesting observation was that many of the groups organized themselves into roles. The instructor often unprompted this and formed organically among the group members. This non-verbal interaction from a mixed group of students demonstrated this interaction quite well after completing a challenge and preparing for the next one.

After completing a task, the students began to clear off their board. One student began getting the pieces to set up the board for the next challenge; The other student took each piece off one at a time and began handing them to the next student. This student began re-organizing all the pieces by direction, putting all the left, right, forward, and backward blocks together. Students showed group cohesiveness by establishing roles with each other unprompted by anyone. This self-organization and role assignment is consistent with other ER studies (Denis & Hubert, 2001; Nemiro, 2020a). These types of interactions also demonstrated themselves during the challenges. Take this example within a group of two males.

Two boys saw the challenge come up on the board, and one of the boys immediately asked for the forward block. "Ok, give me the forward block...Ok, now the left block...number 2 block..." This pattern of "supply manager" and leader continued throughout their challenge without any objection from either boy or request to change positions. They both immediately assumed roles and began working within their roles.

Students commonly took on the role of leaders within the group and would even decide to switch roles. In this group of females, the girls agreed about who would get to press the play button to run the program.

After the two girls both placed some of the pieces and they both tried to press the big, orange, play button at the same time. One of them said, "Ok, this time you can press the button, I will put the pieces and next time I will press the button and you can put the pieces" The girls agreed, and they began taking turns on who would be the one to press the play button.

These types of group cohesion examples seemed commonplace in the different classrooms. Positive interdependence exists when group members believe their success is

intertwined and work together toward a common goal (Johnson & Johnson, 2004). In some cases, this was demonstrated by both verbal and even physical interactions. This is an observation of an all-female group.

Three girls were going through a trial-and-error method of changing pieces out one at a time. Every time they reset their robot they would all hold each other's hands or squeeze each other while the program ran through its code. "PLEASE, PLEASE, PLEASE!" they said as they watched their robot go on the programmed path. The girls would do this repeatedly, each time squeezing or hugging each other harder as they got closer and closer until their robot finally reached its flag, where they all let out a giant "YAAAYYYY!"

While this interaction might not seem like much, it demonstrates a sense of group cohesiveness, where everyone in the group was working towards a single goal together. This was made evident not only by their body language but also by their confirmation of reaching their final goal together.

In a mixed, positive interdependence interaction type group, the girl had taken on the role of a programmer while the boy worked on physically placing the pieces and resetting the board.

The boy in the group reset the board and placed the new pieces on the challenge. The girl looked at the new board and said that the new challenge was "easy." She told the boy that they had to just go around the obstacle, and turn right. The girl proceeded to give the instructions for placing the new programming pieces on the board. The boy followed the directions, placed the pieces, and ran the program. The program worked on the very first challenge. They both cheered when the robot reached the flag.

Self-organization into roles was one of the most common practices by the students that fell into the positive interdependence categories.

#### Group Processing

This occurs when students take time to reflect as a group upon their progress and functionality (Kern et al., 2007). Discussions specifically focused on the team's progress toward a task, adjusting to reach their goals, facilitating critical thinking through respectful conflict resolution, and collectively proposing solutions have been noted throughout ER research (Hong et al., 201; Mills et al., 2013; Stergiopoulou et al., 2017). These types of interactions were also found throughout the second-grade classrooms at DLPS.

Even though these students were only 6-7 years old, it was quite remarkable how much discussion would occur for even the most minor movements on the robotics board. Students would get into lengthy discussions about what move should come next and even plan many moves ahead to try and reach their goals. When the students were first shown their challenge a mixed group (one female, one male) had this interaction. After students set up their board, both students began moving the robot without placing any pieces square by square to see what route would be the best way to go.

The boy said, "Ok lets do like this, forward, forward, left, forward." "Wait, no we have to look at it from the robot's nose" (a reference to strategy taught to the students) "we go left, forward, forward" the girl replied. "Ohhhh, ok, correct." the boy confirmed. (Translated from Thai.)

The student's careful planning and processing were commonplace among the second graders. This type of thoughtful discussion effectively reviewed what was occurring in their challenge and found solutions to problems. This example from a mixed group demonstrates how students could stop and use group processing to achieve their goals.

The students found they did not have enough pieces to get to their flag and kept going back and looking at what they were doing wrong. "We don't have enough pieces to get there," said the girl. "We need to get one more forward piece," said the boy. "Maybe we have to use the numbered pieces?" said the girl. Both students looked at the board.

"Right, we need to use the number piece here!" (pointing to the area where there were two repeating directional blocks.) Students ended up using the number pieces and then had enough to make it to the flag. (Translated from Thai.) Throughout the observation, students even weighed different options and decided to go in one direction as a group. In this all-male group, each student had a different idea of how to get to the flag. The students' discussion led to their eventual path.

Students began their challenge by discussing their options for getting to the flag. One boy suggested that the group go straight in line using multiple arrows. The other boy said that they should use the function piece. The boys eventually decided to try and use the function piece. When they neared the end of the board, they came to another crossroads where they were running out of straight pieces. One of the boys suggested that they start all over again, but the other came up with the idea that they could "turn left and then go backward."

This interaction demonstrates how the students had thoughtful discussions before the start of the challenge and when looking at their progress, made another conscious decision not to start over but instead go with another solution. Group processing was used before and during the challenge bringing the students to their final goal. A similar type of interaction was also present in another all-female group.

As the girls began their challenge, they made the simple mistake of not resetting their robot to the starting position and always going in the wrong direction. One girl said, "Why is it going this way?"

"Ahooo, we need to reset it back to the start! Ok, let's test it now." Girls tested their new setup. "Ok! Now it's good, let's see if this works." (Translated from *Thai.) Girls continued and began to reset their robots to their starting position after every attempt.* 

This interaction was a great example of group processing because they assessed their progress midway through the challenge, found out where the problem was occurring, and then made corrections.

The self-organization of roles and group processing was common in the preliminary observations and the assessment. Group processing in planning and discussion was also prominent throughout this challenge. This interaction occurred in an all-male group processing type.

Both boys looked at the board together and began systematically moving the robot around in a sequence that avoided the obstacle and moved towards the flag. The boys called out each direction that the robot would have to take and placed each piece one by one. There was not much discussion other than one point where one of the boys said the robot needed to turn right instead of left as they were moving it. The other boy agreed, and they continued on. They only needed to run the program once to get to the goal.

Some general interaction patterns emerged within the different gender groups during the preliminary observations. Ardito et al. (2020) found that within middle school robotics, boys tended to focus more on the operational aspects of coding and building, while girls tended to focus more on group dynamics. Witherspoon et al. (2016) note that gender stereotypes affect the roles they adopt on their team as children get older. Other interaction patterns were noticed between the different group structures.

# All-Male Groups

Throughout the initial preliminary observations of the study, it appeared that allmale groups exhibited promotive interactions and group processing as their primary interaction types. The students were usually playful, polite, friendly, and accepting of mistakes. While the male groups showed high promotive interactions, they also focused on their challenges. This is an excerpt from the observational field of a male promotive interaction group.

The boys were given their initial challenge by the teacher. They immediately began mapping out their route and where they would go. One boy made a suggestion, and the other very politely (within the context of the Thai language) objected, stating they should start differently. They seemed to resolve their differences of opinion very quickly and peacefully, attempting one route. This route failed. Students did not get upset with each other. They told each other it was ok and tried the other one. One boy complimented the other and said they were so smart (translated from Thai.)

These types of mixtures of both group processing and promotive interactions seemed to be quite common amongst the all-male groups. The boys appear to have an almost competitive edge when they were attempting challenges. They seemed to be focused on the tasks at hand, and conversations often took almost too long. Based on the preliminary observations, it is reasonable to say that the all-male groups demonstrated primarily promotive interactions and group processing interactions.

This interaction between an all-male group processing type accurately represents the interactions and discussions seen.

The group begins a discussion on which way to go. One boy suggests moving towards the waterfall, into the desert, and then to the flag. The other boy says that this way will take too long and that they should simply "turn left twice, and then move forward." They both agree to carry out this planning thinking that it is the best way to move to their goal. They both cheer when they reach their goal.

#### <u>All-Female Groups</u>

The all-female groups also showed promotive interactions as one of their primary interaction types. The girls were very supportive, caring, and playful with each other, no matter the outcomes of their challenges. The all-female groups showed a lot of promotive interactions through non-verbal mediums. It was common to see physical interactions such as hugging, holding hands, dancing, jumping, and high-fives amongst the girls when there were successes. The girls would often cheer each other on during their challenges. The following example of an all-female group is a good illustration of common interactions among all-female groups.

The girls immediately begin grabbing pieces and placing them on the board. One girl tells the other she has no idea what she is doing. The other two girls tell her

not to worry. It is no problem. The girl who did not know what to do began chanting the other girl's names and telling them to keep fighting (translated from Thai, this is a ubiquitous Thai expression and form of encouragement to not give up.) As the other two girls worked, she kept cheering for them until they reached their goal where they all jumped up and down, hugging each other.

These types of promotive interactions were most common amongst the all-female groups. The interactions above, however, were rarely seen amongst the all-male and mixed-gender groups.

The all-female groups were never discouraged easily. They always kept trying and encouraging each other even when they failed multiple times. They seemed to go with a more relentless trial-and-error approach.

#### Mixed Groups

The mixed interaction groups showed more group processing and positive interdependence. This pattern was contrary to the observations in all-male and all-female groups. This may be because students may have felt more comfortable being with their gender group and did not feel that same sense of camaraderie felt with their own gender groupings. Amongst these groups, it seemed like much more verbal discussions, planning, and processing was being conducted compared to the all-male and all-female groups. The following interaction in a mixed group of one girl and one boy is a good example of commonly seen interactions amongst mixed groups. At the start of the challenge both students began actively setting up their board immediately organizing themselves into roles. One began organizing the pieces and the other began setting up the board. The students began moving the robot and discussing what directions they will need to take to get to their flag. One student asks about how to use the repeat pieces and says they can't remember. The other student shows them, and they incorporate this into their strategy for getting to the flag. Through trial and error both students work through multiple iterations of their program continually talking to each other and discussing what is going wrong showing good group processing. They finally reach the flag after many attempts but don't seem too excited. One of the students just says, "Ok!"

It was most common to see the mixed groups having a lot of verbal discussions during the challenges. They showed more positive interdependence by organizing themselves into roles or group processing through many thoughtful discussions. There did not seem to be consistent patterns in the types of roles the boys or girls took. Some of the conversations were even surprising for students at such a young age. These groups also wanted to be faster than other groups in the room, even though there was no actual competition. The students in these groups often looked around at the others in the class to check their progress.

These observations provided invaluable information on what types of interactions should be seen during the assessment. The literature review of this study provided information on some of the basic types of interactions that should be seen in the classroom. These observations provided what interactions are seen amongst the research participants at DLPS. Table 4.1 provides a summary of the types of interactions seen in each category of the CLOP.

Cooperat	ive Learning Elements and Examples Found in Observation
Positive Interdependenc e: There is evidence of group cohesiveness for accomplishing the task.	<ul> <li>Students were clearing their boards and preparing for the next challenge.</li> <li>All students were involved in the process even with little interaction.</li> <li>Some students even take on their own roles of collecting pieces, placing pieces, and resetting the robot.</li> <li>Each student took on a physical role or was involved in setting up their robots.</li> <li>All students involved in cleaning up and resetting the board.</li> <li>Team asking teacher for additional challenges for the group to complete.</li> <li>Students squeezing each other or holding hands together. when they are running their robots through their test course.</li> </ul>
Group Processing: Use ways to improve the processes team members use to maximize their learning.	<ul> <li>Students were planning out their route.</li> <li>Students offered multiple solutions to each other.</li> <li>Students respectfully rejected some suggestions and went with another one.</li> <li>Students going over the steps together that they had already taken.</li> <li>Students moving the robot before programming to predict what blocks they will need.</li> </ul>
Promotive Interactions: Promote one another's success through a supportive, encouraging, and praising environment.	<ul> <li>Students pat each other on the back.</li> <li>Students physically dance with each other.</li> <li>Students compliment each other.</li> <li>Students jumping up and down and cheering YES!</li> <li>Students comfort each other when they fail at something.</li> <li>Not getting upset with one another for obvious mistakes.</li> <li>Students cheering for their teammates.</li> <li>Using very polite language (in Thai) with each other when completing their challenges.</li> <li>Telling each other we are on the same team</li> </ul>

 Table 4.1
 Summary of Interactions Seen Within Preliminary Observations

Соор	perative Learning Elements and Examples Found in Observation
All-Male Groups	<ul> <li>All-male groups appear to demonstrate more group processing and promotive interaction type interactions during the robotics class.</li> <li>The male groups often have long discussions about which way to go, to the point where they are using almost too much time.</li> <li>Male promotive interactions appeared to be more verbal, and in the form of celebrating with each other and encouragement. Failures within the group are often brushed off.</li> <li>In a vast majority of the groups, members all participated and were very friendly with each other.</li> <li>High interaction levels.</li> </ul>
All-Female Groups	<ul> <li>All-female groups appeared to demonstrate more promotive interaction types during robotics class. The girls were very physical with each other, often hugging, high-fiving, dancing, cheering, and encouraging each other during the robotics challenges.</li> <li>The female groups appeared to be less concerned about pre-planning and discussions about the paths of their robots. Seems more willing to go with a trial-and-error approach.</li> <li>All-female groups seemed to have a lot of success by not giving up.</li> <li>High interaction levels.</li> </ul>
Mixed-Gender Groups	<ul> <li>Mixed-gender groups seemed to show more positive interdependence and group processing interaction types. Groups would often self-organize with a leader and a peace placer.</li> <li>These groups seemed more focused and serious about the challenges than some of all-male or all-female groups.</li> <li>Mixed-gender groups appeared almost competitive and were faster than the other groups.</li> <li>Lower interaction levels when compared to same-gender groups.</li> </ul>

# **Group Structure and Robotics Achievement**

Based on the group structure and achievement, three areas were analyzed. Students' LoA, generalization, and algorithmic thinking. The results were as follows. Level of Achievement

Blanca et al. (2017) found that the ANOVA test is still a valid option even with uneven sample sizes because of its robustness. Therefore, the differences in sample size should not be a factor in the results of this study. The effect of group structure based on gender and robotics achievement was evaluated. There were three categories of group structure: all-male (n=14), all-female (n=20), and mixed-gender groups (n=16). Table 4.2 shows the descriptive statistics for the LoA by group structure.

		-					• •	
Group Structure	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Minimu m	Maximum
Male	14	56.31	32.82	8.77	37.36	75.26	13.3	138.8
Female	20	49.46	28.08	6.28	36.32	62.61	7	117.56
Mixed	16	52.54	34.7	8.67	34.05	71.03	14	135.86
Total	50	52.37	31.11	4.40	43.52	61.21	7	138.80

Table 4.2Descriptive Statistics for Level of Achievement by Group Structure

A one-way ANOVA was conducted to understand the effect of group structures on students' level of robotics achievement. The one-way ANOVA revealed that there was no statistical difference in mean LoA scores between group structures (F (2, 47) = [3.025], (p=.825) (Table 4.3).

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	386.65	2	193.33	.193	.825
Within Groups	47046.19	47	1000.98		
Total	47432.83	49			

Table 4.3One-Way Analysis of Variance of Level of Achievement by GroupStructure

#### Generalization

While there were no differences between groups for the LoA, it was necessary to check if there were any differences in achievement amongst the category of generalization and algorithmic thinking. Table 4.4 provides the descriptive statistics for the Generalization challenge scores based on the group structures.

Table 4.4Descriptive Statistics for Generalization Scores by Group Structure

Group Structure	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Minimum	Maximum
Male	14	37.65	22.58	6.03	24.62	50.68	5.3	75
Female	20	39.53	17.03	3.81	31.56	47.5	2	67.2
Mixed	16	23.86	16.88	4.22	14.87	32.86	0	49
Total	50	33.99	19.62	2.77	28.42	39.56	0	75

When looking at the challenges that specifically focused on generalization, the one-way ANOVA revealed that there was a significant difference in mean generalization challenge scores between at least two groups (F(2,47)=[3.498], p=0.038). (Table 4.5).

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	2442.43	2	1221.22	3.5	.038
Within Groups	16410.82	47	349.17		
Total	18853.25	49			

Table 4.5One-Way Analysis of Variance of Generalization Scores by GroupStructure

Tukey's HSD Test for multiple comparisons found that the mean generalization challenge scores were significantly different between all-female and mixed-gender groups (p=.042, 95% C.I. = .5, 30.84). There were no statistically significant differences between all-male and all-female groups, and all-male and mixed-gender groups.

The all-female groups demonstrated primarily promotive interactions. During the assessment, the all-female groups exhibited many of the same interactions seen in the preliminary observations. These students were able to complete the challenges quite easily. This example of one of the highest-performing all-female groups characterizes much of what was seen during the assessments.

The group begins their new challenge. As they begin placing their pieces, one of the girls says, "no, no, we did this one already!" One of the girls flips back into the challenge book and says "no, look it is not the same" referring to the first challenge shown to the students in the assessment book. "Ohhhh, wow, you're very smart!" [translated from Thai]. Girls continue with their plan and get to the flag. The girls cheer, hug, and then complement each other. The lowest-performing group in the generalization category was a mixed group, with a mean score of 23.86 (n=7). This example comes from one of the lowest-performing groups demonstrating one of the common interactions.

One of the boys says that he knows how to do the challenge. The girl says ok, and says she will do the pieces and press the play button. They set up the board and begin to place their pieces. The boy gives directions but is going the opposite way. The girl is cheering for him. They only need to use the same pattern as before to get to the flag. After a few attempts they ran out of time.

This interaction shows how the group organized themselves into roles, were focused on the goal but were unable to reach their goal within the time limit. The same programming blocks and patterns as the last challenge would be needed. The students simply needed to recognize the previous pattern. However, because of the nature of the roles which the group established, only one student was taking on the cognitive load of solving the problem. This student could not make that connection to their previous code, which they had done just two challenges before.

#### Algorithmic Thinking

Algorithmic thinking challenges was the second skill assessed. Table 4.6 provides the descriptive statistics for the algorithmic thinking challenge scores based on the group structure.

Group Structure	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Minimum	Maximum
Male	14	18.66	18.6	4.97	7.92	29.40	0	63.8
Female	20	9.93	18.53	4.14	1.26	18.61	0	62.56
Mixed	16	28.68	26.21	6.55	14.71	42.65	8	106.86
Total	50	18.38	22.34	3.16	12.03	24.73	0	106.86

Table 4.6Descriptive Statistics for Algorithmic Thinking Scores by GroupStructure

A one-way ANOVA revealed a statistically significant difference in mean

algorithmic thinking challenge scores between at least two groups (F(2,47) = [3.44], p =

.04) (Table 4.7).

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between	3125.478	2	1562.74	3.44	.04
	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Within Groups					
Total	24451.121	49			

Table 4.7One-Way Analysis of Variance of Algorithmic Thinking Scores byGroup Structure

Tukey's HSD Test for multiple comparisons found that the mean algorithmic thinking challenge score was significantly different between all-female and mixed-gender groups (p=0.031, 95% C.I.= [-36.04, -1.45]. There was no statistically significant

difference in mean algorithmic thinking challenge scores between all-male and all-female groups (p=0.47) and all-male and mixed-gender groups (p=0.41).

The highest performers in the algorithmic thinking categories were the mixedgender groups. They had the most success by breaking the problem into two parts. They cleared the obstacle first and then moved to the flag. Here is an example of a mixedgender group type that utilized their algorithmic thinking early in the challenge.

Group looks at the challenge and one of them says they need to go around the obstacle on the snowfield first. Students recognized it was quicker to clear the snowfield first rather than the obstacle in the Gobi desert. "Ok, we need to go this way first, just forward, left, forward...easy." The group moves around the obstacle first completing the first sequence. One girl says that it is no problem now, they just need to go straight. The group completes the second sequence with the correct forward and number block pieces.

The group recognized the two sequences and then executed the correct directions for the robots to get there. This demonstrated not only group processing but also algorithmic thinking.

High performers were in the all-male and mixed groups for the algorithmic thinking challenges. The all-female groups were amongst the lowest performers in the algorithmic thinking challenges. This interaction demonstrated where things went wrong. Girls begin challenges by turning into obstacles. The girls say they need to move in a different direction. The girls cleared the board and started over again. Girls laugh not worried about the failure. They move the robot forward and then turn it in the wrong direction. Girls are cheering for their robot. "No we can't go that way! Lets try go left! " (translated from Thai.) The girls reset their board completely again and try another iteration cheering for their robot again. The girls begin to run out of time. Time expires with one piece placed correctly.

The primary factor in this incompletion was that the girls could not recognize that they needed to break the challenge down into two separate sequences as they were previously taught to do. This created issues when developing a plan for their robot to move.

# **Interaction Types and Robotics Achievement**

Interaction types were evaluated in three categories: Level of Achievement, generalization skills, and algorithmic thinking skills.

## Level of Achievement (LoA)

The next variable that was examined was the various interaction types. Table 4.8 shows the descriptive statistics for the LoA scores by interaction types with N being the number of groups that were categorized as the corresponding interaction type.

Interaction Type	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Minimum	Maximum
Group Processing	13	63.3	35.09	9.73	42.09	84.5	13.3	135.86
Promotive Interactions	19	59.05	32.44	7.44	43.41	74.68	15	138.8
Positive Interdepen- dence	18	37.42	20.72	4.88	27.12	47.73	7	71
Total	50	52.37	31.11	4.4	43.52	61.21	7	138.8

 Table 4.8
 Descriptive Statistics for Level of Achievement by Interaction Type

A one-way ANOVA was performed to compare the effect of interaction types on group robotics achievement. The ANOVA revealed a statistically significant difference in the LoA between at least two groups (F(2,47)=3.679, p=0.03) (Table 4.9).

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	6420.61	2	3210.30	3.68	.03
Within Groups	41012.23	47	872.6		
Total	47432.84	49			

Table 4.9One-Way Analysis of Variance of Level of Achievement by GroupStructure

Tukey's HSD Test for multiple comparisons found that the mean value of interaction types was significantly different between group processing and positive interdependence groups (p=0.049), 95% C.I= -.1475, 51.89). There was no statistically

significant difference between promotive interactions and group processing (p=0.916) or promotive interactions and positive interdependence (p=0.77).

# Generalization

The next category was the generalization skill-based challenges. Table 4.10 shows the descriptive statistics for the generalization challenge scores by interaction type.

Interaction N Mean Std. Std. Lower Upper Minimum Maximum Error Bound Bound Type Deviation \_\_\_\_\_ Group 13 30.59 39.51 5.3 52 14.76 4.09 21.67 Processing Interaction N Mean Std. Std. Lower Upper Minimum Maximum Error Bound Bound Type Deviation 19 42.75 33.97 15 Promotive 18.2 4.18 51.52 75 Interactions Positive 18 27.2 21.47 5.06 16.52 37.88 0 62 Interdependence Total 50 33.99 19.62 2.77 28.42 39.56 0 75

 Table 4.10
 Descriptive Statistics for Generalization Scores by Interaction Type

Another one-way ANOVA was conducted to compare the effect of group interaction types on achievement in generalization challenges. The ANOVA revealed a statistically significant difference in interaction type and achievement in generalization categories between at least two groups (F (2, 47) = 3.489, p = 0.04) (Table 4.11).

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	2437.09	2	1218.54	3.49	.04
Within Groups	16416.16	47	349.28		
Total	18853.25	49			

Table 4.11One-Way Analysis of Variance of Generalization Scores byInteraction Type

Tukey's HSD Test for multiple comparisons found that the mean value of generalization challenges was significantly different between promotive interactions and positive interdependence (p=0.04, 95% C.I.= .67, 30.42).

In this challenge, the promotive interaction group could recognize and distinguish similar patterns demonstrating generalization skills and the ability to complete challenges within their time limit quickly. Here are the notes from another one of the group's assessments.

Girls are all very polite with each other. They are always using "ka" [this is a formal Thai modifier, which makes the language polite.] All of the girls are working together nicely. Each time they make a mistake, they laugh and smile at each other. They reset their pieces and try again. Not much discussion of the progress of robots. Just a lot of trial and error. Girls are not annoyed or upset with each other. Girls jump up and down and hug each other when they get to the flag. One of the lower-performing groups was the group processing group with a mean score of 27.6. Here is an example of one of the mixed, group processing types that were intelligent but got so caught up in their planning that they ran out of time and received a zero for the challenge.

Group begins by talking about which way they go. One of the girls thinks that they should start by turning right, then forward, and forward. The other boy thinks they should go forward first. The girl moves the robot around, planning out each route. They are in deep discussion about which route they should take. They keep going back and forth about where to start without ever placing the pieces. The boy begins placing the pieces, but decides to go a different route halfway through. The time expires.

During the preliminary observations, it seemed that situations like this would be inevitable. Some groups became so focused on discussing which way to go that they could not decide within their time constraints. The assessment mean scores and interactions during the assessment demonstrated this as well.

#### Algorithmic Thinking

The final category to be looked at was the Algorithmic Thinking challenge scores by interaction types. Table 4.12 shows the descriptive statistics for the Algorithmic Thinking challenges by interaction type.

Interaction Type	Ν	Mean	Std. Deviation	Std. Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	Minimum	Maximum
Group Processing	13	32.7	30.19	8.37	14.46	50.95	2	106.86
Promotive Interactions	19	16.3	22.69	5.2	5.37	27.23	0	63.8
Positive Interdepen- dence	18	10.22	4.24	1	8.12	12.33	5	15
Total	50	18.38	22.34	3.16	12.03	24.73	0	106.86

Table 4.12Descriptive Statistics for Algorithmic Thinking Scores by InteractionType

The final one-way ANOVA conducted was to compare the effect of group interaction types on achievement in algorithmic thinking challenges. The ANOVA revealed a statistically significant difference in interaction types and achievement in algorithmic thinking categories between at least two groups (F (2, 47)= 4.52, p = 0.02) (Table 4.13).

	Sum of Squares	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.
Between Groups	3947.09	2	1973.54	4.52	.02
Within Groups	20504.03	47	436.26		
Total	24451.12	49			

Table 4.13One-Way Analysis of Variance of Algorithmic Thinking Scores byInteraction Type

Tukey's HSD Test for multiple comparisons found that the mean value of algorithmic challenges was significantly different between group processing and positive interdependence (p= 0.01, 95% C.I.= 4.08, 40.88).

The types of interactions that were seen during their assessment were similar to what was seen in the preliminary observations. For example, this interaction is taken from one of the highest performing group processing interaction type groups in the classroom during the assessment.

Students begin planning out where they have to go. One student proposes moving up into the snowfield and then moving around the obstacle. The other student says, "no, we don't need to do that, let's just move like this first." The girl makes an "L" shape with her hand, showing the correct sequence. "We just have to do it like this, it's easy" (Translated from Thai.) Students reach the obstacle using the number piece. Students demonstrate thoughtful discussion and meaningful actions.

This type of discussion was commonly seen in the preliminary observations within the classroom as well. As noted in the previous section, discussions of the challenges and actions that should be taken to reach the goal were quite common.

Here is an example of one of the lower-performing groups. This group was a positive interdependence group.

The first girl in the group says, "Ok, easy...turn left, turn left, forward." She tells the boy to start placing the pieces. Boy starts putting the pieces down and runs the program. The robot goes the wrong way. Girl says "Ooooo...try go right first." The boy changes the pieces. Robot goes the wrong direction again. Cannot reach the goal.

In this group, the members demonstrated positive interdependence by making roles for themselves. The girl acted as the programmer while the boy was the engineer placing the pieces. These interactions were consistent with what was seen in preliminary observations, but in the end, they were unable to complete the challenge.

#### **Summary of Results**

The mixed methods embedded design was used to help answer the four research questions. This was done using a set of preliminary observations, followed by an assessment of group achievement. The student's overall LoA, achievement within generalization challenges, and achievement within algorithmic thinking challenges were recorded. These scores served as a dependent variable and were assessed through separate One-Way ANOVAs with group structure by gender and interaction types as independent variables. Here is a summary of the results.

RQ1: How do cooperative learning interactions manifest among the second-grade robotics students at Denla Primary School?

Through tedious observation of over 100 students interacting with each other in their normal robotics class over the course of a week, an interaction chart was created to document how group processing, positive interdependence, and promotive interactions manifest within the second-grade robotics classroom.

# RQ2: Do the types of group interactions in second-grade robotics activities make a difference to the group's achievement?

Through a one-way ANOVA, it was found that there was a statistically significant difference between the group interaction types and LoA within the second-grade robotics classroom.

Post hoc tests revealed that the mean score of group processing interaction type groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 63.3) was significantly higher than positive interdependence groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 37.42). There were no other significant differences between promotive interactions and positive interdependence or group processing.

In terms of achievement in group generalization challenges, it was found that the mean difference between promotive interactions ( $\bar{x}$ =42.75) and positive interdependence groups ( $\bar{x}$ =27.20) was statistically significant. There were no other statistically significant relationships in this group.

Algorithmic thinking challenge scores revealed the mean difference between group processing ( $\bar{x}$ =32.7) and positive interdependence ( $\bar{x}$ =10.22) was statistically significant. There were no other statistically significant relationships in this group.

RQ3: Does the group structure in second-grade robotics activities make a difference to the group's achievement?

It was found that in terms of the LoA, there was no significant difference between the different types of group structure and the level of achievement. There was a statistically significant difference between group structures and generalization skill challenges. It was found that the all-female groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 39.3) performed significantly better than the mixed-gender groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 23.86). There were no other statistically significant relationships in this group. There was also a statistically significant difference between group structures and algorithmic thinking challenges. It was found that mixedgender groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 28.68) performed significantly higher than the all-female groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 9.93)

#### CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSION AND IMPLICATIONS

This chapter consist of a summary of the study, discussion of key findings from the data collection in Chapter 4, and important conclusions, implications, limitations, and suggestions for future research.

## **Summary of Study**

The purpose of this mixed methods embedded design study was to explore the relationship between student group interactions and group structure on achievement in robotics activities in second-grade elementary school robotics class. Understanding the relationship between student group interactions and achievement will help to inform classroom instruction and teaching pedagogies in Educational Robotics (ER). The results of this study also contribute to a further understanding of the broader narrative of the gender gap within the STEM field. Three research questions guided this study. They were answered using an embedded mixed methods research design. This chapter will discuss some of the key results and how they relate to current research in the ER field, and their implications for future practice.

Research question one aimed to understand what types of cooperative learning interactions occur within the elementary school ER classroom. The literature review revealed that the Cooperative Learning (CL) framework was an appropriate lens for observing interactions within ER activities. This was because the primary theoretical framework behind ER is constructionism (Stager, 2005; Mikropoulos & Bellou, 2013; Gorakhnath & Padmanabhan, 2020). Constructionism is conducive to cooperation and
collaboration. The five tenets of CL can be seen throughout ER activities, making it an ideal framework for observing student interactions. Understanding what specific types of interactions are occurring within the classroom helped classify and categorize the different types of group interactions and provided the data needed to make connections between achievement and interactions.

Research question two addressed the connection between group interactions and level of achievement. It is already known that social interaction is important to robotics educational quality (Chootongchai et al., 2021). However, what has yet to be seen is how the types of interactions in the classroom affect student learning, especially among young children (Jung & Won, 2018). By understanding how the different types of interactions differ in terms of achievement, this study has helped to fill in some of the gaps noted by researchers in developing practical instructional strategies and pedagogies (Jung & Won, 2018; Ioannou & Makridou, 2018; Anwar et al., 2019).

Research question three explored the differences between group structure in terms of gender and the level of achievement in robotics activities. This question helped to further expand our understanding of effective cooperation and interactions in ER classrooms (Xia & Zhong, 2019). Knowing what types of group structures can contribute to high achievement levels can guide future instructional practices (Tenenbaum et al., 2019). This question also addressed one of the broader topics, the lack of gender diversity in the STEM fields. Further understanding how gender differences affect or do not affect achievement in STEM fields will help to transform the preconceptions and stereotypes that may already exist (Leaper, 2015). There is a lack of research regarding technology in education for the early childhood years (Lee et al., 2013). Few studies have focused on interactions during ER activities, and even fewer focus on young children. Gathering as much comprehensive information on student interactions and achievement help to create an important foundation for future research.

# Discussion

First, this study investigated and created a table of specific interactions among second-grade students in their robotics classroom. The table lists various types of interactions seen in the classroom that are directly related to ER activities. The observations of the second-grade students also detail what types of interactions are seen amongst the various group structures regarding gender. These are useful for understanding gender differences in the ER classroom and developing instructional practices.

Next, this study found a significant difference between group interaction types and the Level of Achievement (LoA) within the second-grade robotics classroom students. There was also a significant difference between group processing and positive interdependence interaction types when looking at algorithmic thinking challenge scores. The study also found no significant difference between the LoA and group structures regarding gender. However, there were significant differences between group structures and generalization skill challenges. There were also significant differences between the mixed-gender groups and algorithmic thinking challenges.

# Student Interactions in Second-Grade Robotics Classrooms

Using the Cooperative Learning Observation Protocol (CLOP) (Kern et al., 2007) three types of interactions were observed: promotive interactions, positive interdependence, and group processing. These types of interactions have been seen in previous studies (Xia & Zhong, 2019; Cheng et al., 2013; Nemiro et al., 2017; Nemirob 2020; Chalmers 2018; Denis & Hubert, 2001; Somyürek, 2014; Chaudhary et al., 2016). They were also present in this research study as well.

# **Promotive Interactions**

Previous studies have noted promotive interactions within ER, such as when students are encouraging, celebrating each other's success, praising, peacefully resolving conflicts, and advocating achievement for others (Jordan and McDaniel, 2014; Nemiro et al., 2017, Nemiro 2020b; Khanlari, 2013). These studies draw close comparisons of the results produced from this study as well (Table 5.1).

<b>Promotive</b> <b>Interactions:</b> <i>Promote one</i> <i>another's success</i> <i>through a supportive,</i> <i>encouraging, and</i> <i>praising environment.</i>	<ul> <li>Students pat each other on the back.</li> <li>Students physically dance with each other.</li> <li>Students compliment each other.</li> <li>Students jumping up and down and cheering!</li> <li>Students comfort each other when they fail at something.</li> <li>Not getting upset with one another for obvious mistakes.</li> <li>Students cheering for their teammates.</li> <li>Using very polite language (in Thai) with each other when completing their challenges.</li> <li>Telling each other we are on the same team</li> <li>Celebrating each others success</li> </ul>

Table 5.1Summary of Promotive Interactions

The structure of the challenges presented to the students throughout the study were consistent with the central tenets of CL (Johnson & Johnson, 2002). Students had to work together to program their robot to reach their flag. Promotive interactions have been found to occur when students' goals and learning are intertwined (Johnson & Johnson, 1999).

Table 5.1 documents the many different promotive interactions seen throughout the study. During the ER classroom observations, many groups of students supported each other's success. The interaction levels between students were high as is consistent with research conducted with group-based ER activities (Cheng et al., 2013). The environment was supportive, gleeful, and positive. Throughout the entire observation period, students never seemed to get mad with each other, and appeared to feel wholly intertwined with the goals of the classroom. Previous research has found that ER activities are beneficial for creating positive working relationships (Ponticorvo et al., 2020). This same type of consistent positivity was consistent within the second-grade classrooms of the study and shown in the promotive interactions.

This study found a contrast in the physical nature of many interactions. Throughout the observations, students were constantly high-fiving, hugging, cheering, patting each other on the back, and even dancing when completing their activities to celebrate each other's success. Much of the previous research notes students helping and creating positive and supportive environments (Nemiro, 2020b; Jordan & McDaniel, 2014; Khanlari 2013), but there are few mentions of promotive interactions in the way of physical interaction. Thus, this study documented the physical types of promotive interactions that are not discussed in other related studies.

#### Group Processing

Group processing may look like individuals in a group talking about what is helpful and unhelpful, sharing each other's opinions, respectfully challenging each other's opinions, reflecting on the progress of the group's goals, and discussing of reaching goals (Johnson & Johnson, 1996; Kern et al. 2007). These types of behaviors can be seen in their own ways within ER activities. Table 5.2 briefly describes what group processing interactions looked like within the second grade ER classroom.

Group Processing: Use ways to improve the processes team members use to maximize their learning.	<ul> <li>Students were planning out their route.</li> <li>Students offered multiple solutions to each other.</li> <li>Students respectfully rejected some suggestions and went with another one.</li> <li>Students going over steps together that they had already taken.</li> <li>Students moving the robot before programming to predict what blocks they will need.</li> </ul>
---	---

Table 5.2Summary of Group Processing Interactions

Throughout the observations, students were seen adjusting their robots programming to reach the flag. It was common to see students talking out possible solutions before taking action or going over the steps that they had already taken. Students had genuinely thoughtful discussions about what paths they should be taking, and would often take substantial time to come to solutions before even placing pieces for their program. Mills et al., (2013) note similar behaviors when they found that during primary school ER activities, students would often collectively evaluate proposed solutions, give feedback to each other, and adjust and improve their solutions. ER activities are often designed in ways that are good for facilitating discussion by having students explain, justify, and articulate their points of view (Stergiopoulou et al., 2017). These same behaviors were noted during the observations of this study. Students often proposed a direction to go and justify themselves by physically moving the robot and calling out programming commands step by step to create group buy-in.

# Positive Interdependence

Positive interdependence occurs when group members work towards the same goal (Johnson & Johnson, 2004). Positive interdependence interactions are demonstrated when there is evidence of group cohesiveness, such as members designating roles and actively working towards the group goals by sharing their unique knowledge or skills (Kern et al., 2007). The observations in this study showed numerous examples of positive interdependence between groups, as can be seen in Table 5.3.

<b>Positive</b> <b>Interdependence</b> : <i>There is evidence of</i> <i>group cohesiveness</i> <i>for accomplishing the</i> <i>task.</i>	<ul> <li>Students were clearing their boards and preparing for the next challenge.</li> <li>All students were involved in the process, even with little interaction.</li> <li>Students take on their own roles of collecting pieces, placing pieces, and resetting the robot.</li> <li>Each student took on a physical role or was involved in setting up their robots.</li> <li>All students involved in cleaning up and resetting the board.</li> <li>Team asking teacher for additional challenges for the group to complete.</li> <li>Students squeezing each other or holding hands together, when they are running their robots through</li> </ul>
	together. when they are running their robots through their test course.

 Table 5.3
 Summary of Positive Interdependence Interactions

One of the primary positive interdependence interactions in this study was students organizing themselves into roles. Students appeared to primarily place themselves as what could be defined as the "programmer" or the "engineer." The programmer is the person that calls out the directions for the program, and the engineer is the person who physically places the pieces on the board. There were many situations throughout the different classrooms where, without prompting, students would organize themselves into these types of roles. These roles appeared to come naturally to students as they fit their specific skill sets. This type of interaction is also consistent with observations from previous studies. Denis and Hubert (2001) found that students would delegate themselves to carry out specific tasks within LOGO robotics activities, often with one primary leader directing the others. Nemiro et al. (2017) said that primary school students appeared to contribute to their groups based on specific skill sets and perspectives. In elementary schools in Canada, students would organize into "programmers" that write the code and "controllers" to direct their robots to make adjustments (Blanchard et al., 2010). Witherspoon et al. (2016) also had similar findings when they found that students would normally establish two roles for their team within robotics competitions "builders" or "programmers."

Other positive interdependence interactions were also seen in this particular ER classroom context. Students appeared to be wholly involved in accomplishing their goals. Positive interdependence is the perception of students' successes and failures being intertwined (Johnson & Johnson, 1999). The interactions observed showed a manifestation of such perceptions. This was seen in various forms: students clutching each other's hands as the student's robot ran through its course; students working together to quickly clear boards and prepare for the next challenge; students becoming involved in the programming process even though there was very little verbal interaction. While these interactions were not explicitly documented in previous studies, they fall under the CLOP definition of positive interdependence.

# All-Male Groups

There were some general observations of the students in all-male robotics groups. Within the all-male robotics groups, group processing and promotive interactions were the primary types of group interactions seen. The male groups often had long conversations and discussions before even beginning to start their programs. The male promotive interactions were primarily verbal. They celebrated and encouraged each other using their words. Failures were easily brushed aside, and there was no animosity or resentment toward others within the group for making the wrong decisions. The general level of interaction amongst the all-male groups seemed to be very high. There appeared to be very rarely a lapse in conversation. Students were almost always interacting with each other. Table 5.4 lists some general themes from the all-male groups.

All-Male Groups	<ul> <li>All-male groups appear to demonstrate more group processing and promotive interaction type interactions during the robotics class.</li> <li>The male groups often have long discussions about which way to go, to the point where they are using almost too much time.</li> <li>Male promotive interactions appeared to be more verbal, and in the form of celebrating with each other and encouragement. Failures within the group are often</li> </ul>
	brushed off.
	• In a vast majority of the groups, members all participated and were very friendly with each other.
	High interaction levels

 Table 5.4
 Summary of All-Male Robotic Group Interactions

Some of these findings are consistent with prior research. Studies have found that groups of the same gender commonly have higher levels of interaction and communication in ER activities (Cheng et al., 2013). The all-male groups appeared to be very open with each other and were rarely exclusionary with each other. This is consistent with general interactions of students in ER activities found in another study of students from elementary (as young as 3rd grade) to middle school (Yuen et al., 2014).

Something unusual that occurred was that during the actual assessment time, the all-male groups primarily demonstrated positive interdependence and group processing types of interactions. When the actual assessment began, boys tended to change the way in which they interacted. This could be due to the confidence that all the boys seemed to have in themselves. During the assessment, members of all-male groups seemed to all have opinions or ideas about how to approach the problem. Previous studies have shown that boys have been found to feel significantly more confident than girls in their robotics abilities (Sullivan & Bers, 2019; Zviel-Girshin et al., 2020). Perhaps the boys' confidence, in combination with the nature of homogenous gender grouping high levels of interaction (Cheng et al., 2013), caused the boys to demonstrate more group processing and positive interdependence when the assessment took place.

#### All-Female Groups

The all-female groups demonstrated primarily promotive interactions during robotics class. The girls often displayed this in very physical forms. They were less concerned about any sort of pre-planning approaches and would often use a persistent trial-and-error style approach to their robotics challenges. The general interaction level of the students was high, and like the boys there was rarely any lapse of interaction amongst all the groups. Table 5.5 lists some of the common themes seen in the all-female groups.

Table 5.5Summary of All-Female Group Interactions

All-Female Groups	<ul> <li>All-female groups appeared to demonstrate more promotive interactions types during robotics class. The girls were very physical with each other, often hugging, high-fiving, cheering, and encouraging each other during the robotics challenges.</li> <li>The female groups appeared to be less concerned about pre-</li> </ul>
	<ul><li>planning and discussions about the paths of their robots.</li><li>Seems more willing to go with a trial and error approach.</li><li>All-female groups seemed to have a lot of success by not</li></ul>
	<ul><li>giving up.</li><li>High interaction levels.</li></ul>

The all-female group's ability to be persistent and use trial-and-error approaches to reaching their robotics goals was consistent with other research at the same age group. Sullivan and Bers (2016b) found that second graders were able to go through material with little instruction and help. The girls in the classroom had little intervention from the teacher and, through their methods, could get through the challenges together. This persistence could also be due to the fact that the challenges the girls were given were "written" in the form of a challenge book. Xia and Zhong (2019) found that when girls approached robotics-based tasks they appeared to be more dedicated than boys when following written-based objectives. This could have played a factor in the girls' approach to solving the challenges.

Mixed-gender groups showed more positive interdependence and group processing interaction types. The general level of interactions, when compared to the same-gender groups, appeared to be lower. Some interesting observations about these groups were that they seemed more serious and focused on the challenges than some of the all-male or all-female groups. There were much fewer physical interactions in the allfemale groups and less joking and playfulness than in the all-male groups. Table 5.6 lists some of the common themes of the mixed-gender groups.

<ul> <li>Mixed gender groups seemed to a interdependence and group proce Groups would often self organize placer.</li> <li>These groups seemed more focus challenges than some of the all m</li> <li>Mixed-gender groups appeared al faster than the other groups.</li> <li>Lower interaction levels when co groups.</li> </ul>	show more positive essing interaction types. e with a leader and a peace sed and serious about the hale or all-female groups. lmost competitive and were
---	---

Table 5.6Summary of Mixed-Gender Interactions

Some of these results are consistent with current research. As noted previously, same-gender groups have been found to have higher levels of interaction than mixed-gender groups in elementary school robotics (Cheng et al. 2013). It was interesting to see that the mixed-gender groups appeared to be faster than the homogenous-gender groups during the challenges. This is consistent with a study by Zhong et al., (2022), who found that mixed-gender group pairings outperformed single-gender pairs. However, Taylor and

Baek (2018) would argue that the gender composition of a group would not contribute to the group's robotics performance.

Perhaps the only real surprises were how girls and boys demonstrated promotive interactions. The all-female groups were much more physical and playful with each other, whereas the male groups were more verbal with their promotive interactions and encouragement with one another. This is contradictory to some studies on older students that have found boys to be more playful than girls (Hwang & Hsu, 2021).

One explanation for this could be found in a previous study of FIRST (For Inspiration and Recognition of Science and Technology) robotics teams, where it was found that female students enjoyed the social aspects of robotics more than males. In contrast, the males enjoyed the technical aspects slightly more (Burns, 2019). This was shown through the all-girl groups' very playful interactions.

This is one of the first studies to intentionally document specific interactions in early childhood robotics classes. The CL framework proved to be a suitable lens for observing ER classes, and the interactions recorded will be useful for building upon in the future. Overall, the observed interactions' results align with previous research documenting the interactions within robotics activities.

## Group Structure and Robotics Achievement

#### LoA

In terms of the LoA, which is essentially, the overall score in robotics achievement the all-male groups appeared to be the highest performers ( $\bar{x}$ = 56.31), followed by the mixed gender ( $\bar{x}$ = 52.54), and finally, the all-female ( $\bar{x}$ =49.46) categories. However, these mean differences were not statistically significant. These findings were similar to other research studies. Sullivan and Bers (2013) also found that boys had higher mean scores than girls in completing robotics tasks, but the scores were not statistically significant. Taylor and Baek (2018b) found that the gender composition of groups had no significant effect on robotics performance in 4th and 5th graders. This is also similar to Cheng et al. (2013) study that found that gender, among other factors, did not appear to have an effect on students' learner outcomes. According to these previous studies these results were unsurprising, however, when looking at the sub-categories of data, there were some interesting results.

## **Generalization**

In this category of generalization, it was found that there were statistically significant results between the mean score of the all-female groups ( $\bar{x}$ =38.53) and the mixed-gender groups ( $\bar{x}$ =23.86). However, between all-female and all-male groups the differences were not statistically significant.

During the preliminary observations, it was noted that the all-female and all-male groups seemed to be more relaxed with their interactions and showed higher rates of interaction. This is consistent with previous research (Cheng et al., 2013). The mixedgender groups did not seem as comfortable with each other. They would either not talk enough about their thoughts or talk too much about what paths they would take, causing time to expire or students to move their robots in unnecessarily complicated sequences.

The generalization challenges were considered easier than the later algorithmic thinking challenges. The initial challenge required students to use simple movement patterns. The second challenge solution was a single backward movement that would be recognized if students could recall the patterns of previous challenges. The final challenge required students to recognize the first challenge sequence's movement pattern and add to it.

Entering into these challenges, the students had all of the prior knowledge necessary to complete the challenges; they just needed to be able to recognize the patterns, movements, and paths that the robots needed to take. It seemed like the allfemale groups could easily recognize the paths that needed to be taken. This could be because the general nature of their interactions was light, positive, and comfortable. Burns (2019) found that female students tended to enjoy the team social aspects of robotics more than males. Enjoyment and playfulness can lead to lower anxiety in robotics activities which has the potential to lead to higher levels of achievement (Hsu & Hwang, 2021). In these early challenges, it could be argued that the all-female groups (who were primarily classified as promotive interaction types) demonstrated higher levels of playfulness and enjoyment than the all-male groups and mixed-gender groups. The allfemale groups were dancing, laughing, cheering, hugging, high-fiving, celebrating each other's success, and encouraging each other. The combination of playfulness and the relatively simple nature of the generalization challenges that only required simple recalling of patterns and sequences could explain the higher scores in the all-female groups.

## Algorithmic Thinking

In the algorithmic thinking categories, it was found that there was a significant difference between mixed-gender and all-female categories. The mean score of mixed-gender groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 28.68) was significantly higher than the all-female groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 9.93).

While this score was also higher than the all-male groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 18.66), it was not statistically significant.

Sullivan & Bers (2016) conducted a study with a similar format in which groups of students worked together to solve robotics challenges. Similarly, to this study, the challenges began with three simpler sequencing or generalization challenges, followed by increasingly more difficult challenges that required loops and additional parameters, much like the algorithmic thinking challenges in this study that introduced obstacles and repeated patterns. The study found that all genders' scores appeared to decrease. This could explain the drop in the scores from the previous generalization challenges, but it does not explain why suddenly the mixed-gender groups outperformed the all-female groups.

Looking back at previous research can help to explain why this result may have occurred. Zhong et al. (2022) found that during paired learning robotics activities, girls, whether they were in mixed-gender groups or all-female groups, maintained a "continuous attitude and engagement with their peers during the learning process" (p.16). As noted within this study, the girls appeared to be much more playful and relaxed during the beginning challenges. While this level of group engagement served the all-female teams well in the beginning challenges, this same level of engagement was not as suitable when the challenges became more difficult. This could explain why the mixed-gender groups progressed further within the assessment, as their interactions were much more reserved and focused. A deeper look at how the interactions affect the students may help answer this question.

## Interaction Types and Robotics Achievements

Three types of interactions were analyzed during this study: promotive interactions, positive interdependence, and group processing. There were significant differences in the mean scores of the overall LoA, generalization score challenges, and algorithmic thinking score challenges between groups.

## Level of Achievement

The mean score of the overall LoA was significantly higher in group processing interaction type groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 63.3) than in positive interdependence groups ( $\bar{x}$ = 37.42). However, the difference between the group processing and promotive interactions ( $\bar{x}$ = 59.05), and promotive interactions and positive interdependence groups was not statistically significant.

During the assessment, group processing groups were often seen discussing routes, re-evaluating decisions, creating plans, having thoughtful discussions about group progress, and more. Previous studies have noted the benefits of students utilizing this collective knowledge. Hong et al. (2012) found that the quality of students' work increased when discussions focused on the team's progress toward reaching their goals. Chandhary et al. (2016) study revealed that elementary students that felt their team was working together and reflecting as a team were more effective than those working individually. This study shows that group processing's effectiveness appears to carry over into young children's ER activities as well.

The significant result of group processing groups scoring higher than the positive interdependence groups was revealing. Positive interdependence is one of the primary foundations of CL (Johnson & Johnson, 1999). It is the perception of failures and

successes being intertwined. Groups demonstrated positive interdependence primarily through the self- organization of roles within a group. Groups frequently establish roles within the group where one student is the "engineer" and places all the pieces, while the other student is the "programmer" and directs the student. While studies have found that established roles positively affect robotics achievement (Taylor & Baek, 2018b; Nemiro 2020a; Nemiro 2020b), it seemed that within this study, it was not the case. It was common to see the engineer not contribute or contribute very little to the actual programming of the robots. They would often strictly deal with the pieces. This meant that while the engineer helped place pieces and was fully engaged in the challenge, they could not contribute knowledge to the solution. Cognitively speaking, this disadvantaged the group because, essentially, one student was thinking for the group. There was no collective knowledge being applied. This could be one explanation for the significant differences between the mean scores.

#### **Generalization**

The results showed that the mean difference between the scores of promotive interaction type groups ( $\bar{x}$ =42.75) and positive interdependence type groups ( $\bar{x}$ =27.20) was statistically significant. During the assessment and observations, it was noted that the positive interdependence groups appeared to have fewer verbal interactions, especially when compared to the group processing and promotive interaction type groups. Cheng et al. (2013) found that more interactions between group members during programming activities resulted in higher achievement. Promotive interaction groups also seemed to interact more than the positive interdependence group. This could be a contributing factor to the higher scores in the generalization category.

Another attribute of promotive interaction group types was that they tended to use a trial-and-error type approach. These groups did not have many discussions about the robotics task, but still had much success. Blanchard et al. (2010) found contradictory results when dealing with a group of elementary students in robotics activities. They found that groups that discussed and implemented classroom instructional strategies performed better than groups that would take a trial-and-error approach. These early challenges lacked complexity, and it could be a combination of the levels of interaction, the relaxed nature of the group, and the simplicity of the problem combined for higher achievement scores.

## Algorithmic Thinking

In the algorithmic thinking challenge groups, the mean difference between group processing ( $\bar{x}$ =32.7) and positive interdependence ( $\bar{x}$ =10.22) was statistically significant. Group processing groups appeared to use more of the strategies taught in the robotics classes. Algorithmic thinking was taught to the students by telling them to think of the problem as two defined steps and sequences. In the first sequence, groups had to clear the obstacle, then move to the flag after the obstacle was cleared. Group processing groups had these types of discussions, as seen in Chapter 4, and were successful. As noted above, positive interdependence groups often did not have as much collective knowledge applied to the problems. Xia and Zhong (2019) also had similar findings in their primary school student robotics study. The researchers felt that it was difficult for primary school students to solve the more complex tasks independently, and they would be more successful if they could discuss and work with other students. The results from this study further demonstrate the effectiveness of group processing with more complex problems.

#### Implications

This study was conducted to understand more about the interactions between young children in ER, the relationship between these interactions and achievement, and the relationship between group structure and ER achievement. By understanding these aspects of ER, recommendations for instructional practices and pedagogies for teaching ER can be made. These recommendations can be used to create more positive experiences for young girls in ER, which is important for breaking down gender stereotypes and motivating women into entering the STEM fields (Sullivan & Bers, 2012; Screpanti et al., 2018). The findings from this study have led to some important implications.

### Cooperative Learning Framework Suitable for Observation in ER

One important product of this study is that it has justified, documented, and piloted a suitable framework for observing interactions in elementary school ER classes and activities. Although other studies have observed interactions (Yuen et al., 2014; Cheng et al., 2013; Nemiro, 2020b; Jordan & McDaniels, 2014), few have deliberately sought to document, categorize, and analyze them. There is a need to understand the interactions occurring within the ER classroom to help inform instructional practices (Jung & Won, 2018; Lee et al., 2013; Kucuck & Sisman, 2017). The research conducted in this study has helped to fill this need.

This study has successfully utilized a new framework for observing interactions in young children's ER classes. The observation table and interaction documentation produced from this study provide a foundation for future research on group interactions. Using these interactions and frameworks, researchers and practitioners can further investigate interventions that could potentially impact the teaching and instructional practices of ER activities and classes.

# Interaction Types Matter Depending on Task

The various types of interactions seen amongst the students affected the student's level of achievement. However, it is not as simple to say that one interaction type is more effective than another. There is nuance in the interaction types that should be encouraged depending on the activities.

Positive interdependence is one of the key elements of CL (Johnson & Johnson, 2002). These interactions were primarily seen through group self-organization into roles. In comparison to other interaction types, it did not appear to be a factor in achievement. Although studies with older elementary students have found roles to be effective (Taylor & Baekb, 2018; Witherspoon et al., 2016; Nemiro, 2020a; Neimiro, 2020b), they did not seem to have the same effect on younger students.

Promotive interactions were very effective when doing simpler, generalizationbased challenges. Groups that were encouraging, polite, positive, providing praise, and playful had the highest achievement scores. A common method amongst the promotive interaction groups was trial and error approaches to solving robotics challenges. The students did not seem to be worried about failing a task because the nature of their group interactions was so positive and encouraging. This would imply that promoting young children to have fun, not be afraid to fail, and encourage and praise each other would be beneficial to increase achievement in simple robotics tasks that require generalization skills. Instructors and practitioners should try to create positive environments and find ways to facilitate young children to encourage, praise, and support each other when teaching basic generalization skills.

Group processing interaction groups performed the best in more difficult challenges that required algorithmic thinking. Groups that made planned out routes before even beginning their programming, had thoughtful discussions, tracked their progress, reflected upon their successes and failures, and adjusted were the most successful. As challenges become more difficult, promotive interactions do not affect achievement as much. This would imply that encouraging young children to talk and discuss their challenges before they begin would benefit achievement. Also, having children stop and discuss their progress during higher-level robotics activities that require algorithmic thinking could also be a beneficial instructional strategy. Instructors should find ways to create planning or reflection periods where children can evaluate their group's progress with higher-level challenges and designate time for group discussion. A summary of these recommendations can be found on Table 5.7.

Type of Robotic Skill Being Taught	Interaction Type to Facilitate	Recommendations
Simple generalization skill challenges.	Promotive Interactions	ER instructors should emphasize a positive atmosphere in the ER classroom that is fun, playful, encouraging, and freedom to fail.
More advanced algorithmic thinking skill challenges	Group Processing	ER instructors should emphasize and encourage group discussions, pre-planning before programming, having students pause and reflect upon their progress, and adjust their programming.

Table 5.7Recommendations for Teaching ER Skills

# Gender Groupings Affect Interactions, Not Achievement

As has been consistent with previous research, group structures in terms of gender does not seem to effect overall achievement in elementary school (Taylor & Baek, 2018b; Castro et al., 2018; Xia & Zhong, 2018; Cheng et al., 2013). This study saw no significant differences in achievement in the LoA, which considers all challenges and skills within the assessment. Previous studies primarily dealt with upper elementary students. This study now adds to the literature and consensus that gender does not seem to be a factor in achievement with younger children as well. It was observed, however that the types of gender groupings appear to affect the types of interactions.

Of the groups observed, the all-female groups primarily demonstrated promotive interactions. The all-male groups also primarily demonstrated group processing and promotive interaction types. The mixed groups appeared to show primarily positive interdependence and group processing-type interactions. In general, homogenous gender grouping created higher levels of interaction and more promotive interactions during the initial observations. The heterogeneous gender groups produced lower interaction levels compared to the same-gender and more group processing. From a practitioner's standpoint, intentional gender grouping could be an effective strategy if the goal is to produce specific types of interaction. If robotics teachers or instructors want to increase promotive interactions amongst students in the classroom, homogenous gender groupings could be effective. If practitioners want to create positive interdependence or group processing types of interactions, heterogeneous groupings could be a more effective grouping system. Additionally, this study again solidifies that even at the youngest ages, gender does not impact achievement within STEM education. The gender disparities within the STEM fields are not occurring because of a lack of ability, as demonstrated in this study. Even at young ages, both genders can achieve equally in ER activities. Gender did not have an impact on the overall achievement.

Desired Interaction Type	Group Structure	Recommendations
Promotive Interactions	Homogenous gender groupings.	If ER instructors would like to facilitate more promotive interactions and higher levels of interactions in the classroom, homogeneous gender groupings could prove to be an effective group structure.
Group Processing Positive Interdependence	Heterogenous gender groupings.	If ER instructors would like to try and facilitate more group processing or positive interdependence types of interactions in the classroom, heterogenous groupings could be a more effective group structuring strategy.

 Table 5.8
 Recommendations for Creating Interaction Types

# Limitations

One limitation of this study was that the amount of time with the students put some constraints on the assessment. The achievement could only be measured through one assessment. While the assessment was valid, it would have been more beneficial to do multiple assessments to get a more comprehensive data set of the student's full abilities. It is possible that certain groups could not have been performing to their full potential because of other factors.

This research was also limited to just one type of robotics technology. Students used tangible coding blocks from the Matatalab kits. This set does not require any physical assembly, and its programming process is straightforward. While this design is purposeful for the use of young children, the mechanics of the technology itself can limit the opportunities students have to work together. It is possible that other robotics kits may be more suitable for observing the interactions, but this was the only type of set available at the research site and in the learning context.

Another limitation might be that the interactions seen in these classrooms were specific to the context of Thai society. Some of the interactions seen amongst students were directly related to Thai language and cultural context. While the interaction types can be seen in classrooms around the world some of the specific interactions noted in this study will most likely manifest differently in other countries and contexts.

#### **Future Research**

The findings have the potential for new opportunities in future research. It has demonstrated that the types of interactions can affect achievement in robotics in young children. Future research into facilitating these types of interactions regardless of the group structure would help expand ER instructional strategies. Researchers could determine which teaching strategies will produce the different types of student interactions within both homogenous and heterogenous gender groups. A powerful, comprehensive approach could be created if instructors know how to produce specific interactions and which interactions are effective for different types of robotics challenges. Future research should examine different age groups to see how interaction types affect older students. Knowing how the different interaction types can impact the various age groups and levels can help inform instructional practices further to produce maximum achievement at the different stages of ER learning. Creating effective pedagogies and instruction for students will continue to be essential to ER education. Student interactions are an important part of group achievement.

# Conclusion

This study has contributed to the field of ER in a few different ways. First, it has provided a framework for observing young children's interactions in ER robotics activities. The adapted CLOP was based on prior research and effectively documented the interactions occurring within the elementary ER classroom. The study has observed, identified, and defined how the different interaction types manifest within ER activities. This framework and these observations will be helpful in future research.

The research presented has also revealed some valuable information for ER instructional practices. It was found that the type of interactions that occur within a group can affect the achievement of robotics activities. Moreover, the effect of the interaction type can vary depending on the type of ER skills and challenges being practiced. Instructors should consider focusing on facilitating promotive interactions as a primary interaction type when teaching simpler robotics skills that require basic generalization. Instructors should consider facilitating more group processing interactions during their activities if the goal is to teach more advanced algorithmic thinking challenges.

The research also found that group structure in terms of gender does not affect the overall level of achievement for young children in ER activities. However, observations revealed that the group structure did seem to affect the types of interactions among the students. Using homogenous gender groupings may be more effective when trying to create higher levels of interaction and promotive interaction types. The use of heterogeneous gender grouping might be more effective when promoting and facilitating positive interdependence and group processing types of interactions. Future research can build off this study by finding effective strategies for facilitating different types of group interactions regardless of group structure within the classroom.

#### REFERENCES

- Almeida, F. (2020) Strategies to perform a mixed methods study. *European Journal of Education*, (5)1, 326-337.
- Alimisis, A. D., & Kynigos, C. (2009). Constructionism and robotics in education. Teacher Education on Robotics-Enhanced Constructivist Pedagogical Methods, 11–26.
- Ames, M. G. (2018). Hackers, computers, and cooperation: A critical history of logo and constructionist learning. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 2(CSCW), 1–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/3274287</u>
- Angel-Fernandez, J. M., & Vincze, M. (2018). Towards a definition of educational robotics. In P. Zech & J. Piater (Eds.), *Austrian Robotics Workshop 2018* (pp. 36-42). Innsbruck University Press. 10.15203/3187-22-1
- Angeli, C., & Valanides, N. (2020). Developing young children's computational thinking with educational robotics: An interaction effect between gender and scaffolding strategy. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 105(March), 105954. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.03.018
- Angeli, C., Voogt, J., Fluck, A., Webb, M., Cox, M., Malyn-Smith, J., & Zagami, J. (2016). A K-6 computational thinking curriculum framework: Implications for teacher knowledge. *Education Technology and Society*, 19(3), 47-57.
- Anwar, S., Bascou, N. A., Menekse, M., & Kardgar, A. (2019). A systematic review of studies on educational robotics. *Journal of Pre-College Engineering Education Research*, 9(2), 19–42. https://doi.org/10.7771/2157-9288.1223

- Ardito, G., Czerkawski, B., & Scollins, L. (2020). Learning computational thinking together: effects of gender differences in collaborative middle school robotics program. *TechTrends*, 64(3), 373–387. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-019-00461-8</u>
- Atmatzidou, S., & Demetriadis, S. (2014). How to support students' computational thinking skills in educational robotics activities. *Proceedings of 4th International* Workshop Teaching Robotics, Teaching with Robotics & 5th International Conference Robotics in Education, July, 43–50.
- Atmatzidou, S., & Demetriadis, S. (2016). Advancing students' computational thinking skills through educational robotics: A study on age and gender relevant differences. *Robotics and Autonomous Systems*, 75, 661–670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.robot.2015.10.008
- Bangkok Post Public Company. "Denla Launches "Denla Primary School (English Programme)" Bangkok Post, 26 Nov. 2019, www.bangkokpost.com/thailand/pr/1802624.
- Bers, M. U. (2010). Beyond computer literacy: Supporting youth's positive development through technology. *New directions for youth development*, *2010*(128), 13-23.
- Bers, M. U., Flannery, L., Kazakoff, E. R., & Sullivan, A. (2014). Computational thinking and tinkering: Exploration of an early childhood robotics curriculum. *Computers & Education*, 72, 145-157.
- Beyer, A. (2021). *Factor ANOVA*. Maricopa Community Colleges. https://open.maricopa.edu/psy230mm/chapter/chapter-15-2-factor-anova/
- Blanca Mena, M. J., Alarcón Postigo, R., Arnau Gras, J., Bono Cabré, R., & Bendayan,R. (2017). Non-normal data: Is ANOVA still a valid option?. *Psicothema*.
- Blanchard, S., Freiman, V., & Lirrete-Pitre, N. (2010). Strategies used by elementary school children solving robotics-based complex tasks: Innovative potential of technology. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 2(2), 2851–2857. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2010.03.427

- Blikstein, P. (2013). Gears of our Childhood: Constructionist toolkits, robotics, and physical computing, past and future. ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, 173–182. https://doi.org/10.1145/2485760.2485786
- Blickenstaff, J. C. (2005). Women and science careers: Leaky pipeline or gender filter? Gender and Education, 17(4), 369–386. https://doi.org/10.1080/09540250500145072
- Burns, A. (2019). Gender Dynamics and Divisions in Youth Robotics through FIRST ® Programs. *International Journal of Education and Social Science*, 6(8), 35–48.
- Cacco, L., & Moro, M. (2014). When a bee meets a sunflower. In Proceedings of 4th International Workshop Teaching Robotics and 5th International Conference on robotics education (pp. 68–75).
- Castro, E., Cecchi, F., Valente, M., Buselli, E., Salvini, P., & Dario, P. (2018). Can educational robotics introduce young children to robotics and how can we measure it? *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 34(6), 970–977. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12304
- Chalmers, C. (2018). Robotics and computational thinking in primary school. International Journal of Child - Computer Interaction, 93–100.
- Chaudhary, V., Agrawal, V., & Sureka, A. (2016). An Experimental Study on the Learning Outcome of Teaching Elementary Level Children using Lego Mindstorms EV3 Robotics Education Kit. http://arxiv.org/abs/1610.09610
- Cheng, C. C., Huang, P. L., & Huang, K. H. (2013). Cooperative learning in Lego robotics projects: Exploring the impacts of group formation on interaction and achievement. *Journal of Networks*, 8(7), 1529–1535. https://doi.org/10.4304/jnw.8.7.1529-1535
- Chiazzese, G., Arrigo, M., Chifari, A., Lonati, V., & Tosto, C. (2019). Educational robotics in primary school: Measuring the development of computational thinking skills with the Bebras tasks. *Informatics*, 6(43), 1-12. https://www.mdpi.com/2227-9709/6/4/43

- Ching, Y. H., Yang, D., Wang, S., Baek, Y., Swanson, S., & Chittoori, B. (2019). Elementary school student development of STEM attitudes and perceived learning in a STEM integrated robotics curriculum. *TechTrends*, 63(5), 590–601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-019-00388-0
- Cho, E., Lee, K., Cherniak, S., & Jung, S. E. (2017). Heterogeneous associations of second-graders learning in robotics class. *Technology, Knowledge and Learning*, 22(3), 465–483. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10758-017-9322-3</u>
- Chootongchai, S., Songkram, N., & Piromsopa, K. (2021). Dimensions of robotic education quality: Teachers' perspectives as teaching assistants in Thai elementary schools. *Education and Information Technologies*, 26(2), 1387-1407. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-019-10041-1</u>
- Cejka, E., Rogers, C., & Portsmore, M. (2006). Kindergarten robotics: Using robotics to motivate math, science, and engineering literacy in elementary school. *International Journal of Engineering Education*, 22(4), 711.
- Constantinou, V., & Ioannou, A. (2018). Development of computational thinking skills through educational robotics. *EC-TEL (Practitioners Proceedings)*. http://ceurws.org/Vol-2193/paper9.pdf
- Creswell, J. W., & Plano Clark, V. (2007). *Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research*. Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches.* Sage Publications, Inc.
- Creswell, J. W., & Clark, V. (2018). *Designing and conducting mixed methods research* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). *Research design: qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches* (5th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Davis, M. (2019, September 5). Report predicts growing demand for educational robotics worldwide. Market Brief. https://marketbrief.edweek.org/marketplace-k-12/report-predicts-growing-demand-educational-robotics-worldwide/

- De Backer, K. et al. (2018). Industrial robotics and the global organisation of production. *OECD Science, Technology and Industry Working Papers* OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/dd98ff58-en
- De Michele, S., Demo, G. B., & Siega, S. (2008). A Piedmont SchoolNet for a K-12 Mini-Robots Programming Project : Experiences in Primary Schools. *Autonomous Robots*, 90–99.
- Denis, B., & Hubert, S. (2001). Collaborative learning in an educational robotics environment. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 17(5–6), 465–480. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0747-5632(01)00018-8
- Doyle, L., Brady, A. M., & Byrne, G. (2009). An overview of mixed methods research. Journal of Research in Nursing, 14(2), 175–185. https://doi.org/10.1177/1744987108093962
- Edmonds, W. & Kennedy, T. (2017). Embedded approach. In *An applied guide to research designs* (pp. 189-195). SAGE Publications, Inc.https://dx.doi.org/10.4135/9781071802779
- Elkin, M., Sullivan, A., & Bers, M. U.. (2014). Implementing a robotics curriculum in an early childhood Montessori classroom. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Innovations in Practice*, 13, 153-169. Retrieved from http://www.jite.org/documents/Vol13/JITEv13IIPvp153-169Elkin882.pdf
- Evripidou, S., Georgiou, K., Doitsidis, L., Amanatiadis, A. A., Zinonos, Z., & Chatzichristofis, S. A. (2020). Educational robotics: Platforms, competitions and expected learning outcomes. *IEEE Access*, https://doi.org/10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3042555
- Gdansky, N., Kulikova, N. L., & Budnik, A. (2020). STEM technology in the study of educational robotics. *Revista Inclusiones (7)*, 206-219.
- Gillies, R. (2014). Cooperative Learning: Developments in Research. International Journal of Educational Psychology, 3(2), 125–140. https://doi.org/10.4471/ijep.2014.08

- Girvan, C., & Savage, T. (2019). Virtual worlds: A new environment for constructionist learning. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 99(May 2018), 396–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2019.03.017
- Gorakhnath, I., & Padmanabhan, J. (2020). Educational robotics through Lego for enhancing critical thinking skill in science. *Journal of Critical Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.31838/jcr.07.19.159
- Gürkani, C. H. (2018). Exploring design requirements for educational robots used in K-12 education from educator's perspective (Master's thesis, Middle East Technical University).
- Grover, S., & Pea, R. (2013). Computational thinking in K-12: A review of the state of the field. *Educational Researcher*. 42(13), 38-43. 10.3102/0013189X12463051
- Han, S. & Bhattacharya, K. (2001). Constructionism, learning by design, and projectbased learning. In M. Orey (Eds.), *Emerging perspectives on learning, teaching,* and technology. http://www.coe.uga.edu/epltt/LearningbyDesign.htm.
- Harel, I., & Papert, S. (1991). Situating Constructionism. Constructionism, 1-16.
- Hartmann, S., Wiesner, H., & Wiesner-Steiner, A. (2007). Robotics and gender: The use of robotics for the empowerment of girls in the classroom. *Gender Designs IT: Construction and Deconstruction of Information Society Technology*, 175–188. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-531-90295-1\_12
- Hatcher, L. (2013). Advanced statistics in research: Reading understanding and writing up data analysis results. Shadow Finch Media.
- Haynes W. (2013) Tukey's test. In: Dubitzky W., Wolkenhauer O., Cho KH., Yokota H. (Eds) Encyclopedia of Systems Biology. Springer.
- Hong, J. C., Yu, K. C., & Chen, M. Y. (2011). Collaborative learning in technological project design. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 21(3), 335–347. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10798-010-9123-7

- Hutamarn, S., Chookaew, S., Wongwatkit, C., Howimanporn, S., Tonggeod, T., & Panjan, S. (2017). A STEM robotics workshop to promote computational thinking process of pre-engineering students in Thailand: STEMRobot. *ICCE 2017 - 25th International Conference on Computers in Education: Technology and Innovation: Computer-Based Educational Systems for the 21st Century, Workshop Proceedings, December,* 514–522.
- Hsu, T. C., & Hwang, G. J. (2021). Interaction of visual interface and academic levels with young students' anxiety, playfulness, and enjoyment in programming for robot control. Universal Access in the Information Society, 0123456789. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10209-021-00821-3
- Hwang, W. Y., & Wu, S. Y. (2014). A case study of collaboration with multi-robots and its effect on children's interaction. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 22(4), 429–443. https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2012.680968
- Ioannou, A., & Makridou, E. (2018). Exploring the potentials of educational robotics in the development of computational thinking: A summary of current research and practical proposal for future work. *Education and Information Technologies*, 23(6), 2531–2544. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-018-9729-z
- Jackson, A., Mentzer, N., & Kramer Bottiglio, R. (2021). Increasing gender diversity in engineering using soft robotics. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 110(1), 143-160.
- Johnson, D., & Johnson, R. (1996). Cooperation and the use of technology. Communications and Technology, January 1996, 785–812.
- Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, R. (1999). What makes cooperative learning work? *Cooperative Learning*, 23–36.
- Johnson, D., & Johnson, R. (2002). Cooperative learning and social interdependence theory. In S. Tindale, L. Heath, J. Edwards, F. B. Bryant, E. Posavac, Y. Suarez-Balcazar, E. Henderson-King, & J. Myers (Eds.), *Theory and Research on Small Groups* (pp. 9–36). Kluwer Academic Publishers.

- Johnson, D. W., & Johnson, R. T. (2005). New developments in social interdependence theory. Genetic, Social, and General Psychology Monographs, 131(4), 285–358. <u>https://doi.org/10.3200/MONO.131.4.285-358</u>
- Johnson, D. W., Johnson, R. T., Stanne, M. B., & Garibaldi, A. (1990). Impact of Group Processing on Achievement in Cooperative Groups. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, 130(4), 507–516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00224545.1990.9924613</u>
- Jordan, M. E., & McDaniel, R. R. (2014). Managing uncertainty during collaborative problem solving in elementary school teams: The role of peer influence in robotics engineering activity. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 23(4), 490–536. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508406.2014.896254
- Jung, S. E., & Won, E. S. (2018). Systematic review of research trends in robotics education for young children. *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 10(4), 1–24
- Kahn, S., & Ginther, D. (2014). Women and STEM. Handbook of Research on Education and Technology in a Changing Society, 703–713. https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-4666-6046-5.ch052
- Kawulich, B. (2020). Collecting Data Through Observation. Doing Qualitative Research in Language Education, 61–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-56492-6\_4
- Kazakoff, E. R., Sullivan, A., & Bers, M. U. (2013). The effect of a classroom-based intensive robotics and programming workshop on sequencing ability in early childhood. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 41(4), 245–255. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-012-0554-5
- Kennedy, T., & Odell, M. (2014). Engaging students in STEM education. *Science Education International*, 25(3), 246–258.
- Kern, A. L., Moore, T. J., & Akillioglu, F. C. (2007). Cooperative learning: Developing an observation instrument for student interactions. *Proceedings - Frontiers in Education Conference, FIE, 3(d), 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/FIE.2007.4417852</u>*
- Khanlari, A. (2013). Effects of robotics on 21st century skills. *European Scientific Journal, ESJ*, 9(27), 26–36. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10040905

- Kucuk, S., & Sisman, B. (2017). Behavioral patterns of elementary students and teachers in one-to-one robotics instruction. *Computers and Education*, 111, 31–43.
- Kucuk, S., & Sisman, B. (2020). Students' attitudes towards robotics and STEM:
  Differences based on gender and robotics experience. *International Journal of Child-Computer Interaction*, 23–24, 100167.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijcci.2020.100167
- Leaper, C. (2015). Do I belong?: Gender, peer groups, and STEM achievement. International Journal of Gender, Science and Technology, 7(2), 166-179.
- Lee, K. T. H., Sullivan, A., & Bers, M. U. (2013). Collaboration by design: Using robotics to foster social interaction in kindergarten. *Computers in the Schools*, 30(3), 271–281. https://doi.org/10.1080/07380569.2013.805676
- Levin, J., & Fox, J. (2011) Elementary statistics in social research (3rd ed.). Allyn & Bacon.
- Luo, Y. (2015). Design fixation and cooperative learning in elementary engineering design project: A case study. *International Electronic Journal of Elementary Education*, 8(1), 133–146. http://www.dbpia.co.kr/journal/articleDetail?nodeId=NODE00962801
- Matata Lab Course Outline. "Lesson 2.8: Extracurricular Curriculum | Matatalab." *Matatalab.com*/matatalab.com/en/node/67. Accessed 5 Jan. 2022.
- Mehmet, U. (2013). History and Educational Potential of LEGO Mindstorms NXT. Mersin Üniversitesi Eğitim Fakültesi Dergisi, 9(2), 127–137.
- Meier, C., DiPerna, J., & Oster, M. (2006). Importance of social skills in the elementary grades. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 29(3), 409-419. http://www.jstor.org/stable/42899893
- Menekse, M., Higashi, R., Schunn, C. D., & Baehr, E. (2017). The role of robotics teams' collaboration quality on team performance in a robotics tournament. *Journal of Engineering Education*, 106(4), 564–584. https://doi.org/10.1002/jee.20178

- Mikropoulos, T. a, & Bellou, I. (2013). Educational robotics as mindtools. *Themes in Science & Technology Education.*, 6(1), 5–14.
- Mills, K. A., Chandra, V., & Park, J. Y. (2013). The architecture of children's use of language and tools when problem solving collaboratively with robotics.
   *Australian Educational Researcher*, 40(3), 315–337.
   https://doi.org/10.1007/s13384-013-0094-z
- Nemiro, J. (2020a). Building collaboration skills in 4th- to 6th-grade students through robotics. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 00(00), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2020.1721621
- Nemiro, J. (2020b). Developing collaborative behaviours in elementary school students: a comparison of robotics versus maths teams. *Educational Studies*, 00(00), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/03055698.2020.1716209
- Nemiro, J., Larriva, C., & Jawaharlal, M. (2017). Developing creative behavior in elementary school students with robotics. *Journal of Creative Behavior*, 51(1), 70–90. https://doi.org/10.1002/jocb.87
- Noh, J., & Lee, J. (2019). Effects of robotics programming on the computational thinking and creativity of elementary school students. *Educational Technology Research* and Development, 68(1), 463–484. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-019-09708-w
- Pellegrino, J. W., & Hilton, M. L. (2012). Education for life and work: Developing transferable knowledge and skills in the 21st century. The National Academies Press. doi:10.17226/13398
- Phillippi, J., & Lauderdale, J. (2018). A Guide to Field Notes for Qualitative Research: Context and Conversation. *Qualitative Health Research*, 28(3), 381–388. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732317697102</u>
- Ponticorvo, M., Rubinacci, F., Marocco, D., Truglio, F., & Miglino, O. (2020).
  Educational robotics to foster and assess social relations in students' groups. *Frontiers in Robotics and AI*, 7(June), 1–14.
  https://doi.org/10.3389/frobt.2020.00078
- Richardson, J. T. E. (2011). Eta squared and partial eta squared as measures of effect size in educational research. *Educational Research Review*, 6(2), 135–147. doi:10.1016/j.edurev.2010.12.001
- Ronsivalle, G. B., Boldi, A., Gusella, V., Inama, C., & Carta, S. (2019). How to implement educational robotics' programs in Italian schools: A brief guideline according to an instructional design point of view. *Technology, Knowledge and Learning*, 24, 227-245.
- Sapounidis, T., & Alimisis, D. (2020). Educational robotics for STEM: A review of technologies and some educational considerations. In *Science and mathematics education for 21st century citizens: Challenges and ways forward* (No. September, 2020, pp. 167-190). Nova Science Publishers.
- Scaradozzi, D., Sorbi, L., Pedale, A., & Valzano, M. (2015). Teaching robotics at the primary school : an innovative approach. *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 174, 3838–3846. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.1122</u>
- Screpanti, L., Caseretti, L., Mazzieri, E., Marchetti, L., Baione, A., & Scaradozzi, D. (2018). An educational robotics activity to promote gender equality in STEM education. Proceedings of International Conference on Information Communication Technologies in Education ICICTE 2018, 336–346.
- Selby, C. C. (2012). Promoting computational thinking with programming. ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, 74–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1145/2481449.2481465</u>
- Selby, C. C. (2014). How can the teaching of programming be used to enhance computational thinking skills? (Doctoral Dissertation). University of Southampton.
- Somyürek, S. (2014). An effective educational tool: construction kits for fun and meaningful learning. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 25(1), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10798-014-9272-1
- Stager, G. (2005). Papertian constructionism and the design of productive contexts for learning. *EuroLogo X*, 1–11.

- Stager, G. (2016). Seymour Papert. *Nature*, *537*(308), 4–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/537308a
- Stergiopoulou, M., Karatrantou, A., & Panagiotakopoulos, C. (2017). Educational robotics and STEM education in primary education: a pilot study using the H&S electronic systems platform. In *Educational Robotics in the Makers Era 1* (pp. 88-103). Springer International Publishing.
- Su, R., & Rounds, J. (2015). All STEM fields are not created equal: People and things interests explain gender disparities across STEM fields. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6, 189.
- Sullivan, A., & Bers, M. U. (2013). Gender differences in kindergarteners' robotics and programming achievement. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 23(3), 691–702. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10798-012-9210-z
- Sullivan, A., & Bers, M. U. (2015). Robotics in the early childhood classroom: Learning outcomes from an 8-week robotics curriculum in pre-kindergarten through second grade. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 26(1), 3-20.
- Sullivan, A., & Bers, M. U. (2016). Girls, boys, and bots: Gender differences in young children's performance on robotics and programming tasks. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Innovations in Practice*, 15(1), 145–165. https://doi.org/10.28945/3547
- Sullivan, A., & Bers, M. U. (2016b). Robotics in the early childhood classroom: learning outcomes from an 8-week robotics curriculum in pre-kindergarten through second grade. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 26(1), 3–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10798-015-9304-5
- Sullivan, A., & Bers, M. U. (2019). Vex robotics competitions: Gender differences in student attitudes and experiences. *Journal of Information Technology Education: Research*, 18, 97–112.
- Svensson, A. K. (2000). Computers in school: Socially isolating or a tool to promote collaboration? *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 22(4), 437–453. https://doi.org/10.2190/30KT-1VLX-FHTM-RCD6

- Taylor, K., & Baek, Y. (2018a). Collaborative robotics, more than just working in groups. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 56(7), 979–1004. https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633117731382
- Taylor, K., & Baek, Y. (2018b). Grouping matters in computational robotic activities. Computers in Human Behavior, 93(August 2018), 99–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2018.12.010
- Tenenbaum, H. R., Winstone, N. E., Leman, P. J., & Avery, R. E. (2019). How effective is peer interaction in facilitating learning? A meta-analysis. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 112(7), 1303–1319. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000436</u>
- Thomas, J., & Williams, C. (2010). The history of specialized STEM schools and the formation and role of the NCSSSMST. *Roeper Review: A Journal on Gifted Education*, 32(1), 17–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02783190903386561</u>
- Toh, L. P. E., Causo, A., Tzuo, P. W., Chen, I. M., & Yeo, S. H. (2016). A review on the use of robots in education and young children. *Educational Technology and Society*, 19(2), 148–163.
- Tracy, S. (2010). Eight "Big-Tent" criteria for excellent qualitative research. *Qualitative Inquiry*. 10.1177/1077800410383121
- Van Mechelen, M., Gielen, M., Vanden Abeele, V., Laenen, A., & Zaman, B. (2014). Exploring challenging group dynamics in participatory design with children. ACM International Conference Proceeding Series, 269–272. https://doi.org/10.1145/2593968.2610469
- Veenman, S., Kenter, B., & Post, K. (1999). Cooperative Learning as a Form of Active Learning in Dutch Elementary Schools. *Biennial Meeting of the European* Association for Research on Learning and Instruction (8th).
- Wartella, E., & Jennings, N. (2001). New members of the family: The digital revolution in the home. *Journal of Family Communication*, 1(1), 59-69.
- Watters, A. (2015). Lego Mindstorms: A History of Educational Robots. Hack Education. http://hackeducation.com/2015/04/10/mindstorms

- Wing, J. M. (2006). Computational thinking. *Communications of the ACM*, 49(3), 33. doi:10.1145/1118178.1118215
- Witherspoon, E. B., Schunn, C. D., Higashi, R. M., & Baehr, E. C. (2016). Gender, interest, and prior experience shape opportunities to learn programming in robotics competitions. *International Journal of STEM Education*, 3(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-016-0052-1
- Xia, L., & Zhong, B. (2019). The investigation of primary school students' cooperative and competitive personality in robotics course. *Proceedings - 2019 12th International Conference on Ubi-Media Computing, Ubi-Media 2019*, 336–340. <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/Ubi-Media.2019.00074</u>
- Yang, S. C., & Liu, S. F. (2005). The study of interactions and attitudes of third-grade students' learning information technology via a cooperative approach. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 21(1), 45–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2004.02.002
- Yang, W., Ng, D. T. K., & Gao, H. (2022). Robot programming versus block play in early childhood education: Effects on computational thinking, sequencing ability, and self-regulation. *British Journal of Educational Technology, March*, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.13215
- Yolcu, V. & Demirer, V. (2017). A review on the studies about the use of robotic technologies in education. SDU International Journal of Educational Studies, 4(2), 127-139.
- Yuen, T. T., Boecking, M., Tiger, E. P., Gomez, A., Guillen, A., Arreguin, A., & Stone, J. (2014). Group tasks, activities, dynamics, and interactions in collaborative robotics projects with elementary and middle school children. *Journal of STEM Education: Innovations and Research*, 15(1), 39–46.
- Zhong, B., & Wang, Y. (2021). Effects of roles assignment and learning styles on pair learning in robotics education. *International Journal of Technology and Design Education*, 31(1), 41–59. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10798-019-09536-2</u>

- Zhong, B., Xiaofan, L., & Huang, Y., (2022). Effects of pair learning on girls learning performance in robotics education. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/07356331221092660
- Zviel-Girshin, R., Luria, A., & Shaham, C. (2020). Robotics as a tool to enhance technological thinking in early childhood. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 29(2), 294–302. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10956-020-09815-x

## APPENDIX A

**Cooperative Learning Observation Protocol Form** 

# **Cooperative Learning Observation Protocol Form**

Class/Level		Date	
Observer		Instructor	
Group Structure (Male/Female/Mixed)		Level of Achievement	Score
Instructional Context.			
Group #/Name		Number of Students in Group	

# Activity Log

Interaction Type Frequency		Notes
Group Processing		
Promotive Interaction		
Positive Interdependence		
Group Categorization		

### APPENDIX B

### **Parent Permission Form**

#### **INFORMED CONSENT**

**Study Title:** The Effect of Group Interactions and Group Structure on Achievement in Elementary School Robotics

Principal Investigator: Jonathan Yogi

**Co-Principal Investigator/Faculty** 

Adviser: Dr. Baek

Dear Parent/Guardian:

My name is Jonathan Yogi and I am the STEM teacher and coordinator here at Denla Primary School. What you may not know about me is that I am also a doctoral candidate at Boise State University, in America. I am asking for your permission to include your child in my research. This consent form will give you the information you will need to understand why this study is being done and why your child is being invited to participate. It will also describe what your child will need to do to participate as well as any known risks, inconveniences or discomforts that your child may have while participating. I encourage you to ask questions at any time. If you decide to allow your child to participate, you will be asked to sign this form and it will be a record of your agreement to participate. You will be given a copy of this form to keep.

#### PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND

As you know, DLPS strives to be one of the best STEM schools in the country. As a part of this students have a weekly robotics class. Normally, Mr. Vega and I co-teach these classes. As a part of my dissertation, I would like to take notes on the way that your child interacts with their classmates during our robotics activities and ask them to take a survey at the end of each class. This will help to develop our teaching practices and contribute to the field of educational robotics. This study will be conducted over two class sessions.

#### PROCEDURES

This study will include an observation of your child's normal classroom activities. They will not be asked to do anything that they would not normally do in robotics class. Your child has the choice to opt-out of the survey as well. If you choose not to allow your child to participate, they will remain in their classroom, but none of their interactions will be recorded, nor will they be asked to participate in the survey. No matter what decision you may come to, this will have no effect on your child's grade.

This study will take place over the course of 2 class periods starting from January 24th to February 4th, 2022. In each class, I will be an observer in the class while Mr. Vega teaches. I will take notes on your child's interactions with the other students in their robotics groups. No audio or video recordings will be made during this time. At the end of the class, students will participate in a short written survey.

#### **RISKS/DISCOMFORTS**

There is minimal risk to this study. Students will not have any experiences that are different from their regularly scheduled classes. They will only be asked to voluntarily take part in a survey.

#### **EXTENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY**

Reasonable efforts will be made to keep the personal information in your research record private and confidential. Any identifiable information obtained in connection with this study will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission or as required by law. The members of the research team and the Boise State University Office of Research Compliance (ORC) may access the data. The ORC monitors research studies to protect the rights and welfare of research participants.

Your name or your child's name will not be used in any written reports or publications which result from this research. Data will be kept for three years (per federal regulations) after the study is complete and then destroyed.

#### BENEFITS

There will be no direct benefit to your child from participating in this study. However, the information gained from this research may help education professionals better understand how students engage with each other in robotics-based activities.

### PAYMENT

There will be no payment to you or your child as a result of your child taking part in this study.

### QUESTIONS

If you have any questions or concerns you should contact Mr. Yogi first or his advisor Dr. Baek at <u>youngkyunbaek@boisestate.edu</u>.

If you have questions about your rights as a research participant, you may contact the Boise State University Institutional Review Board (IRB), which is concerned with the protection of volunteers in research projects. You may reach the board office between 8:00 AM and 5:00 PM, Monday through Friday, by calling (208) 426-5401 or by writing: Institutional Review Board, Office of Research Compliance, Boise State University, 1910 University Dr., Boise, ID 83725-1138.

### **DOCUMENTATION OF CONSENT**

I have read this form and decided that my child will participate in the project described above. Its general purposes, the particulars of involvement, and possible risks have been explained to my satisfaction. I will discuss this research study with my child and explain the procedures that will take place. I understand I can withdraw my child at any time.

Printed Name of Child

Printed Name of

Signature of

Date

Parent/Guardian

Parent/Guardian

Signature of Person Obtaining Consent

Jonathan Kimei Yogi

### APPENDIX C

## Head of School Permission Form

Denla Primary School Nakhon In Frontage Rd Nonthaburi, Thailand 11130 02 459 5656

September 15th, 2021

Dear Jonathan Yogi,

Based on my review of your proposed research, I give permission for you to conduct the study entitled *The Effect of Group Interactions and Group Structure on Achievement in Elementary School Robotics Classes* within Denla Primary School. I authorize you to observe, document, distribute student questionnaires, and interact with students and teachers in robotics classes as part of this study. Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

We understand that our organization's responsibilities include: educational robotics technologies, a room for robotics classes, and a robotics teacher. We reserve the right to withdraw from the study at any time if our circumstances change.

The research will include observing classroom robotics activities, student questionnaires, and

interaction with students and teachers. This authorization covers the time period of January

1st, 2022 to May 31st, 2022.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from the Boise State University IRB.

Sincerely,

Dr. Matthey Fahey Head of School Denla Primary School matthew.fa@denlaschool.ac.th

### APPENDIX D

# Deputy Head of School Permission Form

Denla Primary School Nakhon In Frontage Rd Nonthaburi, Thailand 11130 02 459 5656

September 15th, 2021

Dear Jonathan Yogi,

Based on my review of your proposed research study entitled *The Effect of Group Interactions and Group Structure on Achievement in Elementary School Robotics Classes* at Denla Primary School, you are permitted to observe, document, distribute surveys, and interact with students and teachers in the Grade 1 robotics classes in accordance with the provisions and guidelines of the Nonthaburi Provincial Education Authority. During this time you must adhere to the following parameters:

1) Individuals' participation will be voluntary and at their own discretion.

2) Parental permission slips must be distributed, signed, and collected before the start of the study.

3) Students must understand that they are participating in the study.

The research may include observation of classroom robotics activities, surveys, and

interaction with students and teachers. This authorization covers the time period of January

1st, 2022 to May 31st, 2022.

I confirm that I am authorized to approve research in this setting.

I understand that the data collected will remain entirely confidential and may not be provided to anyone outside of the research team without permission from the Boise State University IRB.

Sincerely,

Thanakrit Supsin Deputy Head-Operations Denla Primary School